Ontario Association
Z1 of Architects

VISION

An Ontario in which architects are valued contributors to
society, by creating a safe and healthy built environment
that performs at the highest levels and elevates the

human spirit.

MANDATE

To regulate and govern the practice of architecture in

Ontario in the service and protection of the public interest
in accordance with the Architects Act, its Regulations,
and Bylaws; to develop and uphold standards of skill,

knowledge, qualification, practice, and professional ethics
among architects; and to promote the appreciation of

architecture within the broader society.

Themes

S

oo

il

Equity, Diversity,

Strategic Plan [2022-2027]

Values

& b

|
1D Y X

Regulatory Leadership

Climate Action 5 Professional ~ Accountable Transparent Ethical
= and Inclusion
Strategic Priorities
O o)
M N
M — Sen?
Governance and . .
. Member Competency Public Education
Operations
Enhance the OAA’s Ensure the continued Advance the public’s

Bring the OAA’s regulatory
framework into alignment
with current legal principles
for professional regulators
and modernize its
legislative and governing
documents to ensure the
public interest continues to
be served and protected.

governance and operational
practices to ensure an
effective, inclusive, resilient,

and transparent organization.

professional competency
and currency of OAA
licensed members in order
that they maintain their
leadership role in the built
environment accountable to
the public interest.

understanding and
recognition that
architecture is integral

to the quality of life and
well-being of our society
as experienced through a
sustainable, resilient, and
durable built environment.


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/climate-action
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/equity-diversity-inclusion

7/ Strategic Plan

Ontario Association 2022-2027]
41 of Architects

Governance and

Operations Public Education

Regulatory Leadership

Competency

_3 Bring the OAA's regulatory Enhance the OAA’s governance Ensure the continued Advance the public’s
c framework into alignment with and operational practices to professional competency understanding and recognition
Q current legal principles for ensure an effective, inclusive, and currency of OAA licensed that architecture is integral to
qE) professional regulators and resilient, and transparent members in order that they the quality of life and well-being
- modernize its legislative and organization. maintain their leadership of our society as experienced
.S governing documents to ensure role in the built environment through a sustainable, resilient,
() the public interest continues to accountable to the public and durable built environment.
© be served and protected. interest.
o
(O]

e Actively engage with e Continue to implement the o Administer the legislative ® [mplement the Council

(]
2
=)
-

o
=
a
2

eTo}

()
)

©

o
)
(9]

government, legal counsel,
and the Attorney General to
advance the modernization

of the Architects Act and its
Regulation.

® Increase transparency,
fairness, objectivity,
and impartiality of OAA
registration and regulatory
processes.

e Continue to serve the public
interest through ongoing
enforcement activities and
investigating breaches of
the Architects Act and its
Regulations.

e Continue to invest in programs
and activities that contribute
to and foster the diversity
and perspective of new
applicants to the architectural
profession.

operational review
recommendations, which
include clearly defined

roles for Council & staff,
additional organizational
policies and structures,
enhanced IT and data
management, enhanced risk
management, continued
investment in equity, diversity,
and inclusion, and ensuring a
safe workplace.

Monitor OAA governance
reforms and continue to
update Council governance
practices to align with best
practices of professional
regulators.

Continue to develop,
implement and monitor the
futureproofing strategy for
OAA internal resources to
be agile and resilient.

requirements of mandatory
continuing education through
the established program
framework.

Anticipate and respond

to current disruptions

and trends in the industry
(e.g. different project
delivery methods, climate
stability, accessibility, and
technological advancements)
as well as legislative changes
(e.g. harmonization of building
codes and accessibility)
through various continuing
education offerings.

Provide information in

a responsive manner to
members that is relevant
and timely regarding OAA
education resources, as well
as programs and services
existing elsewhere that fall
outside the purview of the
OAA.

approved Public Outreach Plan
to educate the public about the
role of architecture in creating
the built environment and its
impact on society.

Continue education initiatives
to foster a greater
understanding of the OAA as
a unique professional self-
regulator.

Leverage and support
programs and services
offered by other parties in
the built environment to
further the public
appreciation of architecture
and the allied arts.

Continue education
regarding best practices in
project delivery that relate to
regulatory responsibilities of
OAA members and practices,
inclusive of procurement, in
order that the public interest
may continue to be served
and protected.

Metrics

® A strategy for modernizing the
Act and Regulations has been
created and implemented.

® The OAA's regulatory
standards, policies, and
procedures are current and
consistent with the right-
touch regulatory approach.

® The OAA continues to identify
and correct regulatory
misalignments.

® The OAA continues to be in
compliance with the Office of
the Fairness Commissioner
and other government
oversight bodies.

® Thereis aclearer
understanding of the path
to licensure and a greater
connection with those on the
path to licensure.

® The OAA's periodic
Demographic Survey
demonstrates a shift towards
increased equity, diversity, and
inclusion.

The 39 Operational Review
recommendations are
implemented.

Roles and responsibilities
of OAA staff, committees,
and Council are defined and
documented.

The OAA’s risk assessment
metrics are implemented.

Staff retention remains high.

Participation and
representation in Council
elections is improved.

Best-practice gaps in
governance relative to
professional regulatory
organization benchmarks
have been identified,
prioritized, implemented and
measured

Member competency and
ethical practice continues
to develop and is responsive
relative to the industry and
profession.

The content of the OAA’s
educational offerings is
focused on technical and
legislative content that is
current and relevant.

Access to competency
development-based
education is diversified and
equitable.

Increased member use of the
OAA webpages on learning
opportunities outside of the
OAA.

Increased member use of
the OAA webpages with the
existing OAA Documents and
resources as well as Practice
Advisory Knowledge Base
area.

Members demonstrate a
clear understanding of the
role of the OAA as a regulator
and of the extent to which

it can promote the public
appreciation of architecture.

The OAA has developed
and implemented a
defined program of public
education that responds
to our mandate and that is
sustainable over time.

The number of times
government and other
partners/parties have
invited the OAA to engage/
inform on built environment
issues in the public interest
has increased.



7
Ontario Association
Al of Architects

Operational Procedures

Procedure Reference OAA Council Meetings — Rules and Procedures
Issue Date November 29, 2023

Revision Dates

Meetings of the Council of the Ontario Association of Architects (OAA) are conducted in accordance with Roberts Rules of
Order which is included in the Councillor Orientation Manual, unless stipulated otherwise with the by-laws or as otherwise
approved by OAA Council. The following operational procedures outline the rules and procedures for discussion, debate
and motions within Council meetings:

e The maximum time for a Councillor's comments in debate on a motion is two minutes.
e The Chair shall keep a speakers’ list of those wishing to speak to a specific item or motion; and

a) the speakers’ list shall be built in the order that the Chair notes a Councillor's intention to speak by raising their
hand; and

b) any Councillor having not spoken to an item/motion shall be given preference on the speakers’ list over any
Councillor who has already spoken.

e An original main motion may only be introduced at a meeting if it has been added under New Business to the
agenda approved for that meeting. Otherwise all other motions are to be contained within the individual reports to
Council, unless a motion for an item that is “For Discussion” has yet to be identified.

e An item For Information Only which no Council member indicates will be the subject of a question or an original
main motion is considered to be dispensed upon approval of the agenda for that meeting.

e The meeting will move to a period of informal discussion immediately after a new item has been presented and a
main motion on the item is introduced and any questions on the item have been put and answered, and

a) a period of informal discussion is defined as the opportunity to discuss an item with the motion on the floor;
and

b) the Chair of the meeting when the item is introduced continues as the Chair during the period of informal
discussion unless they choose to relinquish the Chair; and

¢) in a period of informal discussion the regular rules of debate are suspended; and

d) a period of informal discussion ceases when the Chair notes that no additional members wish to speak to
the item or when an incidental motion to return to the regular rules of debate passes with a majority; and

e) immediately upon leaving a period of informal discussion, Council will be asked to vote on the motion

Page 1 of 2



f) if the presenter of the item moves no motion on the item then the item is considered dispensed unless an
indication to introduce additional original main motions on the item is on the agenda, in which case each of
these motions is presented in turn and debated as per the rules of formal debate.

Page 2 of 2



09[ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
Council Meeting of September 18, 2025 at approx. 11:00 a.m.

Meeting # 301

4 mins

1 min

4 mins

2 mins

2 mins

7 mins

7 mins

7 mins

7 mins

7 mins

1.0
1.1
2.0
2.1
3.0
4.0

41

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

5.0

6.0

()
/]

OPEN MEETING AGENDA

Recognition of Traditional Lands

AGENDA APPROVAL

Declaration re. Conflict of Interest

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Draft minutes of the June 19, 2025 Open Council Meeting (see attached)
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

ITEMS FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL

2026 Council Meeting Dates and Annual General Meeting Date (see attached)
It was moved by ... and seconded by... that the 2026 Council meeting dates be
approved as circulated.

2026 Conference Program and Schedule (see attached)

It was moved by... and seconded by... that the draft program and schedule for 2026 OAA
Conference be approved, while recognizing elements may evolve as further planning
takes place.

OAA/OGCA Take Over Procedures (Document 100-2025) and sunsetting of OAA/OGCA
Document 100-2018 and A Guide to Closeout Procedures (see attached)

It was moved by Yeung and second by.... that Council endorse the new OAA-OGCA
Document No.100-2025 as presented to Council on September 19, 2024, and direct the
withdrawal of OAA/OGCA Document No.100-2018 (as reissued 2019) and A Guide to
Project Closeout Procedures (Dated November 2010).

Revised OAA Practice Tip 36.3 — Energy Efficiency for Housing — Prescriptive
Compliance (see attached)

It was moved by Yeung and seconded by .... that Council endorse the revised OAA
Practice Tip PT.36.3 OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing — Prescriptive
Compliance as presented to Council on September 18, 2025.

OAA Council Policy — Al Usage (see attached)
It was moved by... and seconded by... that Council approve the Al Usage Policy.

OAA Council Policy — Exemption Requests to Council — Submission Guidelines (see
attached)

It was moved by... and seconded by...that Council approve the Council Policy -
Submission Guidelines for Exemption Request to Council as well as the updates
Statutory Framework document.

It was moved by... and seconded by...that Council approve the sunsetting of the existing
Council Policy — Exemption Requests issue date January 11, 1996.

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

REPORTS

Ontario Association
of Architects

Executive Director

Manager Finance

VP Yeung

VP Yeung

Governance
Committee

Registrar

Page1of 2



1 min

1 min

1 min

5 mins

1 min
1 min
1 min
1 min

1 min

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

7.0

71

8.0

9.0

9.1

10.0

Open Council Agenda

Report from the President — Activities for the months of June-September (see attached)

Report from the Executive Director (see attached)

Report from the Registrar (see attached)

Report from the Senior Vice President and Treasurer

6.4.a Financial Statements for 9 months ending August 31, 2025 (see attached)

Committee Reports

6.5.a Communications & Public Education Committee — Update (see attached)
6.5.b Governance & HR Committee - Update (see attached)

6.5.c OAA Building Committee- Update (see attached)

6.5.d Practice Resource Committee (PRC) — Update (see attached)

6.5.e Policy Advisory Consultation Team (PACT) — Update (see attached)

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

Final Report on 2025 Conference Ottawa (see attached)
OTHER BUSINESS
DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next regular meeting of Council is Friday, November 28, 2025 at 9:30 a.m. at the
OAA Headquarters, Toronto, Ontario.

ADJOURNMENT

v
. Ontario Association
A of Architects

President

Executive Director

Registrar

SVP & Treasurer

Committee Chairs

VP Speigel

SVP & Treasurer
SVP & Treasurer
VP Yeung

Immediate Past
President

Manager, Finance

Page 2 of 2



FOR COUNCIL MEETING
September 18, 2025

(open)
. . . ITEM: 2.1
Ontario Association of Architects
Meeting #300 Open MINUTES June 19, 2025

The three hundreth meeting of the Council of the Ontario Association of Architects, held under the
Architects Act, took place on Thursday June 19, 2025 at the OAA Headquarters, 111 Moatfield Drive,
Toronto, Ontario and virtually via Zoom.

Present: Ted Wilson President
Lara McKendrick Senior Vice President and Treasurer
Settimo Vilardi Immediate Past President
Susan Speigel Vice President
Thomas Yeung Vice President
Loloa Alkasawat Councillor
Donald Ardiel Councillor
J. William Birdsell Councillor
Jim Bultticci Lieutenant Governor in Council Appointee
Kimberly Fawcett-Smith Lieutenant Governor in Council Appointee
Natasha Krickhan Councillor
Jenny Lafrance Councillor
Michelle Longlade Lieutenant Governor in Council Appointee
(virtual)
Elaine Mintz Lieutenant Governor in Council Appointee
Deo Paquette Councillor
Anna Richter Councillor
Kristiana Schuhmann Councillor
Ted Watson Councillor
Kristi Doyle Executive Director
Christie Mills Registrar
Tina Carfa Executive Assistant, Executive Services
Erik Missio Manager, Communications
Regrets: Marek Zawadzki Councillor
Guests: Behnaz Assadi Ja Architecture Studio (virtual — part attendance)

Tanya Chute Molina
Irwin Glasberg

Bilgis Williams

Manager, Business & Operational Planning,

Office of the Fairness Commissioner (part attendance)
Commissioner, Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(part attendance)

Compliance Analyst, Office of the Fairness
Commissioner (part attendance)

The President called the meeting to order at 3:40 p.m.

The President noted that a land acknowledgement and recognition of the Indigenous land and its people
is being shared with Council by a member of the OAA Landscape Project design team, Behnaz Assadi of
Ja Architecture Studio.

Council moved to the open meeting from the in camera 1:05 p.m. to receive a presentation from the
Office of the Fairness Commissioner.

9925. Reference Material Reviewed: A presentation to OAA Council dated June 19, 2025 re. Fair and
Innovation Registration Practices and Regulating in the Public Interest. (APPENDIX ‘A’)

The President welcomed Commissioner Irwin Glasberg, along with staff from the Office of the Fairness
Commissioner (OFC), Tanya Chute Molina and Bilgis Williams.



Open Council Minutes
June 19, 2025
Page 2 of 6

Commissioner Glasberg presented to Council based on a PowerPoint presentation that had been
previously circulated to Council

The Commissioner reviewed the role the Office of the Commissioner (OFC) and elements of the Fair
Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act (FARPACTA). He further reviewed the
responsibilities of regulators under FARPACTA and application of the OFC’s ‘Risk-Informed Compliance
Framework’.

Following his presentation, the Commissioner entertained questions from the Council.

The President thanked the Commissioner for the presentation to Council.

Chute-Molina, Glasberg, and Williams left the meeting at 2:05 p.m.

Council returned to in camera at 2:05 p.m. and officially began the open meeting at 3:40 p.m.
DECLARATION RE CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The President called for declaration of any conflicts of interest.

No conflicts of interest were declared.

AGENDA APPROVAL

9926. The President reported that there were no new items to be added to the agenda.

It was moved by Mintz and seconded by Butticci that the agenda for the June 19, 2025 open
meeting be approved as circulated.

-- CARRIED

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

9927. Reference Material Reviewed: Draft minutes of the May 13, 2025 Open Council meeting.
The draft minutes of the May 13, 2025 Open Council meeting were reviewed.

It was moved by Longlade and seconded by Mintz that the minutes of the May 13, 2025 Open
Council meeting be approved as circulated.

-- CARRIED

BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

9928. There was no business arising from the minutes.

ITEMS FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL

9929. Reappointment of Representative to the Committee for the Examination for Architects in Canada
(CEXAC) (oral)

Council deferred the item to the September 18 Council meeting.

9930. Appointment of Representative to the University of Toronto, John H. Daniels Faculty of
Architecture, Landscape, and Design School Council (oral)



Open Council Minutes
June 19, 2025
Page 3 of 6

Doyle reported.

It was moved by Speigel and seconded by Paquette that Council approve the appointment of
Miriam Ho to the University of Toronto, John H. Daniels Faculty of Architecture, Landscape and
Design School Council for a three-year term commencing September.

-- CARRIED

9931. Reference Materials Reviewed: Memorandum from Vice President and Practice Resource
Committee Chair, Thomas Yeung dated June 10, 2025 re. OAA Document Maintenance: Updates to
Practice Tip PT.39.1 and attached supporting documentation. (APPENDIX ‘B’)

The Vice President reported.

It was moved by Yeung and seconded by Schuhmann that Council endorse the revised OAA
Practice Tip PT.39.1 Best Practices for Review of RFP Language and Supplementary Conditions to
OAA 600 and Other Architectural Services Contracts as presented to Council on June 19, 2025.

-- CARRIED

9932. Reference Materials Reviewed: Memorandum from Vice President and Practice Resource
Committee Chair, Thomas Yeung dated June 10, 2025 re. OAA Document Maintenance: Practice Tips
Impacted by OBC 2024: Updates to Practice Tip PT.19 and attached supporting documentation.
(APPENDIX ‘C’)

The Vice President reported.

It was moved by Yeung and seconded by Vilardi that Council endorse the revised OAA Practice
Tip PT.19 ANSI/ ASHRAE / IES 90.1 - 2013 — An Overview of the Energy Standard as presented to
Council on June 19, 2025.

-- CARRIED

9933. Reference Materials Reviewed: Memorandum from Vice President and Practice Resource
Committee Chair, Thomas Yeung dated June 10, 2025 re. OAA Document Maintenance: Practice Tips
Impacted by OBC 2024: Updates to Practice Tip PT.36.2 and attached supporting documentation.
(APPENDIX ‘D’)

The Vice President reported.

It was moved by Yeung and seconded by McKendrick that Council endorse the revised OAA
Practice Tip PT.36.2 OBC SB-10 Energy Efficiency Requirements — Prescriptive Compliance as
presented to Council on June 19, 2025.

-- CARRIED

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

9934. There were no items for discussion.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORTS

9935. Reference Material Reviewed: President’s Activities for the months of May to June. (APPENDIX
‘E!)

The report was noted for information.

9936. Reference Material Reviewed: Report from Executive Director, Kristi Doyle dated
June 19, 2025 re. Executive Director Report to Council. (APPENDIX ‘F’)



Open Council Minutes
June 19, 2025
Page 4 of 6

The report was noted for information.

9937. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Registrar, Christie Mills re. Office of the
Registrar Statistical Report to Council — January 1 to June 3, 2025. (APPENDIX ‘G’)

It was suggested by a member of Council that the Complaints Review Councillor (CRC) reports be
included in the report from the Registrar.

Doyle responded that reporting by the CRC is to be kept at arms length from the Office of the Registrar to
avoid a conflict of interest. Future reporting in terms of items being addressed by the CRC may be added
to the Executive Director’s report.

A Councillor acknowledged members of the Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) who spent
significant time in the review and refinement of the processes of the Committee. It was noted that in
respect to the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act (FARPACTA), the ERC
conducts assessments based on competencies.

The report was noted for information.

9938. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Senior Vice President and Treasurer, Lara
McKendrick dated June 3, 2025 re. Unaudited Financial Statements for the Six Months Ended May 31,
2025 and attached background information. (APPENDIX ‘H’)

The Senior Vice President and Treasurer reported that there are now illustrative graphs included in the
report to facilitate ease in viewing revenue vs. expenses tracking. The three-year reserves graphs are
now broken down year by year.

The report was noted for information.

9939. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from the Communications and Public Education
Committee (CPEC) dated June 6, 2025 re. General Updates and attached background information.
(APPENDIX ‘P)

The report was noted for information.

9940. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Governance Committee dated June 4, 2025
re. Update from OAA Governance & HR Committee. (APPENDIX ‘J’)

A member of Council enquired as to whether a draft of amendments as part of the Act modernization
project will be shared with Council as a summary of the review.

A member of Council noted that the Governance Committee has reviewed a summary of the audit and
gap analysis and have requested that staff organize the information over the summer months so that it is
digestible while still being shared with Council in a comprehensive format.

The report was noted for information.

9941. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from the OAA Building Committee dated June 4,
2025 re. Update from the OAA Building Committee. (APPENDIX ‘K’)

The report was noted for information.



Open Council Minutes
June 19, 2025
Page 5 of 6

9942. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Practice Resource Committee (PRC) dated
June 10, 2025 re. Practice Resource Committee (PRC) Update and attached supporting documentation.
(APPENDIX ‘L’)

A member of Council noted that a member had enquired whether they could bring a list of architects
would be able to assist in the mentorship of practices who are closing due to death or incapacitation.

Mills responded that Regulatory Notice 13 is being drafted which addresses scenarios of succession and
business continuity.

The report was noted for information.

9943. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Vice President, Susan Speigel dated June 9,
2025 re. Update on the Policy Advisory Coordination Team’s (PACT) work. (APPENDIX ‘M’)

A member of Council noted that the Queen’s Park Picks (QPP) contained an excellent selection of
nominations which are well distributed over all political parties and society regions. The OAA’s Policy &
Government relations staff have been working diligently and expeditiously in review of the submissions. It
was noted that the government will have returned to legislature only two days prior to the OAA’s
scheduled October event.

The report was noted for information.

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

9944. The Presentation from the Office of the Fairness Commissioner was reported under minute
number 9925.

9945. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Communications Manager, Erik Missio dated
June 8, 2025 re. January-June 2025 Operational Plan Update: Communications. (APPENDIX ‘N’)

The report was noted for information.

9946. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Deputy Registrar, Claire Hepburn dated June
6, 2025 re. Semi-annual Update — Continuing Education Service Area. (APPENDIX ‘O’)

The report was noted for information.

9947. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Deputy Registrar, Claire Hepburn dated June
6, 2025 re. Semi-annual Update — Continuing Education Service Area and attached supporting
documentation. (APPENDIX ‘P’)

The report was noted for information.

9948. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Manager, Finance, Melanie Walsh dated May
30, 2025 re. Semi-Annual Operational Plan Update. (APPENDIX ‘Q’)

The report was noted for information.

9949. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from COO, Kathy Armbrust dated June 10, 2025
re. Semi-Annual Update from Operations and Human Resources. (APPENDIX ‘R’)

The report was noted for information



Open Council Minutes
June 19, 2025
Page 6 of 6

9950. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Information Technology Manager, Abhishek
Chaudhary dated June 11, 2025 re. Information Technology service area — Half-year update. (APPENDIX
‘s’)

The report was noted for information

9951. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Manager, Policy and Government Relations,
Sara Trotta dated June 2, 2025 re. Mid-year Operational Plan Update — Policy and Government Relations
and attached supporting documentation. (APPENDIX ‘T’)

The report was noted for information

9952. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Manager, Practice Advisory Services, Melisa
Audet dated June 10, 2025 re. OAA Service Area Semi-Annual Updates — Practice Advisory Services and
attached supporting documentation. (APPENDIX ‘U’)

The report was noted for information

9953. Reference Material Reviewed: Memorandum from Manager, Melanie Walsh dated June 3, 2025
re. Conference 2025 Update and Next Steps for Conference 2026. (APPENDIX ‘V’)

It was suggested by a member of Council that Conference registration be moved up in time as in some
situations the timing must align with the federal government deadline.

The report was noted for information

9954. Reference Material Reviewed: Summary Report on the Annual Meeting of the Local Society
Chairs, May 13, 2025. (APPENDIX ‘W’)

The report was noted for information
OTHER BUSINESS

9955. There was no other business.
DATE OF NEXT MEETING

9956. The next regular meeting of Council is Thursday September 18, 2025 at 9:30 a.m. at the OAA
Headquarters, 111 Moatfield Drive, Toronto, Ontario.

ADJOURNMENT
9957. It was moved by Butticci and seconded by Fawcett-Smith that the meeting be adjourned at

4:05 p.m.
-- CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

President Date



FOR COUNCIL MEETING
September 18, 2025

2026 COUNCIL MEETING DATES (open)

ITEM: 4.1

Meetings will be held virtually or at 111 Moatfield Drive, Toronto,
unless otherwise noted.

In-Camera begins at 9:30 a.m.

Open begins at approximately 11:00 a.m.

Thursday January 22, 2026
OAA Strategic Plan Review | Thurs Jan 22 approx. 3:00 p.m. — 6:00 pm
and Council Governance
Workshop Planning Session | Friday Jan 23 9:00 a.m. — 3:00 p.m.
Thursday March 5
Thursday April 15 Annual General Meeting — 1-2:30 p.m.
Tuesday May 12 | Waterloo (Conference)
Thursday June 25
Thursday September 17
Friday December 4 OAA Seasonal Celebration event that

evening at the OAA

()
Ontario Association bare 1of 1
of Architects agelo



Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Jim Bultticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith September 18. 2025
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance eptember 10,
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick (open)
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette .
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann ITEM: 4.2
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Melanie Walsh, Manager, Finance

Date: September 4, 2025

Subject:  Conference 2026 Program and Schedule

Objective: To provide Council with an update on Conference 2026 to be held in May,
2026 and present the proposed format and schedule of events for approval.

In 2026, the OAA Conference, Collaboration Powering Innovation, comes to the
Kitchener-Waterloo area—home to the world’s biggest tech companies, from Apple to
Google. In Ontario’s Silicon Valley, the opportunities and challenges posed by All,
automation, and energy modelling grab the headlines, while meaningful collaboration
quietly powers creative decision-making relative to architectural quality, practice, and
problem-solving.

Next year's Conference will explore how collaboration thrives in the Grand Valley, with its
mid-sized cities and architectural gems, as well as across the province. The climate
crisis, housing shortages, and anxieties around economies and supply chains mean the
need for collaboration and innovation has never been more valued.

To achieve a resilient, adaptive, and functional built environment, the profession must
examine the tools for better co-creating with project team collaborators, clients, citizens,
and municipalities. The OAA’s flagship event brings experts and delegates to the heart of
Canadian tech innovation for three days of experiential local learning, professional
development, and celebration.

This memo provides an overview of the proposed programming/scheduling for the event,
delving into certain planned special events and new features at a high level. It is
important to solidify the overall program “shape” at this time so time-sensitive planning
can continue in collaboration with Moore Carlyle Consulting (MCC). Specific elements
may continue to evolve as further planning takes place.

e
‘ Ontario Association
1 of Architects Page 1 of 4



Memorandum

Agenda-at-a-Glance

An Agenda-at-a-Glance is provided as an appendix. While every attempt has been made
to present an accurate snapshot of the planned event, there may be further adjustments
depending on the ability to organize the proposed content, associated budgets, as well as
available resources and other potential limitations to determine the best outcome for the
2026 Conference. There may also be additional ideas presented over the next month or
so in terms of content.

As planned, this conference will have one main hotel, Delta Hotel Waterloo, with a
secondary hotel, The Walper Hotel. The main venue as approved by Council is
Bingemans Conference Centre with space for classroom learning, sponsoring exhibitors,
and special events. As Bingemans is approximately a 12-minute drive from the Delta
Waterloo and city centre, much thought is being given to mass-yet-streamlined
transportation from the host hotels as well as off-site experiential learning, continuing
education and special events.

The following is a memo highlight some of the broader components of the schedule.
Tuesday

As usual, Council and Local Architectural Society Chair meetings will take place the day
before Conference. Sponsors will also be given access to the Lounge for their setup. This
Lounge will serve as a hub for the duration of the Conference, with both special events
and dedicated networking/visiting opportunities throughout to ensure attendees can easily
visit all the Sponsors.

Wednesday

Wednesday will feature a “prix-fixe” approach to the day’s learning in that there will be a
series of consecutive large-room sessions attended by all delegates. This follows the
change made in 2025 from having “a la carte” choice with multiple simultaneous small
sessions.

The result is a significant cost reduction for room rates, audiovisual rentals, speaker fees,
and other expenses, but without any impact on the amount of Structured Learning hours
available. There was also positive feedback received from attendees in Ottawa this year
related to the community feel of learning the same topic and building on the ideas
between sessions by sharing conversation with others.

In addition to this onsite format, there will also be Experiential Learning sessions
occurring off site. These sessions will be generally limited to approximately 50 people
each session. OAA staff and MCC are continuing to source additional offsite educational
opportunities.

Based on this new format, the morning begins with a networking breakfast among the
sponsors in the Lounge. The first session kicks off with a land acknowledgement and
greeting from the OAA President, followed by a plenary event selected by the ConEd
Advisory Group based on proposal submissions. Attendees then enjoy a break in the
Lounge, followed by the first Continuing Education Panel Conversation.

e
‘ Ontario Association
1 of Architects Page 2 of 4



Similar to 2025, the lunch will be structured as an “Ask the Experts” sponsored learning
event: registrants will take a seat at a round table with a sponsor during the meal and
have the opportunity to ask questions about current or completed projects. After an
allotted period, the sponsor will move to another table, allowing individuals to speak with
multiple product experts while enjoying lunch before their afternoon sessions continue.
Attendees will also earn an hour of Structured Learning. This is an important
programming change to ensure sponsors, who help offset a significant portion of
Conference costs, continue to see value in the event.

The evening would then feature an Opening Night event that will be hosted in concert
with the Local Society, as this allows the Society more visibility from the registrants.
Grand Valley Society of Architects (GVSA) has created a dedicated committee to support
Conference; that team has provided invaluable ideas and local expertise during these
early stages of planning. The Conference Manager, MCC, and GVSA continue to meet
and work on selecting a venue for the evening.

Thursday

As they were popular in this year’s Conference in Ottawa, the Breakfast and Learns will
return for Sponsored Learning options. After breakfast, there will be the familiar format of
choose-a-session for ConEd, with up to four in-classroom sessions and four Experiential
Learning sessions running concurrently.

Sponsored Lunch & Learns will take place during the lunch hour that will allow all
attendees to participate. In the afternoon, there is again classroom and experiential
learning, with up to four in-classroom ConEd Sessions and four Experiential Learning
sessions for the first half.

The final half of Thursday afternoon will offer a Celebratory Plenary, which will provide an
opportunity to award the Service Awards, acknowledge Honorary Member(s) and Past
Councillors, followed by a presentation from a local practice. This plenary will run for 2
hours.

Registrants will then transfer by shuttle bus over Tapestry Hall in Waterloo for the
remainder of the event. The President’s Reception from 6 to 7 pm, in the Conference
Lounge, among the sponsors (similar to Happy Hour the day before). This allows for
showcasing of the award winners via digital signs. Food and non-alcoholic drinks will be
available, with a cash bar.

The Celebration of Excellence (where the winners of Design Excellence Awards, as well
as Best Emerging Practice, Medal of Service, and Lifetime Design Achievement will be
honoured) will then take place at Tapestry, followed by the traditional Archiféte party that
features food, cash bar, and entertainment. Shuttles will transfer people to the party and
back to the host hotel.

Friday
The day will start off with Breakfast and Learns, once again offering an allocation for

Sponsored Learning options. The first quarter of the morning will provide registrants with
up to four in-classroom ConEd sessions and two Experiential Learning opportunities.

-~
‘ Ontario Association
Z1 of Architects

Memorandum

Page 3 of 4



Memorandum

Similar to 2025, an in-person Closing Plenary session will conclude Conference, running
from 10:30 am to 12:30 pm. At the event, the OAA President will also address the
audience, thanking them for participating in Conference 2026.

Conference concludes at 12:30 pm to allow for those travelling to start their journey
home.

Action

It was moved by... and seconded by... that the draft program and schedule for 2026 OAA
Conference be approved, while recognizing elements may evolve as further planning
takes place.

Attachments

Program at a Glance

-~
‘ Ontario Association
l of Architects Page 4 of 4



Ontario Association
of Architects

()
1

WEDNESDAY, MAY 13

2026 AGENDA-AT-A-GLANCE || OVERVIEW OF EVENTS || May 13 to 15, 2026

THURSDAY, MAY 14

FRIDAY, MAY 15

NETWORKING BREAKFAST

OR SPONSORED LEARNING (3 SESSIONS)*
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 7:00 AM TO 8:00 AM

BREAKFAST

TRAVEL TIME BETWEEN MAIN BUILDING AND EMBASSY (5 MINUTES)

CEO1 | OPENING PLENARY
WITH WELCOME REMARKS & LAND
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

MORNING

GENERAL SESSION ROOM | 8:30 TO 10:15 AM ELOZ/ELO3/ELO4
EXPERIENTIAL
NETWORKING BREAK LEARNING
ke VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS ‘1?@%‘,&’5’?‘(
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 10:15 TO 10:45 AM DEPARTING FROM
CONFERENCE LOUNGE

CEO02 | CONTINUING EDUCATION 8:30AMTO 12:30 PM

GENERAL SESSION CONVERSATION
GENERAL SESSION ROOM | 10:45 AMTO 12:15 PM

MORNING

VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS | 12:15TO 12:30 PM

ASK THE EXPERTS - SPONSORED LEARNING
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 12:30 TO 1:30 PM

LUNCH

VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS | 1:30 PMTO 2:00 PM

CEO3 | CONTINUING EDUCATION
GENERAL SESSION CONVERSATION

AFTERNOON

GENERAL SESSION ROOM | 2:00 TO 3:30 PM ELO5/ELO6/ELO7
EXPERIENTIAL
NETWORKING BREAK LEARNING
LN VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS (3 HALF-DAY
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 3:30 TO 4:00 PM SESSIONS)
DEPARTING FROM
CONFERENCE LOUNGE

CEO04 | CONTINUING EDUCATION
GENERAL SESSION CONVERSATION
GENERAL SESSION ROOM | 4:00 TO 5:30 PM

2:00TO 5:30 PM

AFTERNOON

HAPPY HOUR. CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 5:30 TO 6:30 PM

TRANSFER TIME - ESTIMATED 30 MINUTES

SP0O3 | OAA OPENING NIGHT HOSTED BY SOCIETY
LOCATION TBD | 7:30 TO 10:30 PM

EVENING

ELO1 | FULL DAY EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING

8:30 AMTO 5:30 PM

SPONSORED LEARNING (4 SESSIONS)
VARIOUS SESSIONS WITH BREAKFAST | 7:00 AMTO 8:00 AM

TRAVEL TIME BETWEEN MAIN BUILDING AND EMBASSY (5 MINUTES)

CEO5
GENERAL
SESSION ROOM
8:30 T0 10:00 AM

CEO6
BREAKOUT
8:30T0 10:00 AM

CE07
BREAKOUT
8:30T0 10:00 AM

CEO8
BREAKOUT

8:30TO 10:00 AM ELO9/EL10/EL11

EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
NETWORKING BREAK | VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS (3 HALF-DAY
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 10:00 TO 10:30 AM SESSIONS)
DEPARTING FROM
CONFERENCE LOUNGE
CEO5 CE09 CE10 CE11 8:30AMTO 12:30PM
SES‘;%‘S';’(‘)LOM BREAKOUT BREAKOUT BREAKOUT
10:30 AMTO 10:30 AMTO 10:30 AM TO 10:30 AMTO
12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS | 12:00 TO 12:30 PM

SPONSORED LEARNING (4 SESSIONS)
VARIOUS SESSIONS WITH BREAKFAST | 12:30 PMTO 1:30 PM

TRANSFER TIME - ESTIMATED 30 MINUTES

CE12 | CONTINUING EDUCATION

LOCATION TBD | 2:00 TO 3:30 PM EL1 Z/EL] 3/EL] 4

EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
(3 HALF-DAY
SESSIONS)
DEPARTING FROM
CONFERENCE LOUNGE
2:00TO 5:30 PM

BREAK
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 3:30 TO 4:00 PM

CE13 | RECOGNITION & PLENARY
LOCATION TBD | 4:00 TO 6:00 PM

TRANSFER TIME - ESTIMATED 30 MINUTES
SPOS5 | PRESIDENT’S RECEPTION. TAPESTRY HALL | 6:30 TO 7:30 PM
SPO5 | CELEBRATION OF EXCELLENCE. TAPESTRY HALL| 7:30 TO 8:30 PM

SP06 | ARCHIFETE. TAPESTRY HALL | 8:30 TO 11:00 PM

ELO8 | FULL DAY EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING

8:30 AMTO 5:30 PM

SPONSORED LEARNING (4 SESSIONS)
VARIOUS SESSIONS WITH BREAKFAST | 7:00 AM TO 8:00 AM

TRAVEL TIME BETWEEN MAIN BUILDING AND EMBASSY (5 MINUTES)

CE14
GENERAL SESSION
ROOM 8:30 TO 10:00 AM

CE15
BREAKOUT
8:30T0 10:00 AM

CE16
BREAKOUT
8:30 70 10:00 AM

CE17
BREAKOUT
8:30T0 10:00 AM

NETWORKING BREAK | VISIT SPONSOR DISPLAYS
CONFERENCE LOUNGE | 10:00 TO 10:30 AM

CE18| CLOSING PLENARY SESSION

WITH CLOSING REMARKS
CONFEDERATION | 10:30 AMTO 12:30 PM

EL15/EL16
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
( HALF-DAY
SESSIONS)
OFFSITE DEPARTING
FROM OAA HUB IN
CONFERENCE LOUNGE |
8:30 AMTO 12:30 PM

* NETWORKING OR SALES DEPENDANT. TOTAL POTENTIAL SPONSORED LEARNING RANGE FROM 12 TO 15 SESSIONS.

PLEASE NOTE: WHILE EVERY ATTEMPT HAS BEEN MADE TO PRESENT AN ACCURATE SNAPSHOT OF THE PLANNED EVENT, THERE MAY BE FURTHER ADJUSTMENTS DEPENDING ON THE ABILITY TO ORGANIZE THE PROPOSED CONTENT, ASSOCIATED BUDGETS, AS WELL AS AVAILABLE RESOURCES AND OTHER POTENTIAL LIMITATIONS TO
DETERMINE THE BEST OUTCOME FOR THE 2026 CONFERENCE. THERE MAY ALSO BE ADDITIONAL IDEAS PRESENTED OVER THE NEXT MONTH OR SO IN TERMS OF CONTENT.




Memorandum

Memorandum
To: Council
FOR COUNCIL MEETING
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat September 18, 2025
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell (open)
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith ITEM: 4.3
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Thomas Yeung, Vice President & PRC Chair
Date: September 9, 2025

Subject: Updates to OAA-OGCA Document No. 100-2018
(OAA/OGCA Take-Over Procedures (CA)).

Objective: To review and endorse OAA-OGCA Document 100-2025 version and the
withdrawal of the Guide to Project Close-out (dated November 2010)

Background

OAA/OGCA documents are accessed via both the OAA Website and the OGCA Website,
and although written primarily for architects/licensed technologists & contractors, they are
a resource for clients, lawyers, and others in the design & construction industry.

OAA/OGCA Take-Over Procedures (also know as “Document 100”) has existed for many
years (since at least 1972) and has come to be relied on in the construction industry in
Ontario. More recently, it was revised in 2007 and then updated in 2018 and 2019 to
reflect the provisions of the Construction Act. However, the Guide to Project Closeout
Procedures was last updated in 2010 and does not reflect changes to applicable law,
CCDC contracts, or industry practices which have occurred since.

This latest version of Document 100 was prompted by changes to the CCDC contracts,
particularly the introduction of the Ready-for-Takeover concept, the need to clarify that an
application for release of holdback was not subject to the prompt payment provisions of
the Construction Act, and because of concerns that some of the wording had not kept
pace with current industry practices.

Key Changes to Document 100-2018 and Withdrawal of Associated Documents
(refer to Appendices 0, 1, 2, 3)

See Appendix 0 which provides a summary of the changes as well as the process of
review.

/
. Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 3



Memorandum

Overview of the Process and Input from Various Parties

As part of the maintenance project, the OAA-OGCA liaison group - formed by members
of OAA Executive Committee and Directors of the OGCA - identified the need to review
both the OAA-OGCA Document 100 — Take-Over Procedures as well as the OAA/OGCA
A Guide to Project Closeout. This latter document was designed to be used as a
reference in combination with a previous version OAA/OGCA Document No.100,
however, it has not been maintained over the years. The liaison group decided to
leverage some content/concepts and transfer them to enhance the updated Document
100 while at the same time withdrawing the old Guide.

Throughout the development of the new 2025 version, the following stakeholders were
consulted for input/feedback: Practice Resources Committee (PRC), members of the
OGCA Board and the President of the OGCA, along with external legal counsel.

Following review/discussion at the September 4 meeting of PRC, the committee is
recommending that Council endorse this updated document.

Next Steps — Communication Plan and Withdraw Previous Versions

PAS to work with OAA Communications to coordinate messaging with the OGCA team in
regards to the launch of the document, update of the OAA website, and announcements
in OAA news, social media, etc. Here are key items:

e Leveraging the Practice Advisory Newsletter: Present the new version of the
document.

o OAA website updates, withdrawal of existing documents and transition period:
The OAA will work with OGCA to determine a transition period as part of the
messaging to both OAA members and OGCA members as well as edits to
landing pages on the OAA website, including reviewing if an older version exists
on website.

e Impact on other OAA resources (such as the contracts, Practice Tips, etc.):
There is no anticipated need to revise the OAA contracts or guides as any
references are to the “latest version of Document 100”.

e Update to the Admission Course’s Required Reading List: PAS is working with
the Continuing Education team to update the required reading list for 2025-2026.

e Monitor for updates likely needed once the government finalizes the regulations
for the Construction Act (anticipated in late 2025).

Action

Council is asked to consider the following motion:

It was moved by Yeung and second by.... that Council endorse the new OAA-OGCA
Document No.100-2025 as presented to Council on September 19, 2024; and direct the

withdrawal of OAA/OGCA Document No.100-2018 (as reissued 2019) and A Guide to
Project Closeout Procedures (Dated November 2010).

/
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 3



Memorandum

Attachments

(
/|

Attachment 0: Executive Summary - Updates to OAA-OGCA Document No. 100-
2018 (OAA/OGCA Take-Over Procedures (CA)) and Withdrawal of the Guide to
Project Close-out Procedures

Attachment 1: Draft OAA-OGCA Document No.100-2025 — Final clean version
for endorsement

Attachment 2: OAA/OGCA Document No.100-2018 (issued 2019) — Redline
version

Attachment 3: A Guide to Project Closeout Procedures — For withdrawal

Ontario Association
of Architects Page 3 of 3



Updates to OAA-OGCA Document No. 100-2018 (OAA/OGCA Take-
Over Procedures (CA)) and Withdrawal of the Guide to Project Close-
out Procedures

Executive Summary

Updated September 9, 2025

Background

e OAA/OGCA Document No. 100 is accessed via both the OAA Website and the Ontario General Contractors
Association (OGCA) Website, and although written primarily for architects/licensed technologists, contractors,
and clients, it is a resource for lawyers and others in the design & construction industry.

e The purpose of OAA/OGCA Document No. 100 also referred as OAA/OGCA Take Over Procedures - is to
recommend standard procedures to facilitate the closing stages of a construction contract and the take-over of
the project by the owner from the contractor. These procedures were prepared jointly by the OAA and the Ontario
General Contractors Association (the "Associations") have been updated from time-to-time, and have been
approved by their governing bodies.

e This document is meant to be an educational treatise for all the stakeholders in the project (including the owner,
consultants, contractors and subcontractors); however, the Associations recommend the use of these procedures
by their respective members and owners/clients. The Associations also recommend that these procedures be
coordinated with and form a part of the construction contract documents from the outset by reference to
Document No. 100.

e Document 100 has existed since at least 1972 (when the Mechanics Lien Act was in force) and has come to be
relied on in the construction industry in Ontario. More recently, it was revised in 2007 and then updated in 2018
and 2019 to reflect the provisions of the Construction Act. However, the companion OAA/OGCA Guide to Project
Closeout Procedures was last updated in 2010 and does not reflect changes to applicable law, CCDC contracts,
or industry practice which have occurred since then.

Requirement to Update

e This latest update to Document 100 was prompted by:
o changes to the CCDC contracts, particularly the introduction of the Ready-for-Takeover concept,
o the need to clarify that an application for release of holdback was not subject to the prompt payment
provisions of the Construction Act, and
o the need to address concerns that some of the wording had not kept pace with industry practices.

Note: This September 2025 version does not reflect the as yet unproclaimed changes to the Construction Act.

Overview of the Process and Input from Various Parties

e As part of this maintenance project, the OAA-OGCA liaison group - formed by members of OAA
Executive Committee and Directors of the OGCA - identified the need to review both the OAA/OGCA
Document 100 — Take-Over Procedures as well as the OAA/OGCA A Guide to Project Closeout
Procedures. This latter document was designed to be used as a reference in combination with

Ve
. Ontario Association
Al of Architects 10f4



OAA/OGCA Document No.100. However, it had not been maintained over the years. It was decided to
leverage some content/concepts and transfer them into the updated Document 100-2025 rather than
maintain a separate Guide.
The first draft of the updates to Document 100 was created by OAA’s Practice Advisory Services
(PAS) staff in early 2023. It was then submitted to OGCA for review and comment. The response was
discussed with OGCA. The resulting draft was reviewed by legal counsel. Most outstanding legal
comments and issues were resolved by discussion with OGCA.
Throughout the development of the new version, the following stakeholders were consulted for
input/feedback: Practice Resources Committee (PRC), members of the OGCA Board and the
President of the OGCA, and external legal counsel. Support was provided by the OAA’s Executive
Director and OAA’s Communications team.
As it pertains to maintenance consideration, OAA-OGCA liaison group suggested to withdraw the
Guide to Project Close-out, but to keep graphic timelines and create a new appendix to Document
100-2025 version
In early September 2024, the draft copy was presented for acceptance by OGCA at their AGM.
Consensus was not achieved, and OAA was made aware that feedback would be forwarded by
OGCA.
In April 2025, OAA received the feedback which was reviewed by PAS. Input was obtained from legal
counsel.
A meeting was held with OGCA/their legal counsel and PAS to review feedback and address
outstanding concerns.
OAA worked with legal counsel to finalize the draft.
OGCA accepted the updated Document 100-2025 version at their AGM on June 27, 2025.
PRC has been kept appraised of the maintenance project as well as the process. At the September 4
2025 PRC meeting, the committee was provided following based on discussion/questions:
Background/historical context for the withdrawal of the companion OAA/OGCA Guide to
Project Closeout Procedures. Creating an updated version of the guide may be considered if
the need arises in the future.
Clarification around the focus of the Document 100 and why it doesn’t refer to OBC’s Division
C, Subsection 1.3.3. Occupancy of Buildings and the requirements for Substantial Completion
= Document 100 is focused on what is in the contract and in the Construction Act
=  Substantial Completion deals with occupancy requirements which are not part of
every project.
=  Substantial Completion is pertinent but it not the focus of this resource.
Clarification that Document 100 deals with the typical processes and doesn’t address all of the
possible quirks and exceptions.
PRC provided their support of the updated 2025 version and withdrawal of associated resources (refer
to “Next Steps” section below).

Organization of Document 100-2025 & Proposed Changes

vd

General Formatting Changes include:
o updated logos for both organizations
o expanded background section
o new Appendices C and D (see below)
Updated title to reflect year of issuance
Updated contents page, including contact email for OAA
Updates to the Application Section:
o This section was simplified as the Construction Act has been in effect for a number of years
Updates to the Introduction Section:

Ontario Association
of Architects

2of 4



vd

o An explanation of the withdrawal of the 2010 Guide and the inclusion of two updated timelines as
Appendices was added

Updates to the General Notes Section

o The focus and scope of the document were clarified

o The distinction between the roles of consultant and payment certifier were emphasized
Updates to the Definition Section

o Minor adjustments to the wording were made to more accurately reflect the legislation

o Ready-for-Takeover and Ready for Use were added for clarity
Updates to the Significant Statutory Requirements Section

o Minor changes were made for consistency and to address annual and phased release of holdback

o The various stages were updated for clarity and consistency

o A stage was added to address the processes around Ready-for-Takeover

Other Technical Changes include (refer to redline version):

o Clarification that applications for release of holdback are not subject to the prompt payment
provisions of the CA.

o Wording around Substantial Performance was added to clarify that application by the contractor for
determination of substantial performance was not mandatory, but at the contractor’s discretion.

o References to “Consultant and/or payment certifier” were changed to avoid confusion about the
role of the Consultant when there is a third party payment certifier.

o References to “60 day lien period” were changed to reflect that it is a “60 day lien expiry period”
since liens can be initiated at any time after the due date of the first payment, not just during the 60
day period. Further, it is noted that the 60 day lien expiry period may be extended if a lien is filed.

o Where appropriate, the CA concept of “deemed completion” has replaced the term “completion”.

o The documentation to be submitted prior to the release of holdback is clarified in 7.1(d).

o The wording in, and title of, Stage 8B has been changed to reflect that application for release of
holdback is not a payment application subject to the prompt payment provisions of the CA.

o Toreflect current usage and practice, “warranty-guarantee period” has been changed to “warranty
period”

Minor Updates to Appendix A: Form 9

o The sample filled-in Form 9 was updated to distinguish it from the previous version and include:
= Updated formatting
= Expanded title
= New “NOTE” to encourage reader to download latest form on Ontario Government website
= Suggested language

Minor Updates to Appendix B: Template — Statement of Deemed Completion of a Contract

o Updated formatting
o Expanded Title

*NEW* Appendix C: Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover
o Atemplate for a practice “Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover” was added.

*New* Appendix D: Take-over Timelines

o This new appendix consists of two graphics adapted from the OAA-OGCA publication “A Guide to
Project Closeout Procedures” which was published in November 2010 (and now proposed to be
withdrawn — see above). The graphics and notes were updated to reflect the current Construction
Act:

Ontario Association
of Architects

3of4



= Time Chart for Date of Substantial Performance of the Contract
= Time Chart for Date of Deemed Completion of the Contract (post Substantial Performance)

e Anticipated Future Maintenance:

o Since development of Document 100-2025 was initiated, the provincial government proposed
changes to the Construction Act which will likely affect the content of the proposed Document 100-
2025 when the legislation is enacted. The government received significant feedback about the
changes to the legislation and potential regulations. There is no indication of when the regulations
will be ready or the legislation proclaimed. A public Consultation on the regulations was launched
at end of August 2025.The OGCA and OAA continue to monitor the situation.

Next Steps

Pending any feedback from OAA Council, OAA will then advise OGCA and work collaboratively to create a
communication plan to advise each of their memberships of the new 2025 version of Doc 100.
This will also include the discussion around the transition period prior to the withdrawal of the following
documents:
=  OAA/OGCA Take Over Procedures (For Use on Projects Under the Construction Act)
=  OAA/GCA Take Over Procedures (For Use on Projects Under the Construction Lien Act)
= OAA/OGCA A Guide to Project Closeout Procedures

Ve
Ontario Association
Al of Architects 40f4



OAA-OGCA Take-Over Procedures

FOR USE ON PROJECTS UNDER THE CONSTRUCTION ACT, R.S.0. 1990, c.C.30

r
Ontario Association

/1 of Architects

wEBUILDCDNTARIO

ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION

RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES CONCERNING
SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE, READY-FOR-TAKEOVER,

AND COMPLETION TAKE-OVER OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

OAA-OGCA Document 100-2025

Copyright© - must not be copied
in whole or in part without written
permission from both the OAA

and the OGCA. Month XX, 2025



CONTENTS

STAGE 1

STAGE 2

STAGE 3

STAGE 4

STAGE 5

STAGE 6

STAGE 7

STAGE 8A

STAGE 8B

STAGE 9

STAGE 10

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX C

APPLICATION

INTRODUCTION

GENERAL NOTES

DEFINITIONS

SIGNIFICANT STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

Contract Submissions

Contractor's Inspection for Substantial Performance
Contractor's Application for Certificate of Substantial Performance
Certificate of Substantial Performance

Certificate for Payment of Basic Holdback Monies
Determination of Ready-for-Takeover

Deemed Completion of the Contract

Certificate for Release of Monies for Finishing Holdback
Certificate for Release of Monies for Holdback

Final Payment Certificate

Warranty Period(s)

Form 9 - Certificate of Substantial Performance of the Contract
Statement of Contract Deemed Completed

Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover

APPENDIX D Take-over Timelines

Page 1
Page 1
Page 1
Page 2
Page 3
Page 4
Page 4
Page 5
Page 6
Page 6
Page 7
Page 7
Page 9
Page 9
Page 9
Page 10
Page 11
Page 12
Page 13

Page 14

A vertical bar in the right margin indicates a paragraph which has been changed for this issue.

Enquiries should be directed to:

Ontario Association of Architects
111 Moatfield Drive

Don Mills, Ontario

M3B 3L6

(416) 449-6898 x400

E-Mail: PracticeAdvisor@oaa.on.ca

Toronto, Ontario
M9W 6A9
(905) 671-3969

E-Mail: info@ogca.ca

Ontario General Contractors Association
180 Attwell Drive, Suite 280

Revised: September 2025



RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES CONCERNING SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE,
READY-FOR-TAKEOVER, AND COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

Short Title:  This Document may be referred to as "OAA-OGCA TAKE-OVER PROCEDURES (CA)" or
“Document 100-2025”

Application

This document covers procedures for projects being built under the Construction Act. Refer to the Construction
Act for the transition rules which determine which version of the Construction Lien Act or the Construction Act
applies to the project.

Introduction

The purpose of this document is to recommend standard procedures to facilitate the closing stages of a
construction contract and the take-over of the project by the Owner from the Contractor.

These procedures have been prepared jointly by the Ontario Association of Architects and the Ontario General
Contractors Association (the “Associations”), have been reviewed by legal counsel, and subsequently approved
by the Associations’ governing bodies. This document is intended as an educational guideline for all the
stakeholders in the project including the Owner, Consultants, Contractors and Subcontractors. The Associations
recommend these procedures be used by their respective members and Owners/Clients.

The Guide to Project Close-out Procedures was created in 2010 to be used with the 2007 version of Document
100. It was not updated to reflect the requirements of the Construction Act when Document 100 was updated in
2018. The OAA and OGCA decided not to update it for this 2025 version of Document 100. The Guide is no longer
available and should be considered obsolete. However, two of the timelines from the Guide were deemed helpful,
and have been included herein as Appendices.

The Associations also recommend that these procedures be coordinated with and form a part of the construction
contract documents from the outset by reference to Document 100-2025.

Where a contract is in progress which does not provide such procedures, the Associations recommend that the
construction contract be amended by agreement between the contracting parties to include these procedures to
facilitate the orderly take-over of the project in the interests of all stakeholders.

General Notes

The procedures outlined herein have been prepared in relation to the Construction Act, hereinafter referred to as
the C.A.", and apply to all construction contracts. These procedures are therefore primarily applicable to Ontario
projects where the C.A. applies, but they may be adapted for use on projects which fall outside these bounds.

The concept of “Ready-for-Takeover” as pioneered in CCDC 2-2020 has been included herein for the first time.
Ready-for-Takeover is being added to other CCDC documents as they are updated.

In most cases, the architect is the Consultant identified in the CCDC contracts, and in most cases, the Consultant
is also the payment certifier, but the payment certifier may also be a third party. Where the contractual
responsibilities differ from this most common arrangement, the application of this document will need to be suitably
modified.

T All references are to the Construction Act, R.S.0. 1990, ¢ C.30 and the Regulations thereunder as amended as of the
date of publication.

Page 1 Revised: 2025




Definitions

Except for Owner/Client, Consultant, Contractor, Ready-for-Takeover, Subcontractor, Trade Contractor, and Work
which are defined in the contract as appropriate, and “ready for use”, all other terms and concepts used in this
document that are defined in the C.A. are italicized for convenience.

Note: The concept of substantial performance in the C.A. is referred to in CCDC contracts as “Substantial
Performance of the Work”.

Construction Trade Newspaper

The definition of the term “construction trade newspaper’ appears in Section 1 of O. Reg. 304/18 to the C.A.,

which reads as follows:

(@)

(b)
(c)
(d)

Contract

construction trade newspaper” means a newspaper,

that is published either in paper format with circulation generally throughout Ontario or in
electronic format in Ontario,

that is published at least daily on all days other than Saturdays and holidays,
in which calls for tender on construction contracts are customarily published, and

that is primarily devoted to the publication of matters of concern to the construction
industry.”

The definition of the term “contract’ appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A., which reads as follows:

contract” means the contract between the owner and the contractor, and includes any amendment to

that contract; (“contract”)”

Note: A contractor is anyone who enters into a contract with an owner to provide services or materials to an
improvement, not just a construction contractor.

Contract Price

The definition of the term “price” appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A., which reads as follows:

price” means,

(@)

Payment Certifier

the contract or subcontract price,
(i) agreed on between the parties, or

(i) if no specific price has been agreed to between them, the actual market value of the
services or materials that have been supplied to the improvement under the contract
or subcontract, except as otherwise provided by the regulations and

any direct costs incurred as a result of an extension of the duration of the supply of
services or materials to the improvement for which the contractor or subcontractor, as the
case may be, is not responsible; (“prix”)”

The definition of the term “payment certifier’ appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A., which reads as follows:

payment certifier” means an architect, engineer or any other person upon whose certificate payments

are made under a contract or subcontract ; (“personne qui autorise le paiement”).”

Page 2 Revised: 2025



For convenience, since it is a new term, the definition of Ready-for-Takeover follows:

Ready-for-Takeover

The definition of the term “Ready-for-Takeover” appears in the DEFINITIONS section of the CCDC 2-2020
contract, which reads as follows:

Ready for Use

The term “ready for use” appears in Section 2(1) of the C.A. as part of the concept of substantial performance,
but is not itself explicitly defined.

““Ready-for-Takeover” shall have been attained when the conditions set out in paragraph 12.1.1 of GC
12.1 — READY-FOR-TAKEOVER have been met, as verified by the Consultant pursuant to paragraph
12.1.4.2 of GC 12.1 — READY-FOR-TAKEOVER.”

Ready for use is a concept used in determining whether substantial performance has been reached. Its
meaning depends on what is being constructed under the contract in question. It may be the entire project
under a general contract or only one trade’s contract work under a construction management
arrangement. Ready for use for the purposes intended is normally when it is ready for the owner to occupy
and fit out.

In the case of a hospital, for instance, ready for use is not when it is ready for patients to move in or clinical
procedures to begin, rather, it is when it is ready for the hospital to occupy and make ready for them to
initiate their fit out and training, etc. If it is the whole project, then the test is usually met once the new
space is ready for occupancy. If it is only a trade contract, then the test is generally whether the trade’s
work is functional (e.g. mechanical) or ready for the next trade to start or continue their work.

If the contract is for a shell only, then ready for use is typically when the shell contract is close enough to
completion that the tenant’s contractor can start the tenant fit-out, whether or not the fit-out actually starts.

Significant Statutory Requirements

a)

b)

The concept of "basic holdback" is set out in Section 22(1) of the C.A. which reads as follows:

“(1) Each payer upon a contract or subcontract under which a lien may arise shall retain a holdback
equal to 10 per cent of the price of the services or materials as they are actually supplied under
the contract or subcontract until all liens that may be claimed against the holdback in respect of
the supplied services or materials have expired or been satisfied, discharged or otherwise
provided for under this Act.”

The concept of "substantial performance” and “substantially performed” is set out in Section 2(1) of the
C.A. which reads as follows:
"(1) For the purposes of this Act, a contract is substantially performed,

(a) when the improvement to be made under that contract or a substantial part thereof is
ready for use or is being used for the purposes intended; and

(b) when the improvement to be made under that contract is capable of completion or, where
there is a known defect, correction, at a cost of not more than,

(i) 3 per cent of the first $1,000,000 of the contract price,
(i) 2 per cent of the next $1,000,000 of the contract price, and

(iii) 1 per cent of the balance of the contract price."

Page 3 Revised: 2025



d)

e)

f)

9)

Attention is drawn to Section 2(2) of the C.A. which reads as follows: ‘

"(2) For the purposes of this Act, where the improvement or a substantial part thereof is ready for use
oris being used for the purposes intended and the owner and the contractor agree not to complete
the improvement expeditiously, the price of the services or materials remaining to be supplied and
required to complete the improvement shall be deducted from the contract price in determining
substantial performance."

The concept of “separate holdback for finishing work” is set out in Section 22(2) of the C.A. which reads ‘
as follows:

“(2) Where the contract has been certified or declared to be substantially performed but services or
materials remain to be supplied to complete the contract, the payer upon the contract, or a
subcontract, under which a lien may arise shall retain, from the date certified or declared to be
the date of substantial performance of the contract, a separate holdback equal to 10 per cent of
the price of the remaining services or materials as they are actually supplied under the contract
or subcontract, until all liens that may be claimed against the holdback have expired or been
satisfied, discharged or otherwise provided for under this Act.”

The concept of "completed"” is set out in Section 2(3) of the C.A. which reads as follows:

"(3) For the purposes of this Act, a contract shall be deemed to be completed and services or materials
shall be deemed to be last supplied to the improvement when the price of completion, correction
of a known defect or last supply is not more than the lesser of,

(@) 1 per cent of the contract price; and
(b) $5,000."

Although the term does not appear in the C.A. this concept is commonly referred to as “deemed
completion”.

Multiple improvements under a contract are considered in Section 2 of the C.A. which reads as follows:

“(4) If more than one improvement is to be made under a contract and each of the improvements is to
lands that are not contiguous, then, if the contract so provides, each improvement is deemed for
the purposes of this section to be under a separate contract.”

Attention is drawn to Sections 26.1 and 26.2 in Part IV of the C.A., which make provision for annual and
phased release of holdback. This document does not go into detail about the processes for annual or
phased release of holdback. Where annual or phased release is implemented, the parties should note
that immediately following each instance of such annual or phased release, the value of the holdback
available to resolve any lien is proportionally reduced in tandem with the value of the holdback released

STAGE1 CONTRACT SUBMISSIONS

1.1

Submit all documentation required under the contract.

SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

STAGE2 CONTRACTOR'S INSPECTION FOR SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

2.1

When the Contractor is of the opinion that the requirements of substantial performance as defined in
Section 2(1) the C.A. and as set out above are met, the Contractor shall give written notice of this to the
Owner and payment certifier prior to the anticipated date that it believes substantial performance will be
met, or as otherwise provided in the contract. In the application for substantial performance, the Contractor
(or a Trade Contractor in the case of a trade contract) shall include the following steps:

Page 4 Revised: 2025



23

24

2.5

Step 1: A statement explaining why a substantial part of the work is ready for use or is being used for the
purposes intended.

Step 2: An itemized breakdown of the current contract value adjusted as outlined, based on the definition
of substantial performance as defined in Section 2(1)(b) and 2(2) of C.A.

Step 3: A detailed list of any deferred work (being services or materials agreed not to be completed
expeditiously such as, for example, seasonal work, recent or incomplete changes, or other agreed
deferrals).

Step 4: A detailed list of any incomplete work and/or deficiencies.

It should be noted that one of the tests for substantial performance may be based on the cost required to
complete the work, rather than the latest certificate for payment, as determination of substantial
performance may not coincide with the payment cycle. The financial calculations in Section 2(1)(b) of the
C.A. shall be adjusted according to the Step 3. Additionally, the incomplete work and/or deficiencies
outlined in Step 4 should be compared to the calculated amount from Step 2. If the remaining work is less
than the calculated amount from Step 2, and a substantial part of the work is "ready for use" or is being
used for the purposes intended, then the tests for substantial performance have been met.

The inspection team shall be comprised of:

(a) the Contractor and/or the Contractor's representative(s);
(b) the prime mechanical and electrical Subcontractors and/or their representative(s); and
(c) any other Subcontractors and/or Subcontractors’ representative(s) whose participation may be

required by the Contractor in order to fully determine the Work to be completed.

Upon completion of this inspection a list of all uncompleted and unsatisfactory work which is identified
during the inspection shall be prepared by the Contractor and shall be issued to all members of the
inspection team as well as the Consultant and payment certifier.

Contractors may elect not to go through Stages 2 and 3 for substantial performance certification and
publication of same and may apply for contract completion as defined in the C.A. and as set out above.
They shall proceed to Stage 6 provided the requirements under 3.2(b) have been satisfied; and in this
case there shall be only one lien expiry period and, consequently, only one certification for holdback
release (as there will be no separate holdback for finishing work). Where no certificate of substantial
performance is obtained and published, certification for the purpose of the release of the basic holdback
shall occur upon the conclusion of the 60 day lien expiry period, barring any liens, which commences on
the day the contract is deemed completed by the payment certifier (or Owner and Contractor jointly).This
section applies in circumstances where the contract has not been abandoned or terminated earlier.

STAGE3 CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL

3.1

PERFORMANCE

When the Contractor has carried out the steps in Stage 2 and has determined that the requirements for
substantial performance of the contract have been met, the Contractor may, subject to the requirements
of the contract, then make a written application to the payment certifier for a certificate of substantial
performance. If there is no payment certifier, at the request of the Contractor, the Owner and the
Contractor shall make the determination jointly and shall both sign the certificate of substantial
performance.

Page 5 Revised: 2025




3.2

3.3

3.4

This application shall include:

(@)

(d)

(@)

A statement to the Owner through the payment certifier to the effect that:

(i) the contract is substantially performed, and
(i) the phase of the performance of the balance of the contract is in process and completion
is scheduled for the ................ day of ..oovviiiiiii. , 20..... Where the balance of the

contract, or a part or parts thereof, cannot be performed forthwith, as has been agreed
by the Owner and the Contractor, the Contractor's statement shall contain a completion
date for each phase of the balance of the contract.

The submission of all:
(i) documentation required under the contract, and

(i) all maintenance materials required under the contract, including an acknowledgement
form to be signed by the Owner listing the materials provided.

A statement of outstanding work for completion, with the cost values of:
(i) work to be completed including correction of unsatisfactory work;
(i) outstanding items referred to in 3.2(b); and

(iii) work which the Owner and the Contractor agree in writing is to be deferred to a later date.

An application for release of holdback showing the amount of basic holdback monies due for
release and payment following the end of the lien expiry period under the C.A. after the issuance
and publication of the certificate of substantial performance.

A CCDC 9A ‘Statutory Declaration’ and Workplace Safety & Insurance Board (WSIB) Certificate
of Clearance are required before the payment covering the release of basic holdback can be
released.

Where there is a payment certifier, within 10 calendar days, or as stipulated otherwise in the
contract documents, of the receipt of the Contractor's completed application for a certificate of
substantial performance, the payment certifier shall carry out a review and assessment of the
work, to determine whether the contract has been substantially performed. The Owner may take
part in the review but the determination as to whether the contract has been substantially
performed is to be made by the payment certifier. Where there is no payment certifier, subject to
the provisions of the contract, the Owner and Contractor shall jointly make the determination.

Within 7 calendar days or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents, of the payment
certifier's review and assessment, the payment certifier shall notify the Contractor of its
determination as to whether or not the contract has been substantially performed. In the event the
payment certifier determines that the contract has not been substantially performed, the notice
shall also provide the Contractor with a detailed explanation as to why such determination has
been made.

In the event that the Contractor's application for a certificate of substantial performance is not
accepted by the payment certifier, the Contractor shall complete the work necessary to achieve
substantial performance of the contract as previously defined and the Contractor shall submit a
subsequent application for a certificate of substantial performance thereafter.

The Contractor's application for a certificate of substantial performance and the Contractor’s application
for the release of basic holdback shall be separate from but may coincide with the applications for regular
monthly progress payments and the latter shall continue to be made in the ordinary course throughout the
duration of the contract.

Page 6 Revised: 2025




STAGE 4 CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

41

4.2

4.3

If the payment certifier determines that the contract has been substantially performed, the payment
certifier (or where there is no payment certifier, the Owner and Contractor jointly) shall certify the
substantial performance of the contract by preparing and signing a certificate in Form 9 prescribed by the
C.A., a copy of which may be found in Appendix A hereto. The payment certifier or the Owner and
Contractor jointly, as the case may be, shall set out in the certificate the date on which the contract was
substantially performed. The payment certifier shall give a copy of the certificate to the Owner and to the
Contractor within 7 days of signing it.

The Contractor shall publish a copy of the certificate of substantial performance once in a construction
trade newspaper and shall provide the payment certifier with proof of the date of publication. The day
following the date of publication shall be the date of commencement of the 60-day lien expiry period prior
to release of the basic holdback monies.

The Contractor's and Contractor's Subcontractors' forces shall continue to work towards Ready-for-
Takeover (where applicable) and completion during and after the 60-day period mentioned in Stage 4.2.

(NOTE: See Appendix A hereto for sample of the prescribed form of the certificate of substantial
performance.)

STAGE 5 CERTIFICATE FOR RELEASE OF BASIC HOLDBACK MONIES

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

5.5

5.6

5.7

The payment certifier shall prepare the certificate for release of the basic holdback monies and promptly
upon receipt of the application for release of holdback and the documentation as listed in 4.2 and 3.2(d)
above, required for release of these monies, issue the certificate to the Owner, with a copy to the
Contractor. The certificate shall be dated for payment one day after the date on which the 60 day lien
expiry period concludes.

Upon issuing the certificate for release of the basic holdback monies, the payment certifier shall advise
the Owner to verify that no liens have been preserved as at the end of the 60-day lien expiry period.

The payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens exist, release of basic
holdback shall be due and payable one day after the date on which the 60-day lien expiry period
concludes.

The payment certifier's certificate for the release of the basic holdback monies shall be in the amount
shown in the Contractor's application, as approved by the payment certifier, for the certificate of substantial
performance.

Before the expiry of the 60-day period, the payment certifier shall advise the Owner and the Contractor to
review all forms of insurance to ensure adequate coverage for all parties. Subject to the provisions of the
contract, release of statutory holdback is not contingent upon review of insurance coverage.

The release of any monies which are due and payable after the release of the basic holdback shall occur
in accordance with the terms of the contract and the provisions of the C.A. As provided in some contracts,
the Owner may be asked by the Contractor to place the basic holdback in a separate bank account in the
joint names of the Owner and the Contractor 10 days prior to the expiry of the 60-day period unless
previously placed in a separate trust account.

Notwithstanding the references to a “60 day” lien expiry period in the provisions of Stage 4 and Stage 5
above, the application of Section 34(10) of the C.A. may lead to the extension of the lien expiry period for
up to an additional 45 days beyond the initial 60-day period with respect to one or more lien claimants on
a project. Section 34(10) says that if the matter that is the subject of a lien that has not expired is also a
matter that is the subject of an adjudication under the C.A., the lien is deemed to have expired on the later
of the date on which the lien would expire under the lien expiry provisions of the C.A. (i.e. 60 days) and

Page 7 Revised: 2025




the conclusion of the 45-day period next following the adjudicator’s receipt of the documents required to
be delivered to the adjudicator under the C.A.’s adjudication provisions

If, for example, the prospective lien claimant commences an adjudication immediately prior to the expiry
of the 60-day lien period, the prospective lien claimant will enjoy an extension of the lien period for the
additional 45 days, for a total lien expiry period of 105 days. Knowing when the lien period is expiring is
important for purposes of holdback release. Accordingly, Contractor shall, within thirty (30) days following
the publication of the certificate of substantial performance, and again within thirty (30) days following the
date the contract is deemed completed, provide written confirmation to the Owner that: (a) the Contractor
is not aware of any ongoing or impending adjudications to which it or any of its Subcontractors (of any
tier) are party; and (b) the Contractor has made reasonable enquiries with its Subcontractors to this effect
in order to support this conclusion.

STAGE6 DETERMINATION OF READY-FOR-TAKEOVER

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

The provisions of this stage shall apply if the contract contemplates Ready-for-Takeover, such as is the
case in the CCDC 2-2020 or if Ready-for-Takeover has been added to the contract through supplementary
conditions.

The prerequisites for attaining Ready-for-Takeover are as defined in the contract.

When the Contractor considers that the prerequisites have been met and the Work is Ready-for-Takeover,
the Contractor shall deliver to the Consultant and to the Owner for review a comprehensive list of items to
be completed or corrected, together with a written application for determination of Ready-for-Takeover.

After receipt of the written application for determination of Ready-for-Takeover, the Consultant will review
the Work to verify the validity of the application and shall promptly, and in any event, no later than 10
calendar days after receipt of the Contractor's list and application:

.1 advise the Contractor in writing that the Work is not Ready-for-Takeover and give reasons why, or
.2 confirm the date of Ready-for-Takeover in writing to each of the Owner and the Contractor.

Immediately following the confirmation of the date of Ready-for-Takeover, the Contractor, in consultation
with the Consultant, shall establish a reasonable date for finishing the Work.

The Contractor’s warranty period under the contract is typically one year from the date when Ready-for-
Takeover has been attained or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents.

STAGE7 DEEMED COMPLETION OF THE CONTRACT

7.1

(a) When the Contractor is satisfied that the contract is completed as defined in Section 2(3) of the
C.A., and after making an inspection, the Contractor shall forward the inspection report and make
a written request to the payment certifier for a review and assessment of the Work. The payment
certifier shall, in turn, notify the Owner of the Contractor’s request. The Contractor's request shall
include a statement as to the amount of monies of holdback for:

l. the separate holdback for finishing work due for release and payment upon expiry of the
60-day period from the date the contract is deemed completed — where basic holdback has
already been released, or

. the full amount of the holdback for the Work due for release and payment upon expiry of the
60-day period from the date the contract is deemed completed.

Page 8 Revised: 2025




7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

This review and assessment by the payment certifier shall be carried out within 10 calendar days
of the Contractor's request, or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents, and shall
constitute the review and assessment which is a precondition to the issuance of the statement of
deemed completion and issuance of the certificate for payment for the Work performed to the date
of the deemed completion.

(b) The Contractor shall submit to the Consultant for review and approval the balance of the
documents required under Stage 1.

(c) With respect to the Contractor’s application for release of statutory holdback, there are two likely
scenarios:

. Where substantial performance has been certified, the Contractor shall submit to the
payment certifier an application for release of the statutory holdback as yet unpaid.

Il. Where substantial performance has not been certified, the Contractor shall submit to the
payment certifier an application for the release of the statutory finishing holdback.

(d) Before the payment covering the release of the statutory holdback as yet unpaid can be released,
the Contractor shall submit with the application for release a Workplace Safety & Insurance Board
(WSIB) Certificate of Clearance and a CCDC 9A ‘Statutory Declaration’ declaring that all accounts
for labour, subcontracts, products, services, and construction machinery and equipment which
have been incurred directly by the Contractor in the performance of the work have been paid up
to and including the latest progress payment received (except for (1) holdback monies properly
retained, (2) payments deferred by agreement, or (3) payment withheld by reason of legitimate
dispute which has been identified to the party or parties from whom payment has been withheld).

The final review of the Work for the purpose of issuing a statement of deemed completion shall be
conducted by:

(a) the payment certifier and such Consultants as they may require;
(b) the Contractor, and any Subcontractors deemed necessary by the Contractor; and
(c) the Owner, at their option.

Within 7 calendar days of the review and assessment, or as stipulated otherwise in the contract
documents, the payment certifier shall notify the Contractor of approval of the Contractor’s application by
issuance of a statement of deemed completion which will establish the date of deemed completion. In the
event that the payment certifier does not determine the contract to be deemed complete, the payment
certifier shall so notify the Contractor in writing within 7 calendar days of the review, or as stipulated
otherwise in the contract documents, and shall provide to the Contractor in writing the reasons for such
determination.

If, as a result of the review and assessment of the Work, it is determined there are deficiencies in the Work
performed by the Contractor or its Subcontractors, the Consultant shall provide to the Contractor a list of
such deficiencies.

(a) In the event that the Contractor’s application for a statement of deemed completion is accepted,
such list shall constitute the final deficiency list, for the purpose of acceptance of the Work under
the contract. If the Contractor’s application for a statement of deemed completion is not accepted,
the payment certifier may issue a final list of deficiencies upon subsequently accepting a further
application for a statement of deemed completion.

(b) If the correction of such deficiencies is valued as the lesser of 1 per cent of the contract price or
$5,000, then the contract shall be deemed completed as defined in Section 2(3) of the C.A. The
60-day lien expiry period shall then commence. The release of this holdback does not absolve the
Contractor from correcting the deficiencies.

Deficiencies shall be corrected by a date mutually agreed upon between the Consultant and the
Contractor, unless a specific date is otherwise required by the contract. Upon rectification of the
deficiencies, a further review and assessment by the Consultant shall be called for by the Contractor and

Page 9 Revised: 2025




such review and assessment shall take place within 7 calendar days from the date of the Contractor’s
request.

(NOTE: See Appendix B hereto for sample form of a Statement of Contract Deemed Completed)

STAGE 8A CERTIFICATE FOR RELEASE OF MONIES FOR FINISHING HOLDBACK

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

Upon receipt of documentation under 7.1 above, and issuance of the payment certifier's statement of
deemed completion, the payment certifier shall prepare the certificate for release of the monies retained
as a separate holdback for finishing work. This certificate shall be dated one day after the expiry of the
60-day period (subject to 5.7 above) which commences on the day following the date the contract is
deemed to have been completed.

Upon issuing the certificate for release of monies retained as a separate holdback for finishing work, the
payment certifier shall advise the Owner to verify that no liens have been preserved as at the end of the
60-day lien expiry period (or such longer period as described in 5.7 above, if applicable).

The payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens have been preserved,
release of the monies for the separate holdback for finishing work is due and shall be payable one day
after termination of the 60-day lien expiry period (subject to 5.7 above).

The payment certifier's certificate for release of the monies retained as a separate holdback for finishing
work shall be in the amount requested in the Contractor's application for a statement of deemed
completion, as approved by the payment certifier.

STAGE 8B CERTIFICATE FOR RELEASE OF MONIES FOR HOLDBACK

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

Upon receipt of documentation under 7.1 above, and issuance of the payment certifier's statement of
deemed completion, the payment certifier shall prepare the certificate for release of the monies retained
as holdback for the Work. This certificate shall be dated one day after the expiry of the 60-day lien expiry
period (subject to 5.7 above) which commences on the day following the date the contract is deemed to
have been completed.

Upon issuing the certificate for release of monies retained as holdback for the Work, the payment certifier
shall advise the Owner to verify that no liens have been preserved as at the end of the 60-day period lien

expiry.

The payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens have been preserved,
release of the monies for the holdback for the Work is due and shall be payable one day after termination
of the 60-day lien expiry period (subject to 5.7 above).

The payment certifier's certificate for release of the monies retained as holdback for the Work shall be in
the amount requested in the Contractor's application for a statement of deemed completion, as approved
by the payment certifier.

STAGE 9 FINAL PAYMENT CERTIFICATE

9.1

9.2

At the completion of Stage 7, when the Consultant and payment certifier are satisfied that all deficiencies
and uncompleted work, as established under Stage 7.4, have been corrected, and upon receipt of the
Contractor's proper invoice for final payment, in accordance with the C.A. and the contract, the payment
certifier shall issue to the Owner, with a copy to the Contractor, a final certificate for payment for the
remaining monies due to the Contractor under the contract.

Final payment shall be made to the Contractor as stipulated in the certificate, no later than five days after
its issuance or as provided in the contract.

Page 10 Revised: 2025




STAGE 10 WARRANTY PERIOD(S)

10.1

10.2

Note:

10.3

10.4

The warranty period(s) for the contract shall commence on the date noted in the Consultant’s statement
that Ready-for-Takeover was attained, on the date of substantial performance (i.e. not necessarily the
date of publication of the certificate) where Ready-for-Takeover is not part of the contract, or as stipulated
otherwise in the contract documents.

In the event that neither the date of Ready-for-Takeover nor substantial performance were determined
and the contract documents do not stipulate otherwise, the warranty period(s) shall commence on the
date of deemed completion or occupancy, whichever is earlier.

(a) In the event the contract contemplates phased (or partial) occupancy, then, subject to the terms
of the contract, the following shall apply. Phased (or partial) occupancy shall be deemed to occur
when a discrete or stand-alone portion of the building is complete and can be occupied or used
for its intended purpose. Any such phased (or partial) occupancy shall be considered as
“occupancy” for the purposes of defining the commencement of the warranty period(s) for the
area and the systems that support the portion of the building being occupied.

The concepts of early occupancy, phased occupancy, and partial occupancy may significantly affect
expectations of when warranty periods start for products and systems which are not wholly contained
within the occupied portions. There is no single solution which can be pointed to as a best practice in all
cases. This is something that should be discussed with the Owner and addressed explicitly in the tender
and contract documents so that all parties have the same understanding of what is expected. Doing so
will go a long way to avoiding disputes at project closeout.

The Owner shall give prompt notice in writing to the Contractor and Consultant of any defects (as defined
by the contract) noted during the Contractor’'s warranty period. This is typically a one-year duration and
should not be confused with separate extended warranties issued by manufacturers, suppliers, installers
and others.

Prior to the completion of the Contractor’'s warranty period, the Consultant, and such other Consultants
as the Consultant may require, will carry out a review of the Work for any defects or deficiencies including
those that have been observed by the Owner during the warranty period and will notify the Contractor in
writing of those items requiring attention by the Contractor to complete the terms of the contract.

Page 11 Revised: 2025




APPENDIX A - Form 9 - Certificate of Substantial Performance of the Contract under Section 32 of the Act

NOTE: Form 9 is prescribed by the Regulation 303/18: Forms under the C.A. The version which follows is
included for convenience only. For actual use, the latest form should be downloaded from the Ontario
government website.

FORM 9

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTRACT UNDER SECTION 32 OF THE ACT

Construction Act

Regional Municipality of The Universe

(County/District/Regional Municipality/ Town/City in which premises are situated)

91 Thorold Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 3X4

(street address and city, town, etc., or, if there is no street address, the location of the premises)
This is to certify that the contract for the following improvement:

Addition and Alterations to offices of Alpha Owner

(short description of the improvement)

To the above premises was substantially performed on July 04, 2025
(date substantially performed)

Date of certificate signed: July 06, 2025

Charlie Architect Inc.

(payment certifier, where there is one) (owner and contractor, where there is no payment certifier)
Name of owner Alpha Owner (1985) Inc.

Address for service 91 Thorold Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 3X4

Name of contractor Bravo Contractor (1987) Ltd.

Address for service 39 Facer Street, Universe, Ontario L2X 7X8

Name of payment certifier (where applicable)  Charlie Architect Inc.

Address 46 Long Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 7X8

(Use A or B whichever is appropriate)
A. Indemnification of premises for preservation of liens:

Part of Lots 7, 8, Reg'd Plan 96, Former TWP of Stamford, now City of Universe PIN 10053-0194 (LT)

(a legal description of the premises, including all property identifier numbers and addresses for the premises)

B. Office to which claim for lien and affidavit must be given to preserve lien:

(If the lien does not attach to premises, the name and address of the person or body to whom the claim for lien must be given)

Page 12 Revised: 2024



APPENDIX B — Statement of Deemed Completion of a Contract

NOTE User to complete info shown in RED. Change font colour to Black. DELETE THIS NOTE.
Date

Owner's Company Name
Street Address

Suite number

City, Province or State
Postal Code

Country

Attn: Owner or Owner’s Agent

Re: Statement of Deemed Completion of a Contract
For the Purposes of the Construction Act
Project Description
Project Location

Proj No: nn.nnnnn.nn

Building Permit No: XXXXXXX

Dear Owner or Owner’s Agent,

Based on our general review of the project, in our opinion, to the best of our knowledge,
information and belief, the construction contract for the above referenced project has been
deemed complete pursuant to the provisions under Section 2(3) of the Construction Act, R.S.O.
1990.

The date of deemed completion of the contract was determined to be yyyy mm dd.

Accordingly, the Construction Act provides that outstanding lien holdback monies may be
released to the contractor on the day following the conclusion of the sixty (60) day period next
following the date the contract was “deemed completed”, provided no liens exist relative to this
contract.

A Certificate for Release of Holdback and accompanying documentation is being prepared for the
outstanding lien holdback monies.

We trust that the above is understood. Should you have any questions with regard to the above,
or have any information that would alter our determination please contact the undersigned.

Yours Truly,

Architectural Practice Name
per:

Your Name
Working Title
Officer Status

cc: Contractor’s Rep, Contractor's Company Name

Page 13 Revised: 2025



APPENDIX C — Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover

NOTE User to complete info shown in RED. Change font colour to Black. DELETE THIS NOTE.
Date

Owner's Company Name
Street Address

Suite number

City, Province or State
Postal Code

Country

Attn: Owner or Owner’s Agent

Re: Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover
Project Description
Project Location

Proj No: nn.nnnnn.nn

Building Permit No: XXXXXXX

Dear Owner or Owner’'s Agent,

Based on our general review of the project, in our opinion, to the best of our knowledge,
information and belief, the above referenced project has been determined to be Ready-for-
Takeover pursuant to the provisions of the construction contract.

The date of Ready-for-Takeover was determined to be yyyy mm dd.

Accordingly, the construction contract provides that [Insert here anything triggered by
achievement of this milestone such as establishing a reasonable date for the completion of the
Work.]

We trust that the above is understood. Should you have any questions with regard to the above,
or have any information that would alter our determination please contact the undersigned.

Yours Truly,

Architectural Practice Name
per:

Your Name
Working Title
Officer Status

Ccc: Contractor’'s Rep, Contractor's Company Name

Page 14 Revised: 2025



APPENDIX D - Take-over Timelines

This appendix consists of two pages. One is a “Time Chart for Date of Substantial Performance of the

Contract”. The other is a “Time Chart for Date of Deemed Completion of the Contract (post substantial
performance)”.

Both have been adapted from the OAA-OGCA publication “A Guide to Project Closeout Procedures” which
was published in November 2010 and which since then has been withdrawn.

Page 15 Revised: 2025




G20T -pesiney

awi)

9| abed

souBWIONEd [BIUBISANS =dS

<

T
ajqeled “
qoeqpjoH ® 9np P3apaaN } | ds jo ds jo ds jo ds 10}
jo yoeqp|oH «:OE>Nn_-:OZ | ?jedljilv) uoljeuiwialag dS 10} 9jeq uoljeuiwialag m:. LM
juswAed Aioynjeyg J0 991J0N | Jjoosuenss| joojeq | pajedidnuy Joj uonesi|ddy ul 921j0N
I
I
| (,osn Joy Apeau, jo uonduosap 1oy
1 1 I '6 WO Ul UOISN|OU] IO} Jo}I}I80 | epinb aag) "y'D Jad se ‘papusiul 8sn sy}
I 1 I juawAed o} Jaumo Aqg papiroid I 1o} Apeay (z pue ‘einwio4 [eoueuld (| :uo
I | 1 | aq 0} S| ual e jo uonealasaid I peseq pawuiopad Ajjenuelsqns si joejuod
| | 1 | Joj sesiwa.d ayy Jo uonedyuap! | Jay1aym saulwslep Jaliled Juswhed
| | 1 I 2y} Joy uonduosap |eba| vy :8joN I
| | poysiand st | | | "Usiul} 0} SWI} pue }S09 JO djewWliss ue
| | SoUBLIOMO _m:c.ﬁwn:w. 1 'dS _ sapirold Jojoeluo) "ybno.yl yiem malnal
| | 10 areounien oy |1 aujwJelap 0} ybnouyy-yjiem ayj Jo i © 0p 0} JOJOBIJUOD PUE JBUMO ‘J8}I}Ia0
m | s1ep su) Etm.w\Amu op | Aep ayy pajep aq p|noys ¢ w.o4 ! juswAed ayy ayep 4s pajedionue ayy uQ
1 | 1 1
i ey} Jeje| ou Yoeqgpjoy jo . i .
i " jJuswAed-uou jo sonou e | 6 sy i 6 Siuewalinba.
! ysignd isnw i yoegpioy b awes ay} Je Bupum uj suoseal ! UIUOISSIWIWOD [ENJOBJIUOD WNWIUIW JO
i 1 pajielap yim papiroid aq 1 uoneoyua Buipnjoul ‘ayep 4s pajedionue
1 8y} Jo ||e 4o swos Aed 0} X 1
1 1 pInoys J0joeJjuod 8y} ‘payshes 1 0} Joud sAep g Buiyihians ywgns
i U S8pI0ap JBUMQ 8U} §| i
! k 1 jou S| Jaliuao JuswAed auy §| ! pue UONEOIILeD S Joj sjuswalinbal
i | [ |enjoenuod AJlIaA 0} 10}oeIU0D
! SAva oy 0 ‘gjeoyIuad ay Buiubis Jo sAep
“ psouswwod sey uonesipnipe ! L ‘_Qﬁom\:coo vvcm ‘oumo ou} "A [enjoenuo) SAvVA S
Heolpnipe -, 0} "Y™D J0 (B WI04) douewWIONad
| ue J| papualxa aq Aew pouad siy} :8J0N f |BIJUBISGNS JO-81E0LIHBD) Senssl |
| | (paysnes J1) Joyiua0 JuswAhed . *3)BOIIS0 9NSS| IO JOJOBIUOD SSIAPE pue
ﬁ uo JuswAed 0y Joud sual| 1o} >>®..>>M_n_m.wvm@_ ! A A i oS 1o} uolieadde s o Joypieoueliied
! ! ! ! I
W sobuesie soumQ “(31om Buiysiuy) uoneoyoal “ SAva .l W (-a)ep pajedionue 4s o} Joud
W AKousioyep Jo/pue yiom sje|dwooul 1 W A SAEP (g Wnwiuiw) }si| Aousioyep s,J00e.u0d Yim
” 40 uone|dwod Joj Junowe sbeulelal e o} 1 | Jayiua0 JuswAed pue Jaumo apiroid pue aep ds
| uww%ﬂ“ﬁwﬂ:wwﬂm%%m W_co%%‘ﬂ_,n_uﬁmnw MMMH»MM i W wuie ‘ds 1oy uoneoidde ue Jwgns 0} JOJOBIJUOD
4 g |
W 8y} ‘wiajul 8y} uj "eyep Buiysiignd siyy wouy " ,A 1enjoejuo) SAVA 02
I Ss9ouUaWWOod pouad Alidxa ual Aep-09 ‘eyep | |
W uoljeolignd pawIuod Y)M JaIIHa0 JuswAied | ”
W ‘YS9 ay} 0} Adoo e apinoid pue souewiopad | | “I9IJIM80 JuswAed pue Jaumo o} Bunm ul ao10u Ajpwiy
I 4 0>oow Jad joeu0d lejuelsqng jo 8jedlila] ayi zmun:n u_:o%w | I sapinoud J0joeIUOD ‘Bjep 4S pajedionue o} Joud ‘eopoeld 1saq e sy
she J10}0BJU0D 8y} ‘6 WIOH JO }di8dal uo
R q SAep QL UIUIM H joel) Ui '6 4 jodl n | ﬂ S EP—
Avajisig SAVa 09 !
|
dsjo !
ajeoya Jo |
uonealqnd |
Jo ajeq
a xipuaddy JOBIJUOD dY} JO 2OUBWIOLID |eljue}sqns jJo ajeq J40j Jeyd awi]




JuswAed Joj uoneoydde [euly shed JaumQ

JuswAed 1o} 8)edlIa0 [euly e anss| Aay) ‘a)e|dwod
SI JOBJJUOD BY) SBUIWIB)EP Ja|Ia0 JuswAed ay) §|

‘JuswAed Joy uoneoljdde [eul} sHWGNS JOJOEIUOD

(paulejal yoeqgpjoy ou)
uona|dwod |euly 0} uola|dwod Pawaap JO Sjep PUOAS] SBNURUOD MIOAA

G20T -pesiney

"a}0|dwod pawesp

SEM JOBLUOD 8Y} YDIUM UO 8)ep au} Joye sAep Of ueyy Jaje| ou yoeqpjoy
10 JuswAed-uou Jo so1ou e ysignd Jsnw JeumQ 8y} ‘paysiignd sem
aouewIopad [eluelsqns JO UONeIe[dap JO UOIIEDNINaD OU JI pue ‘Yoeqgpioy
Buiysiuy ayy Jo ||e Jo sawos Aed 0} asnya. 0} Bulob si JBUMQ BU} §|

V'O 8y} Jopun 1o} papinold 8sIMIBYIO Jo pabieyosip ‘paysies
ueaq Jo paiidxa aAey 3oeqploy ayj JsuteBe pawielo aq Aew jey) sual| ||e
aJaym >iom Buiysiuly Joj Yoegp|oy 8y} o JusiAed sxyew |[eys JoumQ ayL

11 8bed

‘(padinbai

uoneolgnd oN) pouad Andxs usi| Aep-0g auj Jo Je)s 8y} s uonajdwod
pawaap SaAdILOE JOBIUOD BY) Jey} ajep ay] “panssi 8q Aew uons|dwod
pawaap JO JusWale]s B ) ay} JO sjuswalinbal 8y} YlIm 80UBpPIOIJE
Ul 919|dWOo2 paWwasp SI JOBJJUOD BY} SBUILLIS)EP JaLILSD JuswAed usyA

“foeqploy Buysiuy, sy} se paulelal ¥oeqpioy

Kionjess %01 AJojepuew sy} oAy ||im uoia|dwod pawasp Jo sjep sy}
0} @ouBWIOMad [B)UB)SNS 4O Bjep BY} WOl JuswAed 10} SB}edIHED ||y

awi

|
sa||dde JanQ axe] -10j-Apeay UsyAn

<
<

109f01d

pouad Ajueriem s 10}oeI3UOI JO He)s uov:wﬂc__ ayyJo

i Ayxe|dwoo

(‘uopadwiod aiojaq pue ouewWIoLRd [EUEISANS Ja)je SUWIFAWIOS JNDOO (1M SIU L) 19B:3U0D Aq paysiiqelsa Ji ANO pue azis uo
' Buipuadeap

FEYNCEN) ._..._ou.%mwm_ saleA

J0 ajeq uoneing

pouad Ajuessem sjoesjuod »i }1e)s [euonjipel |

A ‘pansIyoe usaq sey uopna|dwod
pawaap JI SUIWIBIBP O} YIOAA

By} SMalAaJ Jala0 JuswAed ay)

*J0JOBJJUOD puUB ‘10J0BJU0D 8y} JO }senbai uodn
JBUMO BY} 0} JuBLIDIE)S B Sanss|
Jay1He0 JuswAed ay) ‘pansiyoe
usaq sey uona|dwod pawasp J|

‘paulejal yoeqgp|oy

‘uope|dwod pawaap BUILSIL

Jayje paulejal yoeqploy oN
Yoeqgploy Bulysiul4

)oeqploH uopejdwon uopa|dwo)
awAheg Malnay JuswAed jeuy Bulysiuiy a|qehed g anp spus pouad pawsaq jo Juswsajelg | pawaaq jo uoneulwialeQ
jeuiq 1800 JuswAed N2eqpioH Aioynjerg Andx3 uary Jo @ouenssi Jo ajeq jo ajeQ

seIn1juawAhed Jdwoid s, v O yum
|  @duepiodde Ul BSIMIBYI0 puE

| ¢ 00a09 [enjoenuod
| ‘sAep G uiyym juswAed eulq

.A SAva s

| paouUBWWOD
| (lenyoenuo)) | sey uoyneoipnipe ue ji
sAeq@ 0} UIyIM papusixe aq Aew pouad siy |

A AVQsl9 A

¢ 0002 [enjoenuo)

]
|
)
)
)
|
|
l
|
|
|
103 uonesddy “ Jo aseajay
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

| SAVA 0L SAVa 09

( oM

A ( Buiysiuly jo polad
savasz g€

( 9ouewWIOMad

pajajdwo) | lenuesqng

YIOM [euld | jo ajeq

a xipuaddy (eourwlioad |enuesSqng jsod) Joeijuo) ayj jo uonajdwon pawaaq o ajeq o) Jeys awil



OAA/-OGCA Take-Over Procedures

FOR USE ON PROJECTS UNDER THE CONSTRUCTION ACT, R.S.0. 1990, c.C.30

h

A

Ontario Association of Architects

WEBUILDCNTARIO

ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION
r

Ontario Association
4l of Architects

wEBUILDCDNTARIO

ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION

RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES CONCERNING
SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE



OF CONSTRUCTHON-CONTRAGTS-, READY-FOR-TAKEOVER,
AND COMPLETION TAKE-OVER OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

OAA/-OGCA Document No-100-20182025

Copyright© - must not be copied
in whole or in part without written
permission from both the OAA
and the OGCA. —— Juiy-+-
2018
Reissued-January-8-2019

Month XX, 2025




CONTENTS

APPLICATION Page 21
INTRODUCTION Page 21
GENERAL NOTES Page 21
DEFINITIONS Page 32
SIGNIFICANT STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS Page 3
STAGE 1 Contract Submissions Page 54
STAGE 2 Contractor's Inspection for Substantial Performance Page 54
STAGE 3 Contractor's Application for Certificate of Substantial Performance Page 5
STAGE 4 Certificate of Substantial Performance Page 6
STAGE 5 Certificate for Payment of Basic Holdback Monies Page 76
STAGE 6 Determination of Ready-for-Takeover Page 7
STAGE &7 Contracter’'sDeemed Completion of the Contract Page 7

STAGE 78A Certificate for PaymentRelease of Monies for Finishing Holdback Page 89

STAGE 8B Certificate for Release of Monies for Holdback Page 9
STAGE 89 Final Payment Certificate Page 89
STAGE 910 Warranty-Guarantee Period(s) Page 910
APPENDIX A Form 9 - Certificate of Substantial Performance_of the Contract Page
4011
APPENDIX B  Statement of Contract Deemed Completed Page
12
APPENDIX C Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover Page 13
APPENDIX D Take-over Timelines Page 14

A vertical bar in the right margin indicates a paragraph which havehas been changed for this issue.

Enquiries should be directed to:

Ontario Association of Architects (416) 449-6898 x400

111 Moatfield Drive E-Mail: PracticeAdvisor@oaa.on.ca
Don Mills, Ontario

M3B 3L6

3 i Revised: 2025




Ontario General Contractors Association
114-Meoatfield-Drive 180 Attwell Drive, Suite 280
Deon-MillsOntarieToronto, Ontario
M3B-3LBM9W 6A9

{416)-449-6898

(905) 671-3969

E-Mail_info@ _

Revised: 2025




E-Mail: info@ogca.ca

\go

i Revised: 2025




RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES CONCERNING SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE-
OF CONSTRUCTION-CONTRACTS, READY-FOR-TAKEOVER, AND COMPLETION FTAKE-
OVER-OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

Short Title:  This Document may be referred to as "OAA-OGCA TAKE-OVER PROCEDURES (CA)" or
“‘Document 100-2025”

APPLICATION
Application

This document covers procedures for projects being built under the Construction Act-ferprejects-which-DO-
NOT meet-. Refer to the following-Construction Act for the transition rules:

a)—A—een#aet—was—en%emd—m%e—befeFe—du-%—ZO%FegaFd-less which determine which version of

%%e%%%ﬁh&m@em%uasen&e#ed—mte@nstmchcn L/en Act or a—preeurement_pmeessﬂfer

Seheduieu&he Constructlon Act aDDlIeS to the Resteﬁﬁg—ﬁrust—rranspareneyand—Aeeeantabm&Aet—ZQ%
came-into-force-project.

Introduction

The purpose of this document is to recommend standard procedures to facilitate the closing stages of a
construction contract and the take-over of the project by the Owner from the Contractor.

These procedures have been prepared jointly by the Ontario Association of Architects and the Ontario General
Contractors Association (the “‘Associations"}-and’), have been reviewed by legal counsel, and subsequently
approved by theirthe Associations’ governing bodies. This document is meant-te-beintended as an educational
treatiseguideline for all the stakeholders in the project {including the Owner, Consultants, Contractors and
Subcontractors);-hewever—the. The Associations recommend the-use-of-these procedures be used by their
respective members and Owners/elientsClients.

The Guide to Project Close-out Procedures was created in 2010 to be used with the 2007 version of Document
100. It was not updated to reflect the requirements of the Construction Act when Document 100 was updated in
2018. The OAA and OGCA decided not to update it for this 2025 version of Document 100. The Guide is no longer
available and should be considered obsolete. However, two of the timelines from the Guide were deemed helpful,
and have been included herein as Appendices.

The Associations also recommend that these procedures be coordinated with and form a part of the construction
contract documents from the outset by reference to Document Ne—100-20482025.

Page 1 Revised: 2025




Where a contract is in progress which does not provide such procedures, the Associations recommend that the
construction contract be amended by agreement between the contracting parties to include these procedures to
facilitate the orderly take-over of the project in the interests of all stakeholders.

GENERALNOTES

General Notes

The procedures outlined herein have been prepared in relation to the Construction Act, latest-edition;-hereinafter
referred to as the C.A.L, and apply to all construction contracts. These procedures are therefore primarily
applicable to lierableOntario projects where the C.A. applies, but they may be readily-adapted for use inrelation
to-non-lienableon projects_ which fall outside these bounds.

DEFINITIONS

The concept of “Ready-for-Takeover” as pioneered in CCDC 2-2020 has been included herein for the first time.
Ready-for-Takeover is being added to other CCDC documents as they are updated.

In most cases, the architect is the Consultant identified in the CCDC contracts, and in most cases, the Consultant
is_also the payment certifier, but the payment certifier may also be a third party. Where the contractual
responsibilities differ from this most common arrangement, the application of this document will need to be suitably
modified.

1 All references are to the Construction Act, R.S.0. 1990, ¢ C.30 and the Regulations thereunder as amended as of the
date of publication.

Page 2 Revised: 2025



Definitions

Except for Owner/Client, Consultant, Contractor-and-, Ready-for-Takeover, Subcontractor, Trade Contractor, and
Work which are defined in the contract as appropriate,_and “ready for use”, all other terms and concepts used in
this document that are defined in the C.A. are italicized for convenience.

Note: The concept of substantial performance in the C.A. is referred to in CCDC contracts as “Substantial
Performance of the Work”.

Construction Trade Newspaper

The definition of the term ““construction trade newspaper"” appears in Section 1 of O. Reg. 304/18 to the C.A—
latest-edition;., which reads as follows:

L7973

construction trade newspaper™’ means a newspaper,

(a) that is published either in paper format with circulation generally throughout Ontario or in
electronic format in Ontario,

(b) that is published at least daily on all days other than Saturdays and holidays,

(c) in which calls for tender on construction contracts are customarily published, and
(d) that is primarily devoted to the publication of matters of concern to the construction
| industry-"."

Contract

| The definition of the term ““contract™” appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A-latest-edition;., which reads as
follows:

LT "y

““contract~” means the contract between the owner and the contractor, and includes any amendment

to that contract; “(“contract”)”

Note: A contractor is anyone who enters into a contract with an owner to provide services or materials to an
improvement, not just a construction contractor.

Contract Price

The definition of the term “price” appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A—latest-edition;., which reads as follows:

LLLLITTT "y

““price~” means,

(a) the contract or subcontract price,

(i) agreed on between the parties, or

(i) if no specific price has been agreed ento between them, the actual market value of
the services or materials that have been supplied to the improvement under the
| contract or subcontract, ardexcept as otherwise provided by the requlations and

(b) any direct costs incurred as a result of an extension of the duration of the supply of
services or materials to the improvement for which the contractor or subcontractor, as the
| case may be, is not responsible; “(“prix”)”

Payment Certifier

The definition of the term ““payment certifier™” appears in Section 1(1) of the C.A—tatest-edition;., which reads
as follows:

Page 3 Revised: 2025



LYY ([ H]

payment certifier=" means an architect, engineer or any other person upon whose certificate
payments are made under a contract or subcontract:" ; (“personne qui autorise le paiement”).”

SIGNIFICANT STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

For convenience, since it is a new term, the definition of Ready-for-Takeover follows:

Ready-for-Takeover

The definition of the term “Ready-for-Takeover” appears in the DEFINITIONS section of the CCDC 2-2020
contract, which reads as follows:

11

Ready-for-Takeover” shall have been attained when the conditions set out in paragraph 12.1.1 of GC
12.1 — READY-FOR-TAKEOVER have been met, as verified by the Consultant pursuant to paragraph
12.1.4.2 of GC 12.1 — READY-FOR-TAKEOVER.”

Ready for Use

The term “ready for use” appears in Section 2(1) of the C.A. as part of the concept of substantial performance,
but is not itself explicitly defined.

Ready for use is a concept used in determining whether substantial performance has been reached. Its
meaning depends on what is being constructed under the contract in question. It may be the entire project
under a general contract or only one trade’s contract work under a construction management
arrangement. Ready for use for the purposes intended is normally when it is ready for the owner to occupy
and fit out.

In the case of a hospital, for instance, ready for use is not when it is ready for patients to move in or clinical
procedures to begqin, rather, it is when it is ready for the hospital to occupy and make ready for them to
initiate their fit out and training, etc. If it is the whole project, then the test is usually met once the new
space is ready for occupancy. If it is only a trade contract, then the test is generally whether the trade’s
work is functional (e.g. mechanical) or ready for the next trade to start or continue their work.

If the contract is for a shell only, then ready for use is typically when the shell contract is close enough to
completion that the tenant’s contractor can start the tenant fit-out, whether or not the fit-out actually starts.

Significant Statutory Requirements

a) The concept of "basic holdback" is set out in Section 22(1) of the C.A. latest-edition-which reads as
follows:

22(4(1) Each payer upon a contract or subcontract under which a lien may arise shall retain a
holdback equal to 10 per cent of the price of the services or materials as they are actually supplied
under the contract or subcontract until all liens that may be claimed against the holdback in respect
of the supplied services or materials have expired or been satisfied, discharged or otherwise
provided for under this Act:".”

b) The concept of "substantial performance" and ““substantially performed”” is set out in subsection{1H)-of
Section 2(1) of the C.A. latest-edition-which reads as follows:

"(1) For the purposes of this Act, a contract is substantially performed,

(a) when the improvement to be made under that contract or a substantial part thereof is
ready for use or is being used for the purposes intended; and

Page 4 Revised: 2025




(b) when the improvement to be made under that contract is capable of completion or, where
there is a known defect, correction, at a cost of not more than,

(i) 3 per cent of the first $1,000,000 of the contract price,
(i) 2 per cent of the next $1,000,000 of the contract price, and

(iii) 1 per cent of the balance of the contract price."

c) Attention is drawn to subsection{2}-of-Section 2(2) of the C.A. latest-edition-which reads as follows:

"(2) For the purposes of this Act, where the improvement or a substantial part thereof is ready for use
or is being used for the purposes intended and the owner and the contractor agree not to complete
the improvement expeditiously, the price of the services or materials remaining to be supplied and
required to complete the improvement shall be deducted from the contract price in determining
substantial performance."

d) The concept of ““separate holdback for finishing work™ is set out in Section 22(2) of the C.A. latest-
edition-which reads as follows:

122((2) Where the contract has been certified or declared to be substantially performed but
services or materials remain to be supplied to complete the contract, the payer upon the contract,
or a subcontract, under which a lien may arise shall retain, from the date certified or declared to
be the date of substantial performance of the contract, a separate holdback equal to 10 per cent
of the price of the remaining services or materials as they are actually supplied under the contract
or subcontract, until all liens that may be claimed against the holdback have expired or been

satisfied, discharged or otherwise provided for under this Act—."
e) The concept of "completed"” is set out in subsection{3}-ofSection 2(3) of the C.A. latest-edition-which
reads as follows:

"(3) For the purposes of this Act, a contract shall be deemed to be completed and services or materials
shall be deemed to be last supplied to the improvement when the price of completion, correction
of a known defect or last supply is not more than the lesser of,

(a) 1 per cent of the contract price; and

(b) $5,000."
Although the term does not appear in the C.A. this concept is commonly referred to as “deemed
completion”.

f) Multiple improvements under a contract are considered in Section 2 of the C.A. latest-editien-which
reads as follows:

““(4) If more than one improvement is to be made under a contract and each of the improvements is to
lands that are not contiguous, then, if the contract so provides, each improvement is deemed for

the purposes of this section to be under a separate contract-=.”

q) Attention is drawn to Sections 26.1 and 26.2 in Part IV of the C.A., which make provision for annual and
phased release of holdback. This document does not go into detail about the processes for annual or
phased release of holdback. Where annual or phased release is implemented, the parties should note

Page 5 Revised: 2025



that immediately following each instance of such annual or phased release, the value of the holdback
available to resolve any lien is proportionally reduced in tandem with the value of the holdback released

STAGE 1 CONTRACT SUBMISSIONS

1.1

Submit all documentation required under the contract.

SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

STAGE 2 CONTRACTOR'S INSPECTION FOR SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.5

When the Contractor is of the opinion that the requirements of substantial performance as defined in

ect|on 2(1) the C.A. and as set out above ha¥e—beenare met, the Contractor shall makea-r—ra-ngemen%s
virggive written notice
of thls to the QensultantOwner and,leqc payment cert/ﬁerfeFmieFmat-lenenJy—prlor to the anticipated date
that it believes substantial performance will be met, or as otherwise provided in the contract. In the
application for substantial performance, the Contractor (or a Trade Contractor in the case of a trade
contract) shall include the following steps:

Step 1: A statement explaining why a substantial part of the work is ready for use or is being used for the
purposes intended.

Step 2: An itemized breakdown of the current contract value adjusted as outlined, based on the definition
of substantial performance as defined in Section 2(1)(b) and 2(2) of C.A.

Step 3: A detailed list of any deferred work (being services or materials agreed not to be completed
expeditiously such as, for example, seasonal work, recent or incomplete changes, or other agreed

deferrals).

Step 4: A detailed list of any incomplete work and/or deficiencies.

It should be noted that one of the tests for substantial performance may be based on the cost required to
complete the work, rather than the latest certificate for payment, as determination of substantial
performance may not coincide with the payment cycle. The financial calculations in Section 2(1)(b) of the
C.A. shall be adjusted according to the Step 3. Additionally, the incomplete work and/or deficiencies
outlined in Step 4 should be compared to the calculated amount from Step 2. If the remaining work is less
than the calculated amount from Step 2, and a substantial part of the work is "ready for use" or is being
used for the purposes intended, then the tests for substantial performance have been met.

The inspection team shall be comprised of:

(a) the Contractor and/or the Contractor's representative(s));

(b) the prime mechanical and electrical Subcontractors and/or their representative(s)); and

(c) any other Subcontractors and/or Subcontractors’ representative(s) whose participation may be
required by the Contractor in order to fully determine the Work to be completed.

Upon completion of this inspection a list of all uncompleted and unsatisfactory work which is identified
during the inspection shall be prepared by the Contractor and shall be issued to all members of the
inspection team andas well as the Consultant and/er payment certifier.

Contractors thatmay elect not to go through Stages 2 and 3 for substantial performance certification and
publication of same; and may apply for contract completion as defined;_in the C.A. and as set out above.
They shall proceed to Stage 6 provided the requirements under 3.2(b) have been previdedsatisfied; and

Page 6 Revised: 2025




in this case there shall be only one lien expiry period ferand, consequently, only one certification for basiec
holdback release- (as there will be no separate holdback for finishing work). Where no certificate forof

substantlal performance is obtamed and published, the%meie#p#esewngwns—%H—mn—#em—th&da%e

anel—cemﬂcatlon for the purpose of the release of the baSIC and—ﬂnJrshmtho/dback shall occur upon the
expiryconclusion of the 60 day lien expiry period, barring any liens, which commences on the day of

completion—the contract is deemed completed by the payment certifier (or Owner and Contractor
jointly).This section applies in circumstances where the contract has not been abandoned or terminated
earlier.

STAGE 3 CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL

3.1

3.2

3.3

PERFORMANCE

When the Contractor has carried out the steps in Stage 2 and has determined that the requirements for
substantial performance of the contract have been met, the Contractor shallmay, subject to the
requirements of the contract, then make a written application to the Censultant-and/er-payment certifier
for a certificate of substantial performance. If there is no payment certifier, at the request of the Contractor,
the Owner and the Contractor shall make the determination jointly and shall both sign the certificate of
substantial performance.

This application shall include:
(a) A statement to the Owner through the Censultant-andior-payment certifier to the effect that:
(i) the contract is substantially performed, and

(i) the phase of the performance of the balance of the contract is in process and completion
is scheduled forthe ————uvveeeeeee..... day of Where the
balance of the contract, or a part or parts thereof, cannot be performed forthW|th as has
been agreed by the Owner and_the Contractor, the Contractor's statement shall contain
a completion date for each phase of the balance of the contract.

the(b) The submission of all;
(i) documentation required under the contract., and

(i) all maintenance materials required under the contract, including an acknowledgement
form to be signed by the Owner listing the materials provided.

(c) A statement of outstanding work for completion, with the cost values of:

Werk(i) work to be completed including correction of unsatisfactory work;

QOutstanding(ii) outstanding items referred to in 3.2(b);_and

Work(iii) work which the Owner and the Contractor agree in writing is to be deferred to a
later date.

(d) An inveice-application for release of holdback showing the amount of basic holdback monies due
for release and payment following the issaeend of the lien expiry period under the C.A. after the
issuance and publication of the certificate of substantial performance.

(e) A CCDC 9A ‘Statutory PeclarationDeclaration’ and Workplace Safety & Insurance Board (WSIB)
Certificate of Clearance are required before the payment covering the release of basic holdback
can be released.

(a)——Within_Where there is a payment certifier, within 10 calendar days, or as stipulated otherwise in
the contract documents, of the receipt of the Contractor's completed application;-the-Censultant
and/or for a certificate of substantial performance, the payment certifier shall carry out a review

Page 7 Revised: 2025




3.4

and assessment of the work, to determine whether the contract has been substantially performed.
The Owner may take part in the review but the determination as to whether the contract has been
substantially performed is to be made by the Censultant-andlorpayment-certitierpayment
certifier. Where there is no payment certifier, subject to the provisions of the contract, the Owner
and Contractor shall jointly make the determination.

(b) Within 7 calendar days or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents, of the Censultant
andfor-payment certifier's review and assessment, the-Consultant-and/or payment certifier shall
notify the Contractor of its determination as to whether or not the contract has been substantially
performed. In the event thatthe-Consultant-and/er payment certifier determines that the contract
has not been substantlally performed the Gensultaﬂ—a-nd%ewayment—ee##ﬁe#sha#sm%ehﬁy

y ey pdnotice

shaII aIso prowde the Contractor W|th a detalled explanatlon as to why such determlnatlon has

been made.

(c) In the event that the Contractor's application for a certificate of substantial performance is not
accepted by the-Consultant-and/or payment certifier, the Contractor shall complete the work
necessary to achieve substantial performance of the contract as previously defined and the
Contractor shall submit a subsequent application for a_certificate of substantial performance
thereafter.

The Contractor's application for a certificate of substantial performance and the Contractor’s application
for the release of basic holdback shall be separate from_but may coincide with the applications for regular
monthly progress payments and the latter shall continue to be made in the ordinary course throughout the
duration of the contract.

STAGE 4 CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE

4.1

4.2

4.3

If the-Consultantandior payment certifier determines that the contract has been substantially performed,
the-Censultantand/or payment certifier (or where there is no payment certifier, the Owner and Contractor
jointly) shall certify the substantial performance of the contract by preparing and signing a certificate in
Form 9 prescribed by the C.A., a copy of which may be found in Appendix A hereto. The-Consultant
and/or payment certifier or the Owner and Contractor jointly, as the case may be, shall set out in the
certificate the date on which the contract was substantially performed. The-Censultant-and/or payment
certifier shall give a copy of the certificate to the Owner and to the Contractor within 7 days of signing it.

The Contractor shall publish a copy of the certificate of substantial performance once in a construction
trade newspaper and shall provide the payment certifier with proof of the date of publication. The day
following the date of publication shall be the date of commencement of the 60-day lien expiry period prior
to release of the basic holdback monies.

The Contractor's and Contractor's Subcontractors' forces shall continue to work towards Ready-for-
Takeover (where applicable) and completion during and after the 60-day period mentioned in Stage 4.2.

(NOTE: See Appendix A hereto for sample of the prescribed form of the certificate of substantial
performance.)

STAGE 5  CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENTRELEASE OF BASIC HOLDBACK MONIES

5.1

The-Censultant-andfor payment certifier shall prepare the certificate for paymentrelease of the basic
holdback monies and promptly upon receipt of the application for paymentrelease of holdback and the
documentation as listed in 4.2 and 3.2(d) above, required for release of these monies, issue the certificate
to the Owner, with a copy to the Contractor. The certificate shall be dated for payment one day after the

date of-expiry—ofon which the preseribed—60 -day lien expiry period for—the—preservation—of
liensconcludes.

Page 8 Revised: 2025




5.2

5.3

54

5.5

5.6

Upon issuing the certificate for paymentrelease of the basic holdback monies, the Consultant-and/or
payment certifier shall advise the Owner to verify that no liens have been preserved as at the end of the

60-day lien expiry period.

The-Censultant-andfor payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens
exist, paymentrelease of basic holdback shall be due and payable one day after the date ef-expiry-ofon

which the preseribed-60-day lien expiry period forthe-preservation-ofliensconcludes.

The-Censultant-and/or payment certifier's certificate for the paymentrelease of the basic holdback
monies shall be in the amount shown in the Contractor's application, as approved by the Censuliant
and/or-payment certifier, for the certificate of substantial performance.

Before the expiry of the 60-day period, the-Censultant-andler payment certifier shall advise the Owner
and the Contractor to review all forms of insurance to ensure adequate coverage for all parties._Subject
to the provisions of the contract, release of statutory holdback is not contingent upon review of insurance

coverage.

The release of any monies which are due and payable after the release of the basic holdback shall occur
in accordance with the terms of the contract and the provisions of the C.A. In-the-case of the latest
edition-of CCDC 2 CCDC3,and-CCDC-5B-forms-of contractAs provided in some contracts, the
Owner may be asked by the Contractor to place the basic holdback in a separate bank account in the joint
names of the Owner and the Contractor 10 days prior to the expiry of the 60-day period unless previously
placed in a separate trust account.

STAGE 1+ CONTRACTOR'S-COMPLETION-OF THE CONTRACT

5.7

Notwithstanding the references to a “60 day” lien expiry period in the provisions of Stage 4 and Stage 5

above, the application of Section 34(10) of the C.A. may lead to the extension of the lien expiry period for
up to an additional 45 days beyond the initial 60-day period with respect to one or more lien claimants on
a project. Section 34(10) says that if the matter that is the subject of a lien that has not expired is also a
matter that is the subject of an adjudication under the C.A., the lien is deemed to have expired on the later
of the date on which the lien would expire under the lien expiry provisions of the C.A. (i.e. 60 days) and
the conclusion of the 45-day period next following the adjudicator’s receipt of the documents required to
be delivered to the adjudicator under the C.A.’s adjudication provisions

If, for example, the prospective lien claimant commences an adjudication immediately prior to the expiry
of the 60-day lien period, the prospective lien claimant will enjoy an extension of the lien period for the
additional 45 days, for a total lien expiry period of 105 days. Knowing when the lien period is expiring is
important for purposes of holdback release. Accordingly, Contractor shall, within thirty (30) days following
the publication of the certificate of substantial performance, and again within thirty (30) days following the
date the contract is deemed completed, provide written confirmation to the Owner that: (a) the Contractor
is_ not aware of any ongoing or impending adjudications to which it or any of its Subcontractors (of any
tier) are party; and (b) the Contractor has made reasonable enquiries with its Subcontractors to this effect
in order to support this conclusion.

STAGE 6 DETERMINATION OF READY-FOR-TAKEOVER

6.1 The provisions of this stage shall apply if the contract contemplates Ready-for-Takeover, such as is the
case in the CCDC 2-2020 or if Ready-for-Takeover has been added to the contract through supplementary
conditions.

6.2 The prerequisites for attaining Ready-for-Takeover are as defined in the contract.

6.3 When the Contractor considers that the prerequisites have been met and the Work is Ready-for-Takeover,

the Contractor shall deliver to the Consultant and to the Owner for review a comprehensive list of items to
be completed or corrected, together with a written application for determination of Ready-for-Takeover.

Page 9 Revised: 2025




6.4

After receipt of the written application for determination of Ready-for-Takeover, the Consultant will review

6.5

the Work to verify the validity of the application and shall promptly, and in any event, no later than 10
calendar days after receipt of the Contractor's list and application:

.1 advise the Contractor in writing that the Work is not Ready-for-Takeover and give reasons why, or

.2 _confirm the date of Ready-for-Takeover in writing to each of the Owner and the Contractor.

Immediately following the confirmation of the date of Ready-for-Takeover, the Contractor, in consultation

6.6

with the Consultant, shall establish a reasonable date for finishing the Work.

The Contractor’'s warranty period under the contract is typically one year from the date when Ready-for-

Takeover has been attained or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents.

STAGE7 DEEMED COMPLETION OF THE CONTRACT

7.1

(@) When the Contractor is satisfied that the contract is completed as defined in subsection{3)}-of
Section 2(3) of the C.A., and after making an inspection, the Contractor shall forward the
inspection report and make a written request to the Censultant-and/er-payment certifier for a
review and assessment of the workWork. The-Censultant-and/or payment certifier shall, in turn,
notify the Owner of the Contractor’s request. The Contractor's request shall include a statement
as to the amount of monies of holdback for:

l. the separate holdback for finishing work due for release and payment upon expiry of the

60--day period from the date the contract is deemed completed— — where basic holdback has
already been released, or

1. the full amount of the holdback for the Work due for release and payment upon expiry of the
60-day period from the date the contract is deemed completed.

This review and assessment by the Consultant-and/er-payment certifier shall be carried out
within 10 calendar days of the Contractor’s request, or as stipulated otherwise in the contract
documents, and shall constitute the review and assessment which is a precondition to the
issuance of the statement of deemed completion and issuance of the certificate for payment for
the workWork performed to the date of the deemed completion.

(b) The Contractor shall submit to the Consultant and/er-payment-certifierfor review and approval

the balance of the documents required under Stage 1.

Fhe-(c) With respect to the Contractor’'s application for release of statutory holdback, there are two likely

. Where substantial performance has been certified, the Contractor shall submit to the
Consultantandlor-payment certifier an application for release of the statutory holdback
as yet unpaid.

LIl Where substantial performance has not been certified, the Contractor shall submit to the

payment certifier an invoiceapplication for the release of the statutory finishing holdback.

(d) Before the payment covering the release of the statutory holdback as yet unpaid can be released,
the Contractor shall submit with the application for release a Workplace Safety & Insurance Board
(WSIB) Certificate of Clearance and a CCDC 9A ‘Statutory Declaration’ declaring that all accounts
for labour, subcontracts, products, services, and construction machinery and equipment which
have been incurred directly by the Contractor in the performance of the work have been paid up

Page 10 Revised: 2025




7.2

7.3

74

7.5

to and including the latest progress payment received (except for (1) holdback monies properly
retained, (2) payments deferred by agreement, or (3) payment withheld by reason of legitimate
dispute which has been identified to the party or parties from whom payment has been withheld).

The final review of the workWork for the purpose of issuing a statement of deemed completion shall be
conducted by:

(a) the-Consultant-andfor payment certifier and such Consultants as hethey may require;
(b) the Contractor, and any Subcontractors deemed necessary by the Contractor; and

(c) the Owner, at histheir option.

Within 7 calendar days of the review and assessment, the-Consultant-and/oror as stipulated otherwise
in the contract documents, the payment certifier shall notify the Contractor of approval of the Contractor’s
application by issuance of a statement of deemed completion which will establish the date of deemed
completion. In the event that the Consultant-and/er-payment certifier does not determine the contract to
be deemed complete, the Consultant-and/or-payment certifier shall so notify the Contractor in writing
within 7 calendar days of the review, or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents, and shall
provide to the Contractor in writing the reasons for such determination.

If, as a result of itsthe review and assessment of the werk,-the-Censultant-and/or-payment-certifier
determines—thatWork, it is determined there are deficiencies in the werk\Work performed by the

Contractor or its Subcontractors, the Consultant and/erpaymentecertifiershall provide to the Contractor
a list of such deficiencies.

(a) In the event that the Contractor’s application for a statement of deemed completion is accepted,
such list shall constitute the final deficiency list, for the purpose of acceptance of the werkWork
under the contract. If the Contractor’'s application for a statement of deemed completion is not
accepted, the-Ceonsultant-and/or payment certifier may issue a final list of deficiencies upon
subsequently accepting a further application for a statement of deemed completion.

(b) If the correction of such deficiencies is valued as the lesser of 1 per cent of the contract price or
$5.,000, then the contract shall be deemed completed as defined in Section 2(3) of the C.A. The
60-day lien expiry period shall then commence. The release of this holdback does not absolve the
Contractor from correcting the deficiencies.

Deficiencies shall be corrected by a date mutually agreed upon between the Consultant-and/er-payment
certifier and the Contractor, unless a specific date is otherwise required by the contract. Upon rectification

of the deficiencies, a further review and assessment by the Consultant and/erpayment-certifiershall be
called for by the Contractor and such review and assessment shall take place within 7 calendar days from
the date of the Contractor’s request.

(NOTE: See Appendix B hereto for sample efthe-prescribed-form of thea Statement of Contract Deemed
Completed)

STAGE 8A CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENTRELEASE OF MONIES FOR FINISHING

8.1

8.2

HOLDBACK

Upon receipt of documentation under 67.1 above, and issuance of the Consultant-and/or-payment
certifier's statement of deemed completion, the Censultant-and/or-payment certifier shall prepare the
certificate for paymentrelease of the monies retained as a separate holdback for finishing work. This
certificate shall be dated one day after the expiry of the 60-day period (subject to 5.7 above) which
commences on the day following the date the contract is determineddeemed to have been completed.

Upon issuing the certificate for paymentrelease of monies retained as a separate holdback for finishing
work, the Consultant-and/er-payment certifier shall advise the Owner to verify that no liens have been
Page 11 Revised: 2025




8.3

8.4

preserved as at the end of the 60-day peried-lien expiry period (or such longer period as described in 5.7
above, if applicable).

The-Censultant-andfor payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens
have been preserved, paymentrelease of the monies for the separate holdback for finishing work is due
and shall be payable one day after termination of the 60-day lien expiry period- (subject to 5.7 above).

The Consultant-and/or-payment certifier's certificate for paymentrelease of the monies retained as a
separate holdback for finishing work shall be in the amount requested in the Contractor's application; for
a statement of deemed completion, as approved by the-Consultant-and/or payment certifier.

STAGE 8B CERTIFICATE FOR RELEASE OF MONIES FOR HOLDBACK

8.1

Upon receipt of documentation under 7.1 above, and issuance of the payment certifier's statement of

8.2

deemed completion, the payment certifier shall prepare the certificate for release of the monies retained
as holdback for the Work. This certificate shall be dated one day after the expiry of the 60-day lien expiry
period (subject to 5.7 above) which commences on the day following the date the contract is deemed to
have been completed.

Upon issuing the certificate for release of monies retained as holdback for the Work, the payment certifier

8.3

shall advise the Owner to verify that no liens have been preserved as at the end of the 60-day period lien
expiry.

The payment certifier shall simultaneously notify the Owner that, provided no liens have been preserved,

8.4

release of the monies for the holdback for the Work is due and shall be payable one day after termination
of the 60-day lien expiry period (subject to 5.7 above).

The payment certifier's certificate for release of the monies retained as holdback for the Work shall be in

the amount requested in the Contractor's application for a statement of deemed completion, as approved
by the payment certifier.

STAGE 9 FINAL PAYMENT CERTIFICATE

9.1

9.2

At the completion of Stage 67, when the Consultant and/er payment certifier isare satisfied that all
deficiencies and uncompleted work, as established under Stage 67.4, have been corrected, and upon
receipt of the Contractor's proper invoice for final payment, in accordance with the CensultantC.A. and/or
the contract, the payment certifier shall issue to the Owner, with a copy to the Contractor, a final certificate
for payment for the remaining monies due to the Contractor under the contract.

Final payment shall be made to the Contractor as stipulated in the certificate, no later than five days after
its issuance or as provided in the contract.

STAGE 10  WARRANTY-GUARANTEE PERIOD(S)

10.1

10.2

The warranty-guarantee period(s) for the contract shall commence on the date noted in the Consultant’s
statement that Ready-for-Takeover was attained, on the date of substantial performance (i.e. not
necessarily the date of publication of the certificate) where Ready-for-Takeover is not part of the contract,
or as stipulated otherwise in the contract documents.

In the event that a-certificate-ofneither the date of Ready-for-Takeover nor substantial performance was
not-issuedwere determined and_the contract documents do not stipulate otherwise, the warranty-
guarantee period(s) shall commence on the date of deemed completion_or occupancy, whichever is
earlier.

Page 12 Revised: 2025




Note:

(a) In the event the contract contemplates phased (or partial) occupancy, then, subject to the terms

of the contract, the following shall apply. Phased (or partial) occupancy shall be deemed to occur
when a discrete or stand-alone portion of the building is complete and can be occupied or used
for its intended purpose. Any such phased (or partial) occupancy shall be considered as
“occupancy” for the purposes of defining the commencement of the warranty period(s) for the
area and the systems that support the portion of the building being occupied.

The concepts of early occupancy, phased occupancy, and partial occupancy may significantly affect

10.3

10.4

expectations of when warranty periods start for products and systems which are not wholly contained
within the occupied portions. There is no single solution which can be pointed to as a best practice in all
cases. This is something that should be discussed with the Owner and addressed explicitly in the tender
and contract documents so that all parties have the same understanding of what is expected. Doing so
will go a long way to avoiding disputes at project closeout.

The Owner shall give prompt notice; in writing to the Contractor and Consultant and/erpaymenteertifier
of any defects (as defined by the contract) noted during the ere-Contractor’s warranty period. This is

typically a one-year warranty-guarantee—periodduration and should not be confused with separate
extended warranties issued by manufacturers, suppliers, installers and others.

Prior to the completion of the ere—yearContractor's warranty period, the Consultant-and/or-payment
eettifier, and such other Consultants as the Consultant and/orpayment-certifier-may require, will carry
out a review of the workWork for any defects or deficiencies including those that have been observed by
the Owner during the warranty period and will notify the Contractor in writing of those items requiring
attention by the Contractor to complete the terms of the contract.

Page 13 Revised: 2025




APPENDIX A - Form 9 - Certificate of Substantial Performance of the Contract under Section 32 of the Act

NOTE: Form 9 is prescribed by the Regulation 303/18: Forms under the C.A. The version which follows is
included for convenience only. For actual use, the latest form should be downloaded from the Ontario
government website.

FORM 9

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTRACT UNDER SECTION 32 OF THE ACT

Construction Act

Regional Municipality of The Universe

(County/District/Regional Municipality/Town/City in which premises are situated)

91 Thorold Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 3X4

(street address and city, town, etc., or, if there is no street address, the location of the premises)
This is to certify that the contract for the following improvement:

Addition and Alterations to offices of Alpha Owner

(short description of the improvement)

To the above premises was substantially performed on July 04, 2025
(date substantially performed)

Date of certificate signed: July 06, 2025

Charlie Architect Inc.

(payment certifier, where there is one) (owner and contractor, where there is no payment certifier)
Name of owner Alpha Owner (1985) Inc.

Address for service 91 Thorold Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 3X4

Name of contractor Bravo Contractor (1987) Ltd.

Address for service 39 Facer Street, Universe, Ontario L2X 7X8

Name of payment certifier (where applicable)  Charlie Architect Inc.

Address 46 Long Road, Universe, Ontario L2X 7X8

(Use A or B whichever is appropriate)
A. Indemnification of premises for preservation of liens:

Part of Lots 7, 8, Reg’'d Plan 96, Former TWP of Stamford, now City of Universe PIN 10053-0194 (LT)

(a legal description of the premises, including all property identifier numbers and addresses for the premises)

B. Office to which claim for lien and affidavit must be given to preserve lien:

(If the lien does not attach to premises, the name and address of the person or body to whom the claim for lien must be given)

Page 14 Revised: 2024



APPENDIX B — Statement of Deemed Completion of a Contract

NOTE User to complete info shown in RED. Change font colour to Black. DELETE THIS NOTE.
Date

Owner's Company Name
Street Address

Suite number

City, Province or State
Postal Code

Country

Attn: Owner or Owner’s Agent

Re: Statement of Deemed Completion of a Contract
For the Purposes of the Construction Act
Project Description
Project Location

Proj No: nn.nnnnn.nn

Building Permit No: XXXXXXX

Dear Owner or Owner’s Agent,

Based on our general review of the project, in our opinion, to the best of our knowledge,
information and belief, the construction contract for the above referenced project has been
deemed complete pursuant to the provisions under Section 2(3) of the Construction Act, R.S.O.
1990.

The date of deemed completion of the contract was determined to be yyyy mm dd.

Accordingly, the Construction Act provides that outstanding lien holdback monies may be
released to the contractor on the day following the conclusion of the sixty (60) day period next
following the date the contract was “deemed completed”, provided no liens exist relative to this
contract.

A Certificate for Release of Holdback and accompanying documentation is being prepared for the
outstanding lien holdback monies.

We trust that the above is understood. Should you have any questions with regard to the above,
or have any information that would alter our determination please contact the undersigned.

Yours Truly,

Architectural Eirm Practice Name
per:

Your Name
Working Title
Officer Status

cc: Contractor’s Rep, Contractor's Company Name

Page 15 Revised: 2025



APPENDIX C — Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover

NOTE User to complete info shown in RED. Change font colour to Black. DELETE THIS NOTE.
Date

Owner's Company Name
Street Address

Suite number

City, Province or State
Postal Code

Country

Attn: Owner or Owner’s Agent

Re: Statement of Determination of Ready-for-Takeover
Project Description
Project Location

Proj No: nn.nnnnn.nn

Building Permit No: XXXXXXX

Dear Owner or Owner’'s Agent,

Based on our general review of the project, in our opinion, to the best of our knowledge,
information and belief, the above referenced project has been determined to be Ready-for-
Takeover pursuant to the provisions of the construction contract.

The date of Ready-for-Takeover was determined to be yyyy mm dd.

Accordingly, the construction contract provides that [Insert here anything triggered by
achievement of this milestone such as establishing a reasonable date for the completion of the
Work.]

We trust that the above is understood. Should you have any questions with regard to the above,
or have any information that would alter our determination please contact the undersigned.

Yours Truly,

Architectural Practice Name
per:

Your Name
Working Title
Officer Status

Ccc: Contractor’s Rep, Contractor's Company Name

Page 16 Revised: 2025



APPENDIX D - Take-over Timelines

This appendix consists of two pages. One is a “Time Chart for Date of Substantial Performance of the

Contract”. The other is a “Time Chart for Date of Deemed Completion of the Contract (post substantial
performance)”.

Both have been adapted from the OAA-OGCA publication “A Guide to Project Closeout Procedures” which
was published in November 2010 and which since then has been withdrawn.

Page 17 Revised: 2025




G20T -pesiney

awi)

gl abed

souBWIONEd [BIUBISANS =dS

<

T
ajqeled “
qoeqpjoH ® 9np P3apaaN } | ds jo ds jo ds jo ds 10}
jo Yoeqp|oH juswAed-uoN | 9jeoljiue) uoljeujwualag dS 10} 9jeq uoljeuiwialag BunRLIpm
juswAed Aioynjeyg J0 991J0N | Jjoosuenss| joojeq | pajedidnuy Joj uonesi|ddy ul 921j0N
I
I
| (,osn Joy Apeau, jo uonduosap 1oy
1 1 I '6 WO Ul UOISN|OU] IO} JOYI}Ia0 | epinb aag) "y'D Jad se ‘papusiul 8sn sy}
I 1 I juawAed o} Jaumo Ag papiroid I 1o} Apeay (z pue ‘ejnwio4 [eoueuld (| :uo
I | 1 | aq 0} S| ual e jo uonealasaid I peseq pawuiopad Ajjenuelsgns si joejuod
| | 1 | Jo} sesiwa.d ay) o uonesuap! | Jay1aym saulwslep Jaliled Juswhed
| | 1 I ay} Joy uonduosap |eba| v :8)oN I
| | poysiand st | I | "Usiul} 0} SWI} pue }S09 JO djewWliss ue
| | SOUBWLONSY _m:c.ﬁwn:w. 1 'dS _ sapirold Jojoeluo) "ybno.yl yiem malnal
| | 10 areounien oy |1 aujwJajap 0} ybnouyl-yjiem ayj jo i © 0p 0} JOJOBIJUOD PUE JBUMO ‘J8}I}Ia0
m | s1ep su) Etm.w\Amu op | Aep auy pajep aq p|noys @ w.o4 ! juswAed ayy ayep 4s pajedionue ayy uQ
1 | 1 1
i Uy} J8}E| OU YoBgP|OY JO . i .
i " jJuswAed-uou jo sonou e | 6 s i 6 Siuewalinba.
! ysignd isnw i yoegpioy b awes ay} Je Bupum uj suoseal ! UIUOISSIWWOD _mEhom‘_Eoo wnwiuiw Jo
i 1 pajielap yim papiaoid aq 1 uoneoyua Buipnjoul ‘ayep 4s pajedionue
1 8y} Jo ||e 4o swos Aed 0} y 1
1 1 PINOYS J0JOB.1UOD BY]) ‘palsies 1 0} Joud sAep G Buiyihians Jwagns
i U S8pI0ap JBUMQ 8U} §| i
! k 1 joU S| Jaliueo JuswAed auj §| ! pue UONEOIILeD S Joj sjuswalinbal
i | [ |enjoenuod AJlIaA 0} 10}oeIU0D
! SAva oy 0 ‘gjeoyIad ay Buiubis Jo sAep
“ psoUBWILOD Sey UolEedIpnipe “ 0%_.G“>O> ngmmm hhm_won_% MMMMH%%tMFH | n [enpenuog SAVaA s
| ue J| papuajxa aq Aew pouad siy} :8J0N f |BIUBISGNS JO B1EoLIED) Senssl |
| I (paysnes J1) Joyiua0 JuswAhed . *3)BOIIS0 9NSS| IO JOJOBIUOD SSIAPE pue
ﬁ uo JuswAed 0y Joud sual| 1o} >>®..>>M_n_m.mvm@_ ! A A i oS 1o} uolieadde s o Joypieoueliied
! ! ! ! I
W sabueuse J;oumQ “(4om Buiysiul) uoneoynoal “ SAva.l W (-e1ep pajedionue 4s oy Joud
| Aousioyap Jojpue som 8)s|dwoour Wga.::_c_&v 1s1] AouBIOYEP S,I0JOBIUOD YIM
I 40 uona|duwiod Ioj Junowe abeulejal e o} 1 | Jale0 JuswAed pue Jaumo apinoid pue e1ep ds
m umw%ﬂﬂumﬂ:mwﬂ%%pW_co%%‘“_um_,mﬁ%ﬂ Hwﬂ»mm | W wiie ‘ds Joy uoneoijdde ue Jwqgns o} JOJOBHUOD
4 g |
W 8y} ‘wiajul 8y} uj "eyep Buiysiignd siyy wouy " A 1enjoejuo) SAVA 02
I s9ouUaWwWod pouad Alidxa ual Aep-09 ‘eyep | ”
W uoljeolignd pawIuod Y)M JBIIHa0 JuswAied I ”
W ‘€¥'S 09 8y} 0} Adoo e spiroid pue souewIOpSd | | “I9IJIM80 JuswAed pue Jaumo o} Bunm ul ao10u Ajpwiy
I 4 0>n_ow Jad joeu0d lejuelsqng jo 8jedlila] ayi zmun:u u_:o%w | I sapinoud J0joeIUOD ‘Bjep 4S pajedionue o} Joud ‘eopoeld 1saq e sy
she J10}0BJU0D 8y} ‘6 WIOH JO }di8dal uo
A q SAep QL UIUIM A joel) Ui '6 4 jodl n | ﬂ S EP—
Avajisig SAVa 09 !
|
dsjo !
ajeoya Jo |
uonealqnd |
jo {jeq
a xipuaddy joeqjuo) 9y} Jo asuew.oliad |enjuelsqng jo ajeq 1o} Mey) awij




uawAed Joy uoneoydde jeuly shed ssumQ

"JuswAed Joj 8)eoya0 [euly e anss| Aoy} ‘@)e|dwod
SI JOBJJUOD BY) SBUIWIB)EP Ja|ia0 JuswAed ay) §|

"JuswAed Joj uoneosldde [eul SHWANS 10}0BIU0D

(paulejal yoeqgploy ou)
uona|dwod |euly 0} uoia|dwod pawaap Jo 8jep PuoAaq SBNURUOD MIOA

G20T -pesiney

‘9)o|dwod pawasp

SEM JOBJIUOD BU} YdIYM UO 8)ep ay} Jayje sAep O Uey) Jaje| ou 3oeqpioy
Jo JuswAed-uou Jo don0u e ysijgnd }snw JaumQ ay; ‘paysiignd sem
@ouewlopad [EUEISQNS JO UOIEIBIOSP JO UONEDIIISD OU JI pUB ‘oeqp|oy
Buiysiuy ayy Jo ||e Jo swos Aed 0} esnje. 0} Bulob si JeumQ auy J|

V'O 8y} Jepun 1o papiaoid asimiayio Jo pabieyosip ‘palsies

usa(q Jo palidxa aAey oeqploy ay) jsulebe pawielo aq Aew jey) suaj| |je
aJaym yiom Buiysiuly Joj doeqploy ay) Jo JuswAed sxew |leys JoumQ ayL

61 obed

‘(padinbai

uoneolgnd oN) pouad Andxe usl| Aep-09 ayj o Less 8y} si uona|dwiod
pawasp saAsIyoe JOBIUOD 8y} Jey) aep ay] ‘penssi aq Aew uopa|jdwod
pawaap JO JUBWSIE)S B “'y'D 8y} JO sjuswalinbal ay) Yim aoueploooe
U] 8)9|dWOod PawWwaap S| JOBUOD SY) SBUIWIBIBP Jaliked jusawAied usypn
* Joeqploy Buiysiuy, 8y Se paulejal yoeqploy

AKioinie)s %01 Aojepuew ayy aney ||im uona|dwod pawaap Jo ajep au)
0} @ouewlopad [EUBISANS JO B)ep 8U) Woj JuswAed Joj Sa}eolIaD ||y

awi

|
sa||dde JanQ axe] -10j-Apeay UsyAn

<
<

109f01d

pouad Ajueliem s,10}0e13UOD JO MBS papudjul | ay} jo

| Ayxe|dwoo

(‘uona|dwod aiojeq pue soueWLIOpad [ERUBISGNS JOYE BLUBLIOS INJJO [|iM SIU 1) 10B1U0D Aq payslqelse ji ANO pue azls uo
' Buipuadeap

FEYNCEN) ._..._ou.%mwm saleA

jo ajeq uopeing

pouad Ajuessem sjoesjuod uom }1e)s [euonjipel |

A -
A . ,
) ‘paAsIyoe Usaq sey uona|dwos '
) pawaap JI SUIWIS}BP 0} YIOAN
) Y} Smalnal Jalpeo JuswAed ayy
) *10JOBJJUOD pue ‘10}0BJJU0D By} JO }senbau uodn
) JBUMO 8} 0} JUSWIDJE)S B Sanss| .
) Jayiua0 JuswAed ay) ‘pansiyoe ‘uone|dwod pawasp paureial Mﬂ_w“%%”__
uaaq sey uona|dwod pawaap §| Jaye paulejal )oeqp|oy oN ST
! soeqpioy BulysIul
“ joeqpioH uonedwon uonadwon
juswAed M3IINDY juawAed jeuly _ Buiysiuiy a|qeled B anp spua pouad pawsaq jojuswaels | peweeq jo uoneulwlsleq
leuiq 1213499 Jusawied Joj uonjeoijddy " jJoaseady | yoeqpjoH Aionjels Andx3 uan Jo aouENSS! Jo ajeq Jo ejeq
I
seIn1juawAhed Jdwoid s, v O yum “ |
|  @duepiodde Ul BSIMIBYI0 puE q | | paouUBWWOD
| ¢ 0dd9 [enjoenuod [ | (lenjoeyuo)) | sey uopeoipnipe ue ji
| sAep g uiyym juswAed eui4 2 Da09 [enyoenuod i | ske@ 0| UIYHA papuaixe aq Aew pouad siy |
, < SAVA § savaor | ! < AVA 519 < SAVA 09
( iom
A ( Buiysiuy Jo pousd
sAvasz ! -
_A 9ouewWIOMad
pajejdwo) | [eue}sqng
YIOM [euld | Jo 9jeq

a xipuaddy (eourwlioad |enue)SqNS jsod) Joeijuog ayj jo uonajdwon pawaaq o ajeq J1oj Jeys awil



A Guide to
Project

Closeout
Procedures

A joint publication of

WEBUILD (G NTARIO
ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION



The Ontario General Contractors Association and the Ontario Association of Architects
gratefully acknowledges the assistance of the following in the development of this guide
(the “Guide”):

Mr. Tom Falls — McKay-Cocker Construction Ltd.
Mr. Jake Thomasen — Melloul-Blamey Construction Inc.
Mr. John Clinckett — Construction Specifications Canada
Mr. David Molyneux — Integra Project Services Ltd.
Mr. Allan Youmans — Matheson Constructors Inc.
Mr. Chris Fillingham — Stantec Architecture Ltd., Architects
Mr. Craig Lesurf — Vanbots, a division of Carillion Construction Inc.

The Ontario General Contractors Association (“OGCA”) and the Ontario Association of
Architects (“OAA”) do not accept any responsibility for mistakes or omissions in this Guide.
The OGCA, OAA and the authors are not engaged in rendering legal, accounting or other
professional advice. If such legal advice or other expert assistance is required, the services
of a competent professional should be sought.

This Document may be used as a reference in combination with OAA/OGCA Document
No.100, dated December 12, 2007 - “RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES CONCERNING
SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND COMPLETION
TAKE-OVER OF PROJECTS”

Enquiries should be directed to:

Ontario Association of Architects Ontario General Contractors Association
111 Moatfield Drive 703 — 6299 Airport Road
Don Mills, Ontario Mississauga, Ontario
M3B 3L6 L4V 1N3
Phone: (416) 449-6898 Phone: (905) 671-3969
Fax: (416) 449-5756 Fax: (905) 671-8212
Published by
Ontario General Contractors Association
and

Ontario Association of Architects

November 2010



PREFACE

Getting a construction project to the Milestones of Substantial Performance of the Work
and then to Completion and Turn Over are some of the most difficult challenges to be met
during the construction of a facility. This process involves thousands of actions performed
by hundreds, if not thousands, of individuals from all facets of the construction chain including
manufacturers, distributors, suppliers, subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, contractors,
construction managers, consultants, allied professionals, project managers, developers,
owners, government, end users, etc. While the obligations of each are often detailed in the
project documents and various contracts, they are not always coordinated as well as they
could be, which can lead to costly and delays in achieving Substantial Performance and then
total completion.

If you can’t get it done, you can’t reach Substantial Performance. If End Users are not able
to use the facility as intended, then everybody has to spend more time and money to help
wrap it up and everybody’s monies are delayed.

The following is a Guide to Project Closeout Procedures. It has been created to assist in the
process and make things go smoother, and as a reminder that the last 3% of the project is
often taking at least 15% of the effort. It takes a team effort. So let’s all try to work together
to make the last 3% of the project 3% or less of the effort!

This Guide has been produced by the Ontario General Contractors Association, the Ontario
Association of Architects and in cooperation with industry stakeholders representing owners,
contractors and electrical and mechanical contractors.

The primary purpose of this Guide is to introduce the reader to best practices which will
expedite and simplify the takeover of a project by its owner from the contractor who
managed its construction.

The Guide contains recommended practices following the principles and methods for
successfully completing the takeover process efficiently for all parties. The use of these
practices will improve the process of closeout and takeover and reduce the problems
associated with this stage of the project.

This Guide was prepared because members of the construction industry recognize that the
closing out of construction projects has been getting more and more difficult. It is in the
interests of the whole construction industry and owner to make the takeover of construction
projects by owners more time effective and less stressful for all participants. In our
discussions, certain themes came to the surface time after time of what could help ameliorate
the situation:

. Timeliness — Takeover issues need to be addressed before the tendering of the
project, for example by the owner / consultant communicating expectations in the bid
documents, and then addressing them from the first site meeting onward and at every
subsequent site meeting. Deficiencies need to be addressed as they are observed.
The value of repairing deficiencies must be included as deductions in regular



Progress Draw calculations and applications for each trade. Don’t wait until the
crooked wall is painted before it needs to be fixed and repainted. The team
(consultant / contractor / subcontractor) should identify the problem and have the
crooked wall fixed immediately by its installer before it gets painted. Proceeding in
this fashion will ensure that trades do not leave the construction site until their
deficiencies are addressed and that deficiency lists are minimal.

. Communication — The owner / consultant needs to communicate not only the quality
standards which are expected to be delivered on a particular project within the
specifications at the time of the bidding process, but also the specific requirements in
regard to deliverables and the level of commissioning activities to be completed prior
to owner’s occupancy. The need for this communication is to be continued throughout
the project by all the players (there should be no surprises toward the end of the
project slowing the closeout process).

. Teamwork — Something as complex and expensive as a construction project is best
built with a sense of teamwork. If everyone in the process approaches the project
with the sense that they are there to provide a quality job on time and on budget in a
spirit of cooperation, a project can and will go very well.

To be part of a team, every member must take responsibility for their part of the Work
and take an interest in facilitating every other team member's efforts. The
subcontractors and suppliers should be expected to be active participants in the
project and take responsibility for the quality and scheduling of their Work, work
cooperatively with the contractor, consultants and other subcontractors, be mindful of
the construction schedule and attend to deficiencies as soon as they come to their
attention.

The recommendations in this Guide reflect these ideas. By following these principles, every
member of the construction team will find the project more enjoyable and the stress of
closing on the job will be reduced, if not eliminated.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE ...t e e 2
TABLE OF CONTENTS ... e 4
1. INT RODUCTION. ... e e 6
2. DEFINITIONS L. e e e aae e .6
2.1 CONrACT ... . e aaae .6
2.2  Contract DOCUMENt..........ooiiiiiiiiee e .6
2.3  CoNtraCt PriCe......ouueei e .6
2.4  Substantial Performance of the Work.............ooovvviiiiiiieeiiiiiniieee 6
2.5 Deemed Completion...........coieiiiieeiiiieieeeeeei e e
2.8 OWNET ettt e e e e e e e e e aaaeaa——a e
2.7  ConsUltant ........oooomiiii e e
2.8  CONrACION. ... i e
2.9  SUDCONrACIOr.....cooiie e e
P2 O S 10T o] o1 1 =Y RS PPPPPRPPPRRRRN .8
211 ShOP Drawings .......ccuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt .8
242 WOTK ot —————— .8
213 Incomplete WOrK.........oooeineiiiiie et .8
2.14  DefiCienCy WOrK........ooveiiiiieieee et .8
215 Warranty WOrK. ...t .8
2.16 Deferred WOrkK .......cooooeiiiiiie i .8
2.17 Ready for Use for the purposes intended...........cccccceeveeiiiiiinninnnnne. 8
3. IMPLEMENTING A PROJECT CLOSEOUT PROCESS FOR PROJECTS
3.1 Pre-Construction Phase ..........cccoooeiiiiiiiiiieicie e 9
3.1.1 Contract Requirements for Closeout ............ccccoeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceee 9
3.2 Construction Phase ............ouvuiiiiiiiiiiieee e 9
3.2.1 Job Start Up Meeting.........coooviiiiiiiee e .9
3.2.2 Contractors’ LOGS .....ccoooieeieieiieeeeee e .10
4. QU ALY L e e e e e .10
4.1  Consultants’ and Contractors’ Roles ........ccccooeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnn. 11
4.2  OWNELS ROIE ..ot 12
5. FINANCIAL
5.1 ProgreSs DIaWS ..........uuuuuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeee et e ettt e e e e e e e aaaaaeeas 12
5.2  Deficiency Retainage.........cccooveeiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeeee e 12
6. OCCUPANCY
6.1 Phased or Partial OCCUpaNnCy ............eeeeiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 13

6.2  Occupancy prior to Deemed Completion..........ccccceeeeeeiiiiiiiiinnnnnenn. 13



10.

11.

12.

TABLE OF CONTENTS (contd)

INSURANCE AND BONDING

7.1 BONAING oo 14
4 | 0110 =T o o= USRS 14
UTILITIES L.ttt e e e e e e saeeaeas .15
COMMISSIONING ...t e e e e e e e e e eaeeaeaasaeaaaaaaeas 15
9.1 COMMISSIONING ....ccciiiiiiiiiiiee et e s e e e e e e e aaeseanees .15
9.2  Systems Verification ..............oeeee .16
9.3 EquipmentStart Up .....ooovviiieiiii et 17
9.4  System DemonStration ...............eeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiine i 17
DEFICIENCIES

10.1 Deficiency INSPECLIONS........ooiiiiieiiiiiiee e 17
TURNOVER DOCUMENTS ..ottt ettt 18
I R T B T Yo B = o | € .18
11.2  ShOP DraWingsS ....ccoevviiiiiiiiee et .18
11.3 Operation & Maintenance Manuals ..o, 18
11.4 Spare Materials Parts and TOOIS ..........cccccooeeiiiiiiiiiiceee e 18
11.5 As BUIlt Drawings .....coooooiiiiiiiiiiiie e 19
11.6 Source List — Subtrades, Suppliers .........ccccceevieeiiiiiiiiiiie, 25
WARRANTY PERIOD

12.1  Warranty Administration Process ...........ccccevveiiiiiii. 25
12.2 WaAITanti@S ...cocooiiieiieee e .25
12.3 Warranty Period ... 26

APPENDICES ... ..o 27



INTRODUCTION

This Guide addresses the practices and processes involved to successfully manage
and implement the takeover of the Work by the owner from the contractor. The Guide
contains prescriptive requirements and recommended guidelines and forms that can
be used to make for a more efficient and successful procedure. Most of the comments
relate specifically to a design / bid / build procurement contract. However, most of the
concepts apply to any form of construction procurement.

The Guide touches on the primary aspects of a project which are required for the
transfer of documentation and information required for the closeout of the project.

The Guide does not interpret the Construction Lien Act and therefore readers are

strongly urged to review the Act and obtain legal advice accordingly.

DEFINITIONS

21 Contract
The contract is the undertaking by the parties to perform their respective
duties, responsibilities and obligations as prescribed in the contract documents
and represents the entire agreement between the parties.

2.2 Contract Document

The contract documents consist of those documents listed in the Agreement —
contract documents and amendments agreed upon between the parties.

2.3 Contract Price
The contract price is the amount stipulated in the contract documents
expressed in Canadian Funds excluding Value Added Taxes which the owner
has agreed to pay the contractor for the completion of the contract work and
services.

2.4 Substantial Performance of the Work

A contract is substantially performed when:

(a) the improvement to be made under that contract or a substantial part
thereof is ready for use or is being used for the purposes intended; and

(b) the improvement to be made under that contract is capable of
completion or, where there is a known defect, correction, at a cost of
not more than:



2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

29

(i) 3 percent of the first $500,000 of the contract price,
(i) 2 percent of the next $500,000 of the contract price, and
(iii) 1 percent of the balance of the contract price

[from s. 2(1) Construction Lien Act]
Deemed Completion

A contract shall be deemed to be complete and services or materials shall be
deemed to be last supplied to the improvement when the price of completion,
correction of a known defect or last supply is not more than the lesser of:

(@) 1 percent of the contract price;
(b)  $1,000.00

[from s. 2(3) Construction Lien Act]

Section 2(3) of the Construction Lien Act defines “completion” of the contract
for lien purposes. The Final Payment Certificate of the Payment Certifier
showing the balance to complete of $0.00 often serves to recognize that the
contract is completed.

Owner

The owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement. The
term owner means the owner or the owner's authorized agent or
representative as designated to the contractor in writing, but does not include
the consultant.

Consultant

The consultant is the person or entity engaged by the owner and identified as
such in the Agreement. The consultant is the Architect, the Engineer or entity
licensed to practice in the province or territory of the Place of the Work. The
term consultant means the consultant or the consultant's authorized
representative.

Contractor

The contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement. The
term contractor means the contractor or the contractor's authorized
representative as designated to the owner in writing.

Subcontractor

A subcontractor is a person or entity having a direct contract with the
contractor to perform a part or parts of the Work at the Place of the Work.



2.10

2.1

2.12

213

2.14

2.15

2.16

217

Supplier

A supplier is a person or entity having a direct contract with the contractor to
supply products.

Shop Drawings

Shop drawings are drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, performance
charts, brochures, product data, and other data which the contractor provides
to illustrate details of portions of the Work.

Work

Work means the total construction and related services required by the
contract documents.

Incomplete Work

Incomplete work means Work specified in the contract documents that has not
been performed or completed.

Deficiency Work

Deficiency work means Work that has been performed, but performed
incorrectly or to an inadequate standard, not performed as specified, or
damaged prior to turnover to the owner.

Warranty Work

Warranty work means completed work that requires completion after the date
of substantial performance and is discovered prior to expiry of the contract
warranty period or periods.

Deferred Work

Deferred work is work which the owner and the contractor agree, or out of
necessity, simply cannot be completed in a timely manner, such as
landscaping work, and is therefore excluded from the calculation in
determining whether substantial performance of a contract has been reached.

Ready for Use for the purposes intended

Ready for Use is a concept used in determining whether substantial
performance has been reached. Its meaning depends on what is being
constructed under the contract in question: is it the entire project under a general
contract or only one trade’s contract work under a construction



management arrangement? Ready for Use intended can be when it is ready
for the owner to occupy and fit out.

In the case of a hospital, for instance, it is not when it is ready for patients to
move in or clinical procedures to begin, it is when it is ready for the hospital to
occupy and make ready for them to initiate their fit out and training, etc. If it's
the whole project, then the test is usually met once the new space is ready for
occupancy. If it’s only a trade contract, then the test is generally whether the
trade’s work is functional (e.g. mechanical) or ready for the next trade to take
over (e.g. Gypsum Board ready for paint).

IMPLEMENTING A PROJECT CLOSEOUT PROCESS FOR PROJECTS

The process of project closeout begins with the contract documentation stages by the
consultant working with the owner and continues throughout the construction stage
involving all players.

3.1

3.2

Pre-Construction Phase
3.1.1 Contract Requirements for Closeout

The contracting authority should, in the bid documents, clearly specify
in a separate section what is required to meet Substantial Performance
and all of the documentation that will be required at the time of closeout
for owner occupancy or other intended use. Grouping this information
together in a separate section of the specifications is a simple way to
clarify for all members of the project team what is required to be done,
by whom, to achieve substantial and total performance.

Instructions for Substantial Performance should make reference to the
Construction Lien Act and not paraphrase the Sections of the Act.

Construction Phase
3.2.1 Job Start Up Meeting

Preconstruction Meeting — The following is an example of the members of the
construction team who should be invited to such a meeting: architect,
engineer, contractor, major subcontractor, and owner. There may be other
specialized participants who should be invited depending on the complexity
and scope of the project. Milestones for submittals and completeness should
be established followed by meetings to review compliance. Review your
QA/QC plan - provide quality expectations with mockups, submittals of
samples, open manuals prepared for the inserts which will be provided, detail
what inspections will be done, independent testing and inspection agencies,
Schedule of Values to be used for payment certification — project Schedules.



3.2.2 Contractors’ Logs

Closeout Log #1 - The contractor should, early in the process, prepare a list of
what is to be included as part of the Turnover documents such as:

e spare parts

» as built drawings

e commissioning reports

» CBO certificate

» Fire Alarm certificate

= Balancing Reports

» testing certificates

* maintenance manuals, etc.

QUALITY

Quality Assurance (QA) has implications throughout the life of a project from its
beginning to closeout. The consultant is in charge of Quality Assurance, the
contractor of Quality Control. The consultant and subconsultants carry out Quality
Assurance by means of establishing quality standards in the drawings and
specifications; reviewing the job as it progresses; and requiring the necessary testing
to be done by third party testing companies. The contractor carries out Quality
Control by working with the consultant to meet the specified quality standards,
making sure that the standards are communicated to the subcontractors, and making
sure that the work undertaken complies with those standards and that deficiencies
are brought to light as early as possible and addressed immediately by the
responsible trade, without everyone waiting until the deficiency lists are produced
near the end of the job. Quality control is the day-to-day, on the job, making certain
that the contract is being carried out in accordance with the plans and specifications
to the quality standards specified.

A well thought out and executed QA/QC program will make project closeout much
easier and make the whole project run more smoothly. In the Project Development
Phase, it is important that the documents convey the level of quality expected for the
project.

A good idea is for the key consultants (i.e. architectural, structural, mechanical,
electrical) to be involved in identifying key quality issues, i.e. what portions of the
project are likely to create difficulties and portions of the project where quality
standards are of critical importance to the consultant and owner. There may also be
certain special items for which the level of quality is above an industry standard.
These should be documented for bidders (i.e. workmanship, actual product
specifications).

QA/QC Milestone, Meetings & Guidelines (QA/QC may warrant a separate
specification section)

10



4.1

Consultants’ and Contractors’ Roles

A good QA / QC program is a key element to an effective closeout program.

QA / QC needs to be part of every site meeting agenda, do not wait for
deficiency inspections.

The consultants and owner need to set and communicate quality
expectations to all members of the project team as early in the process
as possible. In drawings and specifications.

One of the most important roles of the consultant is to manage owner’s
expectations and educate owners on the construction process. One
important principle which construction reviewers need to abide by is
consistency.

It is helpful to also have the project designer involved early on,
identifying areas of the project likely to create quality problems, due to
workmanship or an actual product specification, areas or items for
which the level of quality is higher than standard.

Deficiencies should be addressed as soon as they are discovered.

The consultant and contractor need to work together to implement the
QA / QC program, uncover deficiencies, evaluate what is considered
deficient in a consistent manner, set money aside in the monthly draw
to cover identified deficiencies.

Subcontractors are part of the QC team and must take responsibility for
the quality of their work

It is recommended that individual contractors and subcontractors
undertake review, the preparation of a deficiency list, the completion of
deficiency fix up where necessary, and make arrangements for the
general contractor’'s and subsequent consultant’s review of completed
work. This process should occur at regular intervals if necessary and
prior to the completion of their work to facilitate their full completion of
remaining items in a timely manner.

The consultant needs to set out a standard at the beginning of the job. You
need the owner, consultant, contractor and subcontractors to get together to
make sure quality expectations are understood. This can be done in a variety
of ways, including:

Taking subcontractors to other buildings to see what quality is expected.

The holding of minuted pre startup meetings which go through the
various standards for waterproofing, window installation, etc.

Start up meeting for important trades such as masonry with tie-ins to
waterproofing and windows.

The use of mock ups are very helpful.

The sooner the quality expectations for a project can be communicated,
understood and agreed by all parties, the better.

11



4.2

Owner’s Role

It is key that the owner provide the same authorized representative throughout
the project. Owners have authority to make decisions or at least have
decisions made quickly. Owners should have some responsibility to participate
throughout the project, allowing themselves to be informed on the construction
process and communicate their needs and expectations clearly early in the
process via drawings and specifications plus early start-up meetings, then be
consistent in how you apply them.

Owners have an important role to allow themselves to be informed by the
project team and to commit the time and effort to evaluate whether the quality
of what is being specified and later installed meets expectations and not wait
for deficiency inspections.

5. FINANCIAL

5.1

5.2

Progress Draws

A line item could be included in the monthly draws to cover specified
deliverables. At 75% complete, a nominal sum, e.g. $5,000, could appear as a
line item that is paid once the closeout items such as ‘As Built Drawings’,
manuals, warranties are submitted then the line item may be paid out. The
subcontractors deliver much of the closeout material and must have an
incentive to deliver the material in a timely fashion.

Trades should not be certified or signed off as complete when there is work
outstanding or deficiencies to correct. The contractor should ensure that the
subcontractor complies with their responsibilities before agreeing to ask for the
consultant to sign off.

Deficiency Retainage

Deficiencies need to be completed as soon as possible to avoid delays in the
process. The consultant and contractor must work together to judge the value
of deficiencies to establish the value of works early. Payment certifiers must
accurately value deficiencies to avoid placing undue hardship on
subcontractors who have completed their work. Payment Certifiers should be
assessing the percentage of work complete — and using deficiency lists to
reduce draw payments by an amount equivalent to the cost of repairing
deficiencies.

The contractor and subcontractors play an important role in identifying,
repairing, and pricing deficiencies. Some contractors require subcontractors to
itemize and price deficiencies when submitting monthly invoices to the
contractor.

12



OCCUPANCY

An important issue is providing the subcontractor with sufficient time to complete
deficiencies between the preparation of the deficiency list and the owner moving in.
Once the move in takes place, it can make deficiency completion very difficult. Good
planning needs to take place when an owner needs occupancy before the deficiency
list is complete.

A good idea is to schedule a pre-occupancy review with the consultants and owner a
minimum of one week prior to the planned occupancy date to allow for deficiency
completion. The contractor should organize all trades to be prepared to get in and
clear out the deficiencies quickly before move-in.

For required inspections, refer to Ontario Building Code (Section 1.3.3
Occupancy of Unfinished Buildings) (Appendix 2)

6.1 Phased or Partial Occupancy

More and more, especially in large complex buildings (both new and
renovated), phased or partial occupancy is a requirement of the owner and
must be clearly identified in the bid documents.

The bid documents should clearly define the sequencing of any phased
occupancy (generally a requirement of the owner’s operations); the length of
time required for any decanting and move in by the owner where it will impact
the ongoing operations of the contractor; and the specific closeout
requirements prior to the owner’'s acceptance for occupancy. The specific
closeout requirements will generally mirror those for final occupancy but will
not generally include substantial performance requirements (held off until final
occupancy). Decisions regarding the start date of warranties for the phased or
partially occupied areas and for any equipment or systems related to its use
should be predetermined and agreed to as the owner has beneficial use.

It is important for consultants to describe planned phasing requirements in the
bid documents as it needs to be considered for pricing. It will take extra time
and money; all parties should be aware of any known plans as early as
possible. For greater clarity for pricing, this should be noted in the bid
documents.

The owner will be responsible for operating, maintaining, and insuring the
occupied areas and related equipment and / or systems.

6.2 Occupancy prior to Deemed Completion
This refers to the period between substantial performance of the project and

Deemed Completion when the owner has occupancy where there remains
incomplete work and/or deficiencies to complete. As has been noted above,

13



this requires careful planning and coordination by the contractor and owner
and a clear communication by the owner to the occupants of what and what
not to expect during this period.

7. INSURANCE AND BONDING

71

7.2

Bonding

Performance Bonds cover the standard one year comprehensive warranty
required by CCDC 2 - GC 12.3. Surety companies, for an extra charge, may
also provide a second year of comprehensive warranty coverage if required to
by the contract specifications. If a contractor is not completing the work or
carrying out warranty work during the one (or two) year comprehensive
warranty period, the owner should notify the surety company of such a breach.
The owner has paid for this coverage and has every right to call on the surety
to address the failure of the contractor to complete the work. Contractors are
very conscious of the importance of their relationship with their surety
company. Surety companies constantly monitor their clients; any complaints to
the surety company from an owner that a contractor is not complying with their
contractual responsibilities are taken very seriously. Construction bonds
provide a means of protecting the owner’s rights under a construction contract.

Insurance

It is a general principle that the party who has the care and control of a facility
is in the best position to provide project insurance. When a project, such as an
addition / renovation, involves multiple occupants (e.g. tenants) of a building, it
is usually better for the owner to carry the property and liability insurance
policies. It is also good practice to have one insurance company providing as
much of the insurance coverage as possible to reduce the likelihood that a
dispute will arise as to which policy should cover any claim that might arise.

If the contractor is providing either Property or General Liability coverage for a
project, Insurance coverage must change from the contractor’s to the owner’s
policy when the owner’s employees begin to use the facility for the purpose for
which it was built. Prior to the owner's employees starting this use, the
contractor must make it clear to the owner that his insurance policies must
take over coverage before his employees can begin to use the building. A
good method of insuring that this change of coverage takes place is for the
contractor to send the owner a letter setting out the date on which insurance
coverage will move from the contractor’'s policy to the owner’s policy and
include a place for the owner to sign an acknowledgement that they agree with
the change in coverage. The letter is then signed by the owner and faxed back
to the contractor who in turn faxes a copy of the acknowledged letter to your
broker. N.B. For the owner - Now that your insurance policies are covering the
project, the contractor should be added as an additional insured to the owner’s

14



policies and be provided with a Certificate of the policy until the deficiencies
are complete.

UTILITIES

Utility charges transfer to the owner on the date of substantial performance and, if
applicable, any accepted date of phased or partial occupancy. This process should
be documented in the specifications. If not, an agreement as to sharing of costs
should be reached as early as possible, where continuing contractor operations are
carried out beyond these dates.

COMMISSIONING

9.1

Commissioning is a term often misused to refer to those activities that occur
when a project is taken over by the client. In actual fact, commissioning is a
separate and distinct service, which may commence at the beginning of a
project and may continue until, and in some instances, after, occupancy by the
owner. Commissioning is an additional service often provided by an
independent third party — a commissioning agent. Large or complex projects
may require the participation of a commissioning agent to manage and verify
the design performance of all the components and systems of the building’s
operation or as a minimum, those identified by the consultant and owner and
specified to be critical or necessary.

In some smaller & simpler projects, typical start up demonstration and review
by the Prime consultant and subconsultant is usually sufficient.

Commissioning includes a range of activities undertaken to transform the
design of a facility into a fully integrated and operating system. It is a process
of quality assurance which:

. Begins with the definition of the ‘design intent’ and ends with the
delivery of a building;

. Confirms the contractor’s implementation of the consultant’s design as
defined in the contract documents;

. Confirms the ability of the consultant’s design to satisfy the owner’s
defined requirements;

. Addresses any shortcomings.

One product of the commissioning process is an accurate project database.
For large and/or complex projects, the owner may engage a commissioning

agent as an independent third party to verify that both the facility design and
the resulting construction satisfy the owner’s objectives and requirements. In

15



9.2

addition, the commissioning agent verifies the contractor's performance of the
contract.

Early involvement of a commissioning agent as a project team member can
assist in clear communication of the design intent to both the consultant and
the contractor.

Because the contractor is usually a late arrival to the project team, an
explanation of the verification and testing procedures by the commissioning
agent should appear in the bid documents. This will assist bidders in
evaluating the time and cost implications of a commissioning agent’s
participation and the agent’s impact upon acceptance of the work.

Bid documents prepared with input from the commissioning agent should
include:

. The commissioning plan, including the scope and sequence of the
commissioning program;

. The commissioning specifications, including a manual with examples of
verification forms and testing procedures, noting probable duration;

. Any specialized documentation related to testing, such as CSA
Standards, which may describe options for testing methods;

. Standards for submission and acceptance of:
o) Shop drawings;

Contractor’s tests;

Product, systems, operations, and maintenance manuals;

Training programs;

Post-occupancy or seasonal testing;

Detailed list of commissioning activities to be completed prior to

owner’s takeover and occupancy of the building or part thereof.

O O O O O

Systems Verification

The process of systems verification begins after all components within the
system are accepted and deficiencies are corrected. The contractor’s schedule
for the timing, sequencing, and proving of systems will require regular
commissioning meetings to ensure that all parties are available to:

. Verify that all prerequisites to testing are in place;
. Review test procedures and acceptable results;
. Witness tests.

Failure to verify can seriously affect the construction schedule and can result
in delays and claims. To avoid delays:

. Have the subcontractors responsible prove or test systems prior to
witnessing by the commissioning agent;

16



9.3

9.4

. Provide for subcontractor and sub-subcontractor acceptance on
verification forms prior to Contractor acceptance.

After sign-off by the contractor, the consultant should then certify their
recommendation of acceptance. Variances from the design identified during
systems testing will require investigation and reporting by the consultant.

Because many integrated systems tests require that certain post-occupancy
conditions be in place (for example, all equipment, furnishings, and building
users in operation), the consultant and the commissioning agent should
consider preliminary or conditional testing and recommended acceptance of
certain sub-systems.

Equipment Start Up

As the project nears completion, completion dates should be set for the startup
of equipment and the review by the appropriate consultant. Reports from the
startup process should be submitted as part of the final submittals.

System Demonstration

Demonstration should take place just prior to turnover, allowing enough time
for the occupants to have a thorough understanding of the operations. At the
outset of the project, the owner, consultant, contractor, subcontractor, and
suppliers should prepare a plan to carry out the demonstration. The plan
should include number of attendees, the duration for instruction, any special
requirements from any party and should include the commissioning agent.
(Note the premises may still require that the owner’s personnel have protective
equipment.) In order to help the owners train others or refresh the personnel, it
is recommended that on more complex projects, the owner or contractor
record the training sessions. This should be clearly defined in the bid
documents.

All access to the site for owner's staff must be arranged through the
contractor.

10. DEFICIENCIES

10.1

Deficiency Inspections

As part of establishing substantial performance, it is necessary to place a
value on project deficiencies. The contractor and subcontractors will prepare
lists of deficiencies; address as many of the deficiencies as possible, and then
hold a formal deficiency review. This review requires the participation of the
owner, consultants, contractor, and subcontractors. It is pointless to hold the
deficiency review until the finished lighting is operational as the quality and

17



direction of the lighting may reveal defects which would not otherwise be
noticeable.

Subcontractors should be involved early in the deficiency process, preparing
their own deficiency lists. This will make the final review much easier for all
parties. The subcontractors must take responsibility for the quality of their
work.

A distinction should be made between cosmetic deficiencies and operational
deficiencies so as to ensure that the proper individuals are involved in their
correction. For example, an operational deficiency may need to have the input
of maintenance staff.

The goal is to have all deficiencies corrected prior to the consultant’s review.

11. TURNOVER DOCUMENTS

1.1

11.2

11.3

Documents

The owner will be relying on the ‘as built’ drawings and manuals for as long as
the structure is in use. A monetary value may be assessed to the value of
these documents up front so they are part of the Schedule of Values in the
monthly Progress Draw system (in the bid specification). Make them a line
item from the beginning and they are either submitted or approved or not, no
partial draws should be allowed. A value should be assigned that reflects the
cost of creating the drawings and assembling the manuals and acts as an
incentive to submit them as soon as they are available.

On a larger project, the owner may place a monetary value on the Operation &
Maintenance Manual materials. If a value is assigned to the documents, it
should be a specific dollar amount, not a percentage of the project value.
Another suggestion is to break down the monetary value of submittals against
the mechanical manuals / electrical manuals and release money as each are
submitted.

Shop Drawings

All finally reviewed shop drawings, if required, are to be submitted to the owner
by the contractor. The submittal of shop drawings is to be completed once they
have been reviewed for general conformance.

Operation & Maintenance Manuals

Operation manuals differ significantly from the compilation of shop drawings.
This documentation provides information with regards to the regular

18



11.4

11.5

11.6

12.

12.1

12.2

maintenance and cleaning instruction of materials, necessary instructions in
order to operate systems and equipment. The owner will be required to
operate and maintain the systems and equipment. This documentation is
considered essential at the turnover of phased, partial and final occupancy and
should coincide with the demonstrations.

Maintenance Manuals are instructions regarding the upkeep required for
finishes and various components of equipment and systems. These can
specify, for example, cleaning methods and materials or regularly scheduled
maintenance of equipment. Again, this is essential at turnover as the owner
will be responsible for complying with maintenance requirements in order not
to void any warranties.

There is a growing trend of contractors to provide the consultant or owner with
Binders already made up with divisions for the owner to insert the manuals as
they are submitted by the contractor.

Spare Materials, Parts and Tools

Provide all specified spare materials and tools and obtain a signed receipt of
inventory from the owner’s representative.

As Built Drawings

It should be clearly defined in the specifications as to what the requirements
for ‘As built’ drawings vs. ‘Record’ drawings will be.

Source List — Subtrades, Suppliers

Itis a good idea, whether specified or not, for the contractor to provide the owner with
a source list identifying subcontractors and suppliers of materials and equipment for
their ongoing use.

WARRANTY PERIOD

Warranty Administration Process

Meet to discuss Warranty Administration Process - the consultant’s role
generally continues throughout the Warranty period — owner — consultant —
contractor — subcontractor, often the owner goes directly to the subcontractor,
which is okay in an emergency. However, the warranty chain is ideal - it lets all
know what is happening.

Warranties

Warranties for the project typically start at substantial performance of the work

19



12.3

or on the date of occupancy of a phased or partial occupancy. Any extended
warranties typically start at the expiration of the contractor's one year warranty.
As part of the final submittals, the contractor will typically provide a letter of
warranty for the entire work. Letters from suppliers and subcontractors are not
required as part of the submission unless they are for extended warranties. In
these cases, the contractor is required to obtain these warranties for the owner and
a direct contractual relationship between the owner and the respective
subcontractor or supplier will occur after the initial one year warranty.

GC 12.3 of CCDC 2 provides for a one year comprehensive warranty for the
work from substantial performance of the project. Contract specifications may
provide for a two year comprehensive warranty that covers all the work. As
part of the final submittals, a letter of warranty for the entire work may be
required from the contractor. Under GC 12.3, it is the contractor who is
responsible to administer warranty work, which is generally carried out by the
subcontractor who installed the work, which is giving the problem. It is not
always easy to pinpoint what the source of a problem is (i.e. roofing leaks),
and therefore who is responsible to resolve it. This is where the expertise of
the contractor is useful. It is frequently true that problems arise where the work
of several subcontractors intersect.

Specifications often call for extended warranties of varying durations. These
are provided by manufacturers of products such as windows, roofing materials,
mechanical systems, etc. As part of the final submittals, the contractor will
typically provide letters from suppliers and subcontractors setting out the terms
of the extended warranties. In these cases, the subcontractor is required to
obtain these warranties for the owner and a direct contractual (warranty)
relationship between the owner and the respective subcontractor or supplier
will occur after the initial one year warranty.

Warranty Period

During the comprehensive warranty period, the owner should be contacting
the consultant, who contacts the contractor who contacts the subcontractor to
have a problem fixed. Refer to the ‘Warranty Notice’ form [Appendix 5]. The
form should be filled out so that everyone in the chain knows what is
happening. Of course, if there is an emergency, the owner can call the
relevant subcontractor directly to have emergency action taken.

It is good practice to hold an eleventh month warranty review with the
consultants, contractor, and owner in attendance.

20



APPENDICES:

Appendix ‘“1” Chronological flow chart of Legal / Contract and construction events

Appendix ‘2" Occupancy Requirements

Appendix ‘3" Sample Turnover Document Check List

Appendix ‘4’ Warranty Notice Form

21



a|qeled 3

anp yoeqpjoH

_____ shep.op..

B »
uonesiqnd jo ajeq

aouewIoMad |enuesqng

Joy ajeq pajediopuy !

‘Aep yi94 uo juswAed o} Joud sual| Jo} mairal

|eba| sabuelse JoaumQ ‘uoneowdoal Asuaiolap Jojpue a)9|dwosul
Joj Junowe abeulejal 0} paaibe Buiney ases|al yoeqgpjoy Jo}
JuswAed Jo 91eolled s9)9|dwod Jale0 JuswAed ‘wiBUl BY) U|

‘ajep Buiysiignd siyy woly seouswwod pouad uall Aep Gy

‘a1ep Buiysiignd pawuiuod yum Jayiad juswhed saidod pue asuewlopad

[elueIsgnsS Jo a1eoiiua) saysiignd J1010enuod 9 wio4 jo 1disoal uodn

"9 W04 Ul UoISn|oul Jo} JaNa9

wawAed o0y Jaumo Aq papinoid aq 0} ual JO uoieAlasald 1oy
sasiwauid Jo uoneoyuapul Joj uonduosap [ebaT 810N “Bunum ui
suoseal pa|ie}op Yim 10joejuod sapiroid palsies jou Ji 1o shep

/ ulyum ybnouyy yjem jo Aep ayj paiep 19 J0 (9 wio4) souewloped
|enueIsqNS JO 9)eolIa0 sanss| (paysnies JI) Ja1ua0 JuswAied

(,papuajul asn Jo} Apeay, jo uonduosap

10} 9pInb 98s) "Joy Ul UoONISUOY Jad Se ‘papudiul

asn ay} Jo} Apeay "z B|nwIo4 [eloUBUIH | (U0 paseq pawJopad
Allenueisgns si JoBJJUOD JBYIBYM SaUIWIS}ap Jala0 Juswhed

"ysiuly 0} 1800 Jo ajewnse sapiroid Jojoenuo) "ybnodyy yjem
M8IABI B Op J0JORIUOD PUB JBUMO “Jaliad JuswAed a1ep 4s uo

‘sjuswalinbas BujuoISSIWIWOD |BNIDEIUOD WNWIUIW JO
uoneoyldaA Buipnoul ‘eyep o0y Joud sAep G Buiyifiaas jwgns pue
uoIBoIIN®D dS JO) Sjuswsalinbal |enjoesuod AJIaA 0] U0JoeIIUOD)

("218p 4S 01 Joud sAep Oz wnuwiully) 1Si| Aousiolap S,J0j0BIUOD YNIM JBIHISD

wswAed B J1auMo sepircid pue 81ep dS SWijje J0joeiuo)

"J9111199 JuswAed pue Jaumo 0} aonou sapiroid (Bunm
ul) Jojoeljuod ajep 4s pajedionue o} Joud sAep 09 wnuwiulp

I Xipuaddy

JoBIJUOD 3Y) JO DUBWLIOLID [eljue)sSqNg JO aje( 40} Jeyo awi]



MIOAN Jeuld |

a|iqeked ® 4 SAEBDOF

anQ yoeqp|oH

(paurejau yoeqpjoy ou) uonajdwod jeul} 0}
uone|dwoo paweap Jo JuaWale)s puoAaq SanuUIUOD YJOAA

1SIX8 sual| ou

pausnes bulaq JsumQ uodn sjgqeded pue anp si ¥oeqp|oH

‘9)ep A|ddns jsej| Jo uonele|oap

skep cp B sapinoid 1010BIUOD Y] ‘B|ge|ieA. S| JaIiuad JuswAed
ou uaym ased ay) u| (pasinbal Buiysiignd oN) - pouad
a ual| Aep G{ 8y} JO Hels 8y} S| Juswaless sy} Jo djep ay L
spu3j pouad ‘panssi a4 ||IM uona|dwoo pawaap Jo Juswalels e ‘v
)}oeqploH uonajdwod 3y} Jo sjuswalinbal ay) Yum adueploode ul 819|dwod
pawaap jo paWwasp S| JOBJUOD BU) SBUIWLISIBP ol JuswAed Usypp
juswajels
JO anss|
J0 9jeq
4 sAeq 10/S}o9M/SUIUOIN JO # X | “Moeqgploy Buiysiuy, 8y se paulejal yoeqploy %0}
Aiojepuew aAey |[Im uond|dwod pawasp JO JusWalels
0} dS 1o ajep ay} woly sjuswAed Jo 81eoua9 ||V
uona|dwod
pawaag
JO Juswajelg
joojyeq
9oUBWIOLIdd [erjuelsgns jo ajeq L
Z Xipuaddy (9ourwWIOMa |el3UR)SONS }sod) jJoesuo) ayj jo uonajdwon pawaa( jo aje( 40} Jeyd awi]



Appendix 2

OCCUPANCY REQUIREMENTS
The Ontario Building Code 2006 governs the requirements for occupancy of all types of buildings.

Inspections are required prior to an occupancy permit being issued.

The requirements for such occupancies are taken from the “unofficial version of Government of
Ontario legal materials”.

For any updates, please check with your local building department.



1.3.3

Occupancy of Unfinished Building

1.3.3.1.

(1)

Occupancy Permit

Except as permitted in Sentence 1.3.3.2.(1), a person may occupy or permit to be
occupied any building or part of it that has not been fully completed at the date of
occupation where the chief building official or a person designated by the chief
building official has issued a permit authorizing occupation of the building or part
of it prior to its completion in accordance with Sentence (2).

The chief building official or a person designated by the chief building official shall
issue a permit authorizing occupation of a building, where,

the structure of the building or part of it is completed to the roof,

the enclosing walls of the building or part of them are completed to the

roof,

the walls enclosing the space to be occupied are completed, including
balcony guards,

all required fire separations and closures are completed on all storeys to be
occupied,

all required exits are completed and fire separated including all doors, door
hardware, self-closing devices, balustrades and handrails from the
uppermost floor to be occupied down to grade level and below if an exit
connects with lower storeys,

all shafts including closures are completed to the floor-ceiling assembly
above the storey to be occupied and have a temporary fire separation at
such assembly,

measures have been taken to prevent access to parts of the building and
site that are incomplete or still under construction,

floors, halls, lobbies and required means of egress are kept free of loose
materials and other hazards,

if service rooms should be in operation, required fire separations are
completed and all closures installed,

all building drains, building sewers, water systems, drainage systems and
venting systems are complete and tested as operational for the storeys to
be occupied,

required lighting, heating and electrical supply are provided for the suites,
rooms and common areas to be occupied,

required lighting in corridors, stairways and exits is completed and operational
up to and including all storeys to be occupied,

required standpipe, sprinkler and fire alarm systems are complete and
operational up to and including all storeys to be occupied, together with
required pumper connections for such standpipes and sprinklers,

required fire extinguishers have been installed on all storeys to be occupied,
main garbage rooms, chutes and ancillary services thereto are completed to
storeys to be occupied,

required fire fighting access routes have been provided and are accessible,
and



(q) the sewage system has been completed and is operational.

(3) Where a registered code agency has been appointed to perform the functions
described in clause 4.1 (4) (b) or (c) of the Act in respect of the construction of the
building, the chief building official or a person designated by the chief building
official shall issue the permit referred to in Sentence (2) after receipt of a certificate
for the occupancy of a building not fully completed issued by the registered code
agency in respect of the building.

1.3.3.2. Conditions for Residential Occupancy

(1) A person may occupy or permit to be occupied a building intended for residential
occupancy that has not been fully completed at the date of occupation provided that,

(a) the building,

(1) is of three or fewer storeys in building height and has a building area
not exceeding 600 m2,

(i) has not more than 1 dwelling unit above another dwelling unit,

(iii) has not more than 2 dwelling units sharing a common means of
egress, and

(iv) has no accommodation for tourists,

(b) the following building components and systems are complete, operational
and inspected,

(i) required exits, handrails and guards, fire alarm and detection
systems, and fire separations,
(ii) required exhaust fume barriers and self-closing devices on doors

between an attached or built-in garage and a dwelling unit, and
(iii) water supply, sewage disposal, lighting and heating systems,

(c) the following building components and systems are complete, operational,
inspected and tested:

(i)
(i)
(iif)

water systems,
building drains and building sewers, and
drainage systems and venting systems, and

(d)  where applicable, the building conforms to Article 3.1.1.3. or 9.1.1.7. of
Division B.

1.3.3.3. Notification

(1) Where a person has occupied or permitted the occupancy of a building under this
Subsection, such person shall notify the chief building official forthwith upon
completion of the building.



Appendix 3
o ABC Company Ltd.
“ 123 Main Street
Anytown, Ontario

LOL OLO
Project Closeout Control Form
Project: Project No.:
ARCHITECTURAL
DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBILITY | DATE | BATE TO

RECEIVED | CLIENT.

Fire & Smoke Separation and Closures Completed

All required exits and hardware are complete and operational
including mag locks and signage if applicable

Hold Open at rated doors have appropriate ceiling F.A.
detectors

All shaft enclosures are completed

Elevator final acceptance notice

Operating Manuals, As Built Prints and

AutoCAD files

Consultant General Review Commitment signoff letter”

Structural

Mechanical

Electrical

Other (i.e. landscape, elevating device consultant)(Structural
Studs) /Q‘<

Independent Inspection Soils, C,rzﬁcrete Masonry, etc.

Independent Inspection Report for spray fireproofing
conformance

Independepﬂnspection / Air Barrier

Indep/eﬁdent Inspection / Asphalt

_Peficiency Reports

Spare Material Turn Over to Client

Cubicle Curtains have 450 mm mesh top to corrdinate with
sprinkler operation

Material flame spreads smoke generation info for Building and
Fire Dept.

Turn over shop drawipgs and list to owner

/1



@ ABC Company Ltd.

: I 123 Main Street
'\ Anytown, Ontario

Appendix 3

LOL OLO
Project Closeout Control Form
Project: Project No.:
MECHANICAL
DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBILITY | DATE | BATE TO
RECEIVED /| CLIENT

Sprinkler test report and materials certificate

Standpipe test and materials certificate

Underground piping test reports and material certificate

Fire Department witness to sprinkler and standpipe system

TSSA certificate for medical gas

Hospital medical gas Inspector report

Fire and smoke stopping completed

Fire hoses and extinguishers in place and operational

Plumbing inspection by Authority

Demonstration sign off forms

HVAC inspection by Authority

Air and water balancing reports

Verification of building automafic controls

Smoke evacuation verifi€ation / pressurization

Operating manual$, as builts, prints and CAD files and hand
over spare parts and materials

Mechanjeal engineer final review

/2



@ ABC Company Ltd.

: I 123 Main Street
'\ Anytown, Ontario

Appendix 3

LOL OLO
Project Closeout Control Form
Project: Project No.:
ELECTRICAL
DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBILITY [DATE DATE TO
RECEIV, CLIENT

Verification of fire alarm

Security system verification

Nurse call system verification

Verification of diesel generator and transfer switching

Independent inspection of electrical distribution system and
infra-red test on distribution centre, power drop, ground and
isolated power

Verification of emergency lighting

Verification of UPS system

Certificate of Inspection by Electrical Safety Aufhority

Operating manuals and as builts and CAD files and hand over
of spare parts and materials

Mag lock verification and certificltes

Electrical engineer final rediew

/3



SHOP DRAWINGS AND SAMPLES

Section 2 | Title/Description Manufacturer | Contact Remarks
& No.
2480 Landscaping
1 Year Warranty
2500 Paving and Surfacing
1 Year Warranty
2600 Sewers and Watermains
1 Year Warranty
Section 5 Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
5100 Structural Metal Framing
1 Year Warranty, As-Builts, Touch Up Work
5300 Metal Decking
1 Year Warranty
5500 Metal Fabrication
1 Year Warranty, Touch Up Work
Section 6 Title/Description Manufacturer | Contact Remarks
& No.
6100
6400
Section 7 Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
Firestopping and Smoke Seals Indicate batch
1 Year Warranty, Manufacture's Certificates number,
manufacturing
date(s) and
be addressed
to
Subcontractor
7420 Aluminum Composite Panels
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Data
7510 Built Up Bituminous Roofing
5 Year and 10 Year Warranty
7900 Joint Sealers
10 Year Manufacturer Warranty, 2 Year Written Warranty

/4




Section 8 Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
8100 Metal Doors and Frames
CSDFMA Warranty
8200 Wood and Plastic Doors
3 Year Warranty (Institutional Doors), 1 Year Warranty
(Residential Doors), Life of Installation Warranty (Interior
Fire Doors)
8400 Entrances, Storefronts, Metal Windows
1 Year Warranty
8700 Hardware 2 sets
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Material wrenches for
8710 Overhead Concealed Automatic Aluminum Slide Door door closure
System and locksets;
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Material, Safety Data, O 2 sets of
& M Materials manufacturer
s instructions
for door
closers,
locksets, door
holders and
panic
hardware
8800 Glass & Glazing
1 Year Warranty
8900
Section 9 Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
9250 Gypsum Wallboard & Acoustic Ceiling
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Material, Extra Stock
Extra Stock: 2 % extra stock for each type of ceiling tile
used
9400 Terrazo Tile
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Data
9650 Resilient Flooring
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Material, Extra Stock
Extra Stock: 2 % extra stock for each type of floor tile
used
9680 Carpeting
1 Year Warranty, Maintenance Data, Extra Stock
Extra Stock: over and above usable cuttings, provide 5%
extra stock
9900 Painting

1 Year Warranty, Extra Stock
Extra Stock: 1 litre of each finish material in each colour
used on jobsite

/5



Section 10 [Title/Description Manufacturer [Contact Remarks
& No.
10250 Specialties
1 Year Warranty
Section 11  [Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
11730 Headwall Units
1 Year Warranty
11760 Operating Room Ceiling Columns
O & M Data
Section 15 | Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact Remarks
& No.
15000 As-Builts, 1 Year Warranty, Extended Warranties, O&M
Data
Mechanical- General Requirements
15300 Sprinklers O & M Data
As-Builts, Extra Stock, O&M Materials, Warranties for: Pumps
Extra Stock: Furnish one approved metal cabinet and
containing eight spare upright type sprinkler heads and controllers,
two spare pendant type sptinkler heads with the backflow
necessary tools for replacing the same. preventions
Section 16 |Title/Description Manufacturer |Contact & Remarks
No.
16010 Electrical General Requirements
1 Year Warranty, As-Builts, O & M Datal (as per
Specifications), Certificates (as per Specifications)

/6




Appendix 4
WARRANTY NOTICE

From: Notice Number:
Owner / Consultant *

To: Address:

Contractor

Work:

title and location

Pursuant to paragraph 12.3.4 of GC 12.3 — WARRANTY of the Contract dated

between

and

notice is hereby given of an observed defect or deficiency in the Work as outlined below.
Commence correction of the said defect or deficiency within days, and notify the

Owner and Consultant upon completion.

Description:

Issued by the Owner / Consultant *

name and title of person signing signature date

Distributed to:

*strike out as appropriate



ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION

OAA weBuILD (L NTARIO

Ontario Association of Architects

Joint Best Practice Statement
Shop Drawing Schedule

Issued September 27, 2010

This document is issued jointly by the Ontario Association of Architects and the Ontario
General Contractors Association and provides information relative to best practices in regard to
schedule for shop drawings.

At the commencement of the work, the Contractor and the Consultant shall prepare, for the joint
review and acceptance by the Consultant and the Contractor, a schedule of the dates for the
submission and return of shop drawings and other submittals where called for in the
Specifications (which in no event will be more than 10 working days following submission and 10
working days following any resubmission or such other period as may mutually agreed upon by
the Contractor and Consultant) in order that there is no impact on the construction schedule.

The shop drawing and other submittals schedule shall provide for the submission of shop
drawings and other submittals in an orderly sequence and sufficiently in advance to allow for the
Consultant's proper review and so as to cause no delay to the Work. If at any time the Contractor
submits an unusually large number of shop drawings and other submittals not contemplated by
the schedule, such that the Consultant cannot process these within the time permitted in the
schedule, the Consultant will, within 5 working days of receipt of such drawings and other
submittals, provide the Contractor with an estimate of time necessary for processing such shop
drawings and other submittals.

The Contractor shall periodically resubmit the schedule to correspond to any changes in the
construction schedule for the joint review and acceptance by the Consultant and the
Contractor.

Enquiries should be directed to:

Ontario Association of Architects Ontario General Contractors Association
111 Moatfield Drive 703 — 6299 Airport Road

Don Mills, Ontario Mississauga, Ontario

M3B 3L6 L4V 1N3

Phone: (416) 449-6898 Phone: (905) 671-3969

Fax: (416) 449-5756 Fax: (905) 671-8212

www.0aa.on.ca www.ogca.ca




EE_V ﬂ WEBUILDJ\.)NTARIO

ONTARIO GENERAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION

Ontario Association of Architects

Joint Best Practice Statement
As-Built and Record Drawings

Issued October 21, 2010

This document is issued jointly by the Ontario Association of Architects and the Ontario
General Contractors Association and provides information relative to best practices in regard
to dealing with and preparing as-built drawings and record drawings and conveys standard
industry practice in regards to both.

The terms record drawings, as-built drawings and sometimes measured drawings are often
confused and/or misused. Record drawings should not be mistaken for as-built drawings nor
for measured drawings.

As-built drawings are those prepared by the contractor as it constructs the project and upon
which it documents the actual locations of the building components and changes to the
original contract documents. These, or a copy of same, are typically turned over to the
architect or client at the completion of the project.

Record drawings are those drawings prepared by the architect when contracted to do so.
These are usually a compendium of the original drawings, site changes known to the architect
and information taken from the contractor’s as-built drawings.

Measured drawings is the term recognized in the industry to describe the drawings prepared
from on-site measurements of an existing building or space. It can be for a building to which
additions or alterations will be made; or for spaces which are intended for lease and from
which drawings the areas for lease purposes will be calculated.

PROCEDURE for Pr ration of As-Built Drawin

General Contractors are responsible for creating "As Builts" from field data collected during
the course of the project. Field data is defined as information collected on site while
constructing the project that is not available from the contract documents, addenda, change
orders, or site instructions. It is of importance that the Contractor record on the "As Builts" all
field information relating to concealed conditions.

Contractors may be required by the contract documents to provide a greater degree of
accuracy in some areas of the as-builts. The contractor should include adequate monies for
this work in their tender price.

A2



General Contractors are not responsible for the creation of record drawings and should
advise any client or architect who requests something other than the standard industry
practice that the contractor cannot accept this responsibility. The record drawings contain the
intellectual property of the architect and should be respected.

Contractors who have the capacity to use auto cad may offer to do so voluntarily, but shall
also be compensated appropriately for converting as-builts to this format. Contractors should
raise this issue prior to tender closing with the tender authority and ensure that any additional
costs that may be required are included in their bid.

PROCEDURE for Pr ration of R rd Drawin

Architects should arrange with their clients prior to executing contracts as to requirements for
record drawings at the close of the project. Architects should be advising their clients that
providing “record drawings” is an additional services and the appropriate cost should be
included in their fees to the client. A per diem rate is one equitable arrangement which
recognizes that the extent of this service is indeterminate at the outset of the project.

An architect, who is not engaged to provide general review services for both code and non-
code related work, should advise their client that they are not in a position to prepare record
drawings since they will not be aware of all changes during construction.

It is not unusual for clients to expect record drawings in electronic format and therefore it is
prudent to determine whether the client requires the architect to generate the record set of
drawings, how many copies will be required as well as the medium, prior to finalizing the
Client/ Architect Contract rather than leaving it for discussion at the end of the project.

An Architect who is engaged for general review, should discuss with his/her client at the
outset of the project whether or not the client will require record drawings, the format required,
the extent of detail and degree of accuracy in specific areas if required and whether these will
include:

- transference of information from the contractor’s as-built drawings

- incorporation of known site variants not shown on as-built drawings
- incorporation of addenda into the originals

- incorporation of change orders into the originals

- incorporation of site instructions into the original

Some clients may need a greater degree of accuracy in some parts of the drawings than in
others. As well, verification of specific portions of the work that was changed from the original
drawings may be critical to some clients.

Ensure that appropriate statements are added to the drawings to avoid misunderstanding of
the purpose and intent of the record drawings.
K



Establish whether as-builts to be prepared by contractor will be in hard copy or electronic
format prior to bidding phases. If an electronic copy is requested it is important to define
clearly what format that entails (e.g. PDF vs. AutoCad). Include the required as—built format,
including required software, in the bid documents to avoid disputes in this regard at a later
date.

It is recommended that architects remove their seal to help avoid the possibility that the
drawings may be used as part of an application for a building permit without the architects
knowledge and involvement.

It is important that the architect not represent that the record drawings are claiming to be the
way that the building was in fact constructed. The following sample statement placed on the
record drawing illustrates this principle:

"The issuance of this record drawing is a representation by the architect that the
construction, enlargement or alteration of the building is in general, as opposed to
precise, conformity with the design prepared and provided by the architect, but is not a
representation that the construction, enlargement or alteration of the building is in
conformity with a design that has been prepared or provided by others."

It is recommended that a clear statement be made prominently on the record drawing
disclaiming accuracy and completeness of information transferred from the contractor’s as-
built drawings. The following statement is recommended for this use:

"The revisions to these contract documents, reflecting the significant changes in the
Work made during construction, are based on data furnished by the contractor to the
architect. The architect shall not be held responsible for the accuracy or completeness
of the information provided by the contractor."

In some instances, the client may require the record drawings to incorporate all changes
made via addenda and change orders. This can be extensive and prudence dictates that the
client and architect should discuss and agree prior to execution of the contract whether or not
this service will be required. Fees should be adjusted relative to the extent of service required.

Architects should explain to clients, and ensure that their contracts include, provisions in

regard to client’s use of record drawings, the copyright of the architect and the waiver in
regard to the reliance on the contractor’s as-built drawings.

Enquiries should be directed to:

Ontario Association of Architects Ontario General Contractors Association
111 Moatfield Drive 703 — 6299 Airport Road

Don Mills, Ontario Mississauga, Ontario

M3B 3L6 L4V 1N3

Phone: (416) 449-6898 Phone: (905) 671-3969

Fax: (416) 449-5756 Fax: (905) 671-8212

www.oaa.on.ca www.ogca.ca




Memorandum

Memorandum
Tor Council FOR COUNCIL MEETING
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat September 18, 2025
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell (open)
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 4.4
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Thomas Yeung, Vice President & PRC Chair
Date: September 9, 2025

Subject: OAA Document Maintenance - Practice Tips Impacted by OBC 2024:
Updates to Practice Tip PT.36.3.

Objective: To provide overview of the updates to PT.36.3 OBC SB-12, Energy Efficiency

for Housing — Prescriptive Compliance and obtain Council endorsement.

Background

The OAA’s Practice Tips are accessed via the OAA website and, although written
primarily for Architects and Licensed Technologists, they are also a resource for clients,
lawyers, and other industry professionals. They are meant to be concise and follow a
consistent structure and tone.

In 2024, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH) issued the 2024 edition of
Ontario’s Building Code which came into effect on January 1, 2025. This change in

legislation resulted in the need to update/review multiple OAA resources including PT.03
OBC Code Matrices, PT.19 as well as others in the PT. 36.0 Series on Energy Efficiency.

Key Changes to the Practice Tip PT.36.3 (refer to Appendices 0, 1 and 2)

Practice Tip PT.36.3 was originally published in 2016 to provide members with an
overview of OBC Supplementary Standard SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing, and in
particular the prescriptive compliance paths. PT.36.3 was published as part of the PT.36
Building Energy Performance Series which also includes PT.36.1 Every Architect Needs
to Know About Energy Modeling (being reviewed Fall 2025) & recently updated PT.36.2
OBC SB-10 Energy Efficiency Requirements - Prescriptive Compliance.

In keeping with the role of the Practice Resource Committee (PRC), the members of the
PRC were first involved back in the fall of 2024 in the review of the Practice Tip in
consultation with the Practice Advisory Services Team. To assist the PRC in their initial

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 1 of 3


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-Building-Energy-Performance-Practice-Tip-Series-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-Building-Energy-Performance-Practice-Tip-Series-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-1-Every-Architect-Needs-to-Know-About-Energy-Modeling-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-1-Every-Architect-Needs-to-Know-About-Energy-Modeling-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-2
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-2

Memorandum

review of amendments to PT.36.3, the attached Summary document was provided to the
committee along with the redlined document. See Appendix 0 which provides a high level
summary of the changes as well as the process of review. Due to the nature of the topic,
an Advisory Group was also involved as part of the maintenance project.

Overview of the Process and Input from Various Parties

The first draft was developed by starting with the current version of the Practice Tip, then
adjusting it to reflect changes in organization and content (formatting changes, reviewing
broken links, removing outdated resources, etc). PRC was consulted and indicated that
input was needed from practitioners that work closely with energy codes.

It should be noted that the work on PT.36.3 followed the completion of the updates to
PT.36.2 SB-10 Energy Efficiency Requirements — Prescriptive Compliance and PT.19
ANSI/ASHRAE/IES 90.1-2013 — An Overview of the Energy Standard (refer to June
Council Memos entitled OAA Document Maintenance - Practice Tips Impacted by OBC
2024: Updates to Practice Tip PT.36.2 and OAA Document Maintenance - Practice Tips
Impacted by OBC 2024: Updates to Practice Tip PT.19)

Following input from PRC, the draft was further developed by a subject matter expert
(SME). Then an Advisory Group of OAA members was formed to provide comments on
the content of this draft, based on their project experience. The Advisory Group was also
comprised of SMEs familiar with the application of SB-12 in practice. The group’s
experience was invaluable in finalizing the edits needed to the resource, which included
consideration related to maintenance, formatting, etc.

SME was consulted on feedback received by Advisory Group. PRC has been kept
apprised of the process/progress of the Advisory Group and the final draft version of the
document was shared for final feedback at the September PRC meeting.

Next Steps - Communication Plan and Withdraw Previous Version

In tandem with the OAA’s Communication team, staff from PAS will work on the following
items to support the release of the updated resource following Council’s review:

¢ Update to the OAA website, including edits to other associated resources such as
PT.00 Index to Practice Tips.

e Coordinate the change to the resource with other OAA Programs/ Service Areas (i.e.
OAA Admission Course, CSA Access Program) — if required

¢ Communications to Members: The updated Practice Tip will be posted on the
website, featured in an upcoming issue of the OAA’s Practice Advisory Newsletter as
well as social media.

Action

Council is asked to consider the following motion:

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 3


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-2
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-19
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-19
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-00-Index-to-Practice-Tips

Memorandum

It was moved by Yeung and seconded by .... That Council to endorse the revised OAA
Practice Tip PT.36.3 OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing — Prescriptive
Compliance as presented to Council on September 18, 2025.

Attachments

¢ Attachment 0: Executive Summary (Main Technical and Editorial Changes to
PT.36.3)

o Attachment 1: REDLINE - PT.36.3 OBC SB-12, Energy Efficiency Requirements —
Prescriptive Compliance (version 2.1)

e Attachment 2: CLEAN PT.36.3 OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing —
Prescriptive Compliance (New Title) (version 3.0)

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 3 of 3



Practice Tip PT.36.3 - OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing —
Prescriptive Compliance (Proposed Updated Title)
Executive Summary

Updated September 8, 2025

Background

e This Practice Tip was originally published in August 2016 to provide OAA members with an overview of OBC
Supplementary Standard SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing and in particular the prescriptive compliance path.
e PT.36.3 was published as part of the PT.36 Building Energy Performance Series which also includes:
o PT.36.1 Every Architect Needs to Know About Energy Modeling
o PT.36.2 OBC SB-10 — Energy Efficiency Requirements, Prescriptive Compliance

Requirement to Update

¢ Inlight of the release of OBC 2024, this resource was identified as part of list of resources needing updates.
e PT.36.3 was updated in March 2017 to address the July 2016 update to SB-12 and re-issued for a minor logo
update in 2020.

Overview of the Process and Input from Various Parties

e Practice Resource Committee (PRC) were requested to review the Practice Tip in Oct '24 and to
provide comments (usefulness, suggestions for improvements, etc). Although PRC members agreed
this resource is useful, minimal comments were received as most PRC members, at the time, had
limited experience with Part 9 housing projects.
e The update to PT.36.3 was started following the completion of the updates to PT.36.2 SB-10 Energy
Efficiency Requirements — Prescriptive Compliance and PT.19 ANSI/ASHRAE/IES 90.1-2013 — An
Overview of the Energy Standard
e The update to this Practice Tip included the following volunteer efforts:
o PAS enlisted the help of SME Stephen Pope to review and provide a first draft of proposed updates and
edits.
o PAS then assembled a project specific Advisory Group to review this draft for comments and further
proposed edits. The group includes SMEs Eman Abdelsabour and Andy Thomson.
o Afinal draft was prepared by SME Stephen Pope to address all applicable commentary provided by the
Advisory Group.
e PRC were requested to review the last draft prepared by the SME at the PRC meeting held on Sep 4,
2025. Minor editorial comments were provided and incorporated into the final draft to be reviewed by
Council.

Organization of PT.36.3 & Proposed Changes

e Minor revision to the title to align with the title of SB-12 in the OBC
o Current: OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency Requirements — Prescriptive Compliance
o Proposed: OBC SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing — Prescriptive Compliance
e Updates to reflect 2024 OBC requirements.

>
. Ontario Association
A of Architects 1of2



o This included an extensive re-write/re-organization to this Practice Tip as the current version focuses on
comparing the differences between the requirements before and after Jan 2017, and thus much of the
information is outdated.

e Addition of contextual information to help describe the general intent of SB-12, in particular the use compliance
packages

e Addition of information to point out key requirements/concepts

e Addition of information for best practices/suggested procedures

e Addition of information to help clarify some of the technical requirements

e Removal and updates to outdated references and resources

e Removal of list of Definitions, so as not to duplicate the information found in the referenced standards themselves

e Removal of list of Software (to avoid ‘endorsement’ of products)

¢ Removal of the term Architect, replaced by the term Certificate of Practice holder (to be inclusive to all OAA
members)

Next Steps

o Final draft is to be presented to Council on Sep 18, 2025 for review and endorsement.
e Update membership Fall 2025.

>
Ontario Association
A of Architects 2 0f 2



7 _ o Practice Tip — PT.36.3
Ontario Association Version 2.43.0
A of Architects Mareh 27, 2017Xxx XX, 2025

OBC SB-12

Energy Efficiency Reguirementsfor Housing — Prescriptive
Compliance

©2025, 2017, 2016 Ontario Association of Architects (OAA). OAA members in good standing may reproduce or distribute this Practice
Tip provided this copyright notice is affixed to any reproduced or distributed copy. No rights are granted to any other person, except with
express prior written consent from the OAA. The OAA reserves all other rights.

Summary

The 2024 Ontario Building Code’s (OBC) Part 12, Resource Conservation and Environmental Integrity,
requires buildings to be designed with a minimum level of energy performance. For residential buildings in the
scope of OBC Part 9, detailed requirements are presented in Supplementary Standard SB-12, Energy
Efficiency for Housing.

SB-12 provides a relatively straightforward path to compliance through pre-designed compliance packages.
The resulting compliance process relies more on the adoption of “compliance packages” than on the
development and coordination of the energy performance of individual building systems, as would be seen in

Page 1 of 9




Part 3 designs demonstrating compliance to SB-10 using the National Energy Code of Canada for Buildings
(NECB) or ASHRAE 90.1, Energy Standard for Sites and Buildings Except Low-Rise Residential Buildings.

The compliance packages represent pre-modelled combinations of building systems that satisfy the building
code requirement, while allowing adjustments reflecting variations in site conditions and budgets. Project
location (climate zone), fuel type, and efficiency of heating systems are at the root of the requirements for the
building enclosure, heat recovery for ventilation, and domestic water heating efficiency.

This Practice Tip focuses on demonstrating code compliance for enerqgy efficiency using the prescriptive
compliance approach, for building permit application.

SB-12 OrganizatienBackqground

The following section provides an overview of the organization of OBC 2024’s SB-12 and identifies some of
the key clauses, with particular focus on the prescriptive compliance path.

Chapter1—— General

SB-12 has been organized into three chapters.

Chapter 1 — General

Providing scope, application, terms, definitions and references, this relatively short chapter is limited to
housing; the definitions, terms, and abbreviations are the same as those used in the OBC itself. Of note are
the following requirements:

e Sentence 1.1.1.1.(4) requires that the energy efficiency of existing buildings comply with the
requirements of OBC Part 10 with respect to changes of use and OBC Part 11 regarding renovations.
Chapter 3, Subsection 3.1.1, Article 3.1.1.11 provides further quidance for additions to existing
buildings.

e Sentence 1.2.1.1.(1) notes the scope of SB-12 as “...a building or part of a building of residential
occupancy that is within the scope of Part 9...” This requirement is read to mean that buildings of
non-residential occupancies within the scope of Part 9 are excluded from SB-12. Non-residential
occupancies (e.g. small retail, offices) within Part 9 buildings must follow SB-10, not SB-12. Refer to
Practice Tip 36.2 for an overview of the SB-10 prescriptive compliance path.

Chapter 2 - Reserved

Page 2 of 9




This chapter formerly discussed energy efficiency requirements prior to January 1, 2017.

Chapter 3 — Acceptable Solutions for Energy Efficiency Compliance

This chapter provides the acceptable solutions for demonstrating code compliant energy performance. There
are three paths with which to demonstrate compliance:

e prescriptive compliance packages (Subsection 3.1.1);

e performance compliance (Subsection 3.1.2); and

e other acceptable compliance methods (Subsection 3.1.3), specifically
o __NRCan’s Energy Star for New Homes Standard v12.6, clause 3.1.3.1.(1)(a) and
o __NRCan’s 2012 R-2000 Standard, clause 3.1.3.1.(1)(b).

Section 3.1 Methods for Achieving Enerqy Efficiency Compliance

3.1.1 Prescriptive Compliance Packages

Prescriptive compliance packages set a minimum standard. Certificate of practice (CoP) holders may exceed
these requirements to align with client goals and project requirements.

Article 3.1.1.1 provides mandatory conditions to be used with each compliance package. Of special note are
the following sentences:

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(1) establishes the climate zones used with the compliance packages.

e Sentences 3.1.1.1.(7) to (9) set out the terms for window performance in each compliance package
relative to fenestration-and-door to wall ratio (FDWR). Houses with FDWR greater than 22% must use
the performance path following Subsection 3.1.2.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(14) requires rim joist areas be insulated to the same level as surrounding walls.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(16) requires each dwelling unit to have a heat recovery device on ventilation
equipment (HRV). Sentence 3.1.1.1.(19) provides additional requirements for HRVs. The principal
conditions of the requirements are also represented in the compliance package tables.

e Sentences 3.1.1.1.(17) and (18) provide the required conditions for houses designed to be heated by
wood burning appliances, ground source heat pumps, and air or water source heat pumps that do not
use electricity as the back-up heat source.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(22) requires the installation of drain water heat recovery devices where there is
space (basements or crawl spaces below showers) to do so.

Article 3.1.1.2 provides the compliance tables for Zone 1, while Article 3.1.1.3 provides them for Zone 2.

Article 3.1.1.11 includes requirements for additions to existing buildings. It presents mandatory conditions or
exemptions for additions in Sentences 1 through 3. Tables of compliance packages for both climate zones
and all heating fuels in metric (SI) and imperial (IP) units are also presented based on that article.

3.1.2 Performance Compliance

Subsection 3.1.2 presents the modelling conditions for comparing a theoretical code-compliant reference
building to the proposed building intended for construction.

e The comparison is based on annual energy consumption, with compliance demonstrated by the
proposed building using less enerqy than the reference.

e The reference building applies one of the relevant compliance packages from the same location,
using the same heating fuel and the same heating equipment efficiency as the proposed building.

e Table 3.1.2.1 presents the conditions for the models being compared.

3.1.3 Other Acceptable Compliance Methods

Page 3 of 9




Subsection 3.1.3 accepts certification under the two listed programs as evidence of compliant designs. Full
documentation from the referenced programs would be required.

Suggested Procedures for Prescriptive Compliance

For the prescriptive compliance path, an individual compliance package that best supports the client’s goals
should be selected. The project requirements and objectives therefore must first be confirmed with the client
and reviewed with the project team to ensure alignment.

Following is an overview of the key steps and considerations required to select an appropriate compliance
package and to prepare a permit application submission. To fully understand all requirements, SB-12 must be
consulted in its entirety, as the information below is not exhaustive.

Page 4 of 9




Page 5 of 9




Page 6 of 9




Considerations when Selecting an Appropriate Prescriptive Package
(refer to Articles 3.1.1.2 and 3.1.1.3):

o ldentify the climatic design region for the project.

o __Ontario Zone 1 includes locations where heating degree days below 18 °C are less than
5,000 (the full table of HDD values is listed in SB-1, Table 1.2).

o ___Ontario Zone 2 includes locations where heating degree days below 18 °C are 5,000 or
greater.

e Is space heating electric? If yes, select the appropriate table as noted in Article 3.1.1.2 or 3.1.1.3.

o ___Note that electric space heating includes the use of air source heat pumps. Use of heat
pumps allows a relaxation of the performance requirements for other building systems in both
Zone 1 (Compliance Package C4) and Zone 2 (Compliance Package C2).

o Where space heating is not electric, identify the type and the annual fuel utilization efficiency (AFUE)
of the proposed space heating equipment.

e Using the climate zone, the energy source, and the heating system AFUE, select the appropriate
table from Article 3.1.1.2. or 3.1.1.3.

e Select an individual compliance package that best supports the project budget, schedule, and
equipment availability. Note the performance values for roofs, walls above grade, walls below grade,
slabs on grade, slab edge conditions, windows and sliding doors, HRVs, and domestic water heating
efficiency. For prescriptive compliance, the proposed building component performance must equal or
exceed all the element performance values in the compliance package.

Fenestration-and-Door to Wall Ratio

The most significant calculation required for an SB-12 submission is the documentation of the fenestration-
and-door to wall ratio (FDWR). The result of this calculation may preclude a project from the prescriptive
compliance path, or it may reduce the maximum U-value for windows or sliding glass doors required by an
individual compliance package.

Per Sentence 3.1.1.1.(7), projects with a FDWR equal or less than 17% may use the requirements set out in
the compliance packages. Projects with a FDWR greater than 17%, but less than or equal to 22% have the
maximum allowable U-value for windows and sliding glass doors reduced in accordance with Sentence

3.1.1.1.(8).

Projects with a FDWR greater than 22% must use the performance path as stated in Sentence 3.1.1.1.(9).

The FDWR documentation process should be completed using the following steps:

1. Calculate the gross wall area using a vertical dimension from grade to the underside of the top-
most ceiling, and plan dimensions taken to the exterior face of the building enclosure.

2. Calculate the gross window and glass door area by summing the rough opening areas of all
windows, skylights, glazing in doors (including sidelights), and sliding glass doors.

3. Divide the gross window and glass door area by the gross wall area to determine the project’s
FDWR.

Opague doors are not included in the FDWR calculation. They are governed by Article 3.1.1.10.

A one-storey sunroom or glazed porch addition to an existing building is addressed separately by Sentence

3.1.1.11.(3).

Special Provisions to Consider

ICF walls

Page 7 of 9




e Where insulation concrete form (ICF) walls are being considered for a project, refer to Articles 3.1.1.2
(for Zone 1) and 3.1.1.3 (for Zone 2) as the ICF wall assemblies described in these articles are
deemed to comply with the thermal values set out in certain compliance packages.

e Although these ICF assemblies are deemed to comply with the relevant compliance packages, some
AHJs may request documentation to confirm compliance. This may include product literature, third-
party thermal resistance testing, or other manufacturer-provided specifications.

Air tightness

e Where the project will conduct air tightness testing, relaxations in the requirements for the enclosure,
HRV performance, and window performance are available as per Article 3.1.1.4.

e The requirements for air tightness testing are given in Sentence 3.1.1.4.(2).

e Performance thresholds are given in Table 3.1.1.4A.

e Performance relaxations are given in Tables 3.1.1.4B and 3.1.1.4C. One substitution per dwelling unit
is available for items in Table 3.1.1.4B. Two substitutions per dwelling unit are available from Table
3.1.1.4C.

e Air tightness testing must follow a recognized standard methodology. Testing is typically conducted in
accordance with either ASTM E779 or CGSB 149.10.

Preparing for a Building Permit Application: Assembling Documentation for SB-12

The benefit of the prescriptive path is its simplicity. All that is required for most of the building enclosure is a
declaration of the design U-values, which is supported by the drawings and specifications. At the time of
submission for a building permit, cut sheets for mechanical equipment may not be available. Drawings and
specifications will need to describe the intended efficiencies for space heating systems, HRVs, and domestic
hot water heating declared in the SB-12 submission.

While the Energy Efficiency Design Summary (EEDS) form is not prescribed under the OBC, it is widely
accepted by the Ontario Building Officials Association (OBOA) and Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJs) as
a convenient way to demonstrate compliance with SB-12. It has become standard practice with building
permit application for CoP_holders, similar to the OBC Matrix. CoP holders may complete the EEDS form if
they have sufficient knowledge of SB-12 and its application to the proposed design.

Page 8 of 9




OBC Volume 1 Division B, Part 12 Resource Conservation and Environmental Integrity

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-1 Climatic and Seismic Data

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-10 Energy Efficiency Requirements

Practice Tip PT.36 Building Energy Performance Series

Ontario Building Officials Association (OBOA) - FAQs for EEDS Forms - Dec 6, 2016
OBOA - EEDS Form: Prescriptive Method - 2017

OBOA - EEDS Form: Performance & Other Acceptable Compliance Methods - 2017

S e S N e o A [

The OAA does not provide legal, insurance or accounting advice. Readers are advised to consult their own
legal, accounting or insurance representatives to obtain suitable professional advice in those regards.

Page 9 of 9


https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/FAQs%20EEDS%20Form%20December%206,%202016.pdf
https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/EEDS_Prescriptive_2017_Fillable.pdf
https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/EEDS_Performance_2017_Fillable.pdf

7 . o Practice Tip — PT.36.3
Ontario Association Version 3.0
Zl of Architects Month DATE, 2025

OBC SB-12
Energy Efficiency for Housing — Prescriptive Compliance

©2025, 2017, 2016 Ontario Association of Architects (OAA). OAA members in good standing may reproduce or distribute this Practice
Tip provided this copyright notice is affixed to any reproduced or distributed copy. No rights are granted to any other person, except with
express prior written consent from the OAA. The OAA reserves all other rights.

Summary

The 2024 Ontario Building Code’s (OBC) Part 12, Resource Conservation and Environmental Integrity,
requires buildings to be designed with a minimum level of energy performance. For residential buildings in the
scope of OBC Part 9, detailed requirements are presented in Supplementary Standard SB-12, Energy
Efficiency for Housing.

SB-12 provides a relatively straightforward path to compliance through pre-designed compliance packages.
The resulting compliance process relies more on the adoption of “compliance packages” than on the
development and coordination of the energy performance of individual building systems, as would be seen in
Part 3 designs demonstrating compliance to SB-10 using the National Energy Code of Canada for Buildings
(NECB) or ASHRAE 90.1, Energy Standard for Sites and Buildings Except Low-Rise Residential Buildings.

The compliance packages represent pre-modelled combinations of building systems that satisfy the building
code requirement, while allowing adjustments reflecting variations in site conditions and budgets. Project
location (climate zone), fuel type, and efficiency of heating systems are at the root of the requirements for the
building enclosure, heat recovery for ventilation, and domestic water heating efficiency.

This Practice Tip focuses on demonstrating code compliance for energy efficiency using the prescriptive
compliance approach, for building permit application.

Background

The following section provides an overview of the organization of OBC 2024’s SB-12 and identifies some of
the key clauses, with particular focus on the prescriptive compliance path.

SB-12 has been organized into three chapters.
Chapter 1 — General

Providing scope, application, terms, definitions and references, this relatively short chapter is limited to
housing; the definitions, terms, and abbreviations are the same as those used in the OBC itself. Of note are
the following requirements:

e Sentence 1.1.1.1.(4) requires that the energy efficiency of existing buildings comply with the
requirements of OBC Part 10 with respect to changes of use and OBC Part 11 regarding renovations.
Chapter 3, Subsection 3.1.1, Article 3.1.1.11 provides further guidance for additions to existing
buildings.

e Sentence 1.2.1.1.(1) notes the scope of SB-12 as “...a building or part of a building of residential
occupancy that is within the scope of Part 9...” This requirement is read to mean that buildings of
non-residential occupancies within the scope of Part 9 are excluded from SB-12. Non-residential
occupancies (e.g. small retail, offices) within Part 9 buildings must follow SB-10, not SB-12. Refer to
Practice Tip PT. 36.2 for an overview of the SB-10 prescriptive compliance path.

Chapter 2 - Reserved

This chapter formerly discussed energy efficiency requirements prior to January 1, 2017.

Page 1 of 5




Chapter 3 — Acceptable Solutions for Energy Efficiency Compliance

This chapter provides the acceptable solutions for demonstrating code compliant energy performance. There
are three paths with which to demonstrate compliance:

e prescriptive compliance packages (Subsection 3.1.1);

e performance compliance (Subsection 3.1.2); and

e other acceptable compliance methods (Subsection 3.1.3), specifically
o NRCan’s Energy Star for New Homes Standard v12.6, clause 3.1.3.1.(1)(a) and
o NRCan’s 2012 R-2000 Standard, clause 3.1.3.1.(1)(b).

Section 3.1 Methods for Achieving Energy Efficiency Compliance

3.1.1 Prescriptive Compliance Packages

Prescriptive compliance packages set a minimum standard. Certificate of practice (CoP) holders may exceed
these requirements to align with client goals and project requirements.

Article 3.1.1.1 provides mandatory conditions to be used with each compliance package. Of special note are
the following sentences:

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(1) establishes the climate zones used with the compliance packages.

e Sentences 3.1.1.1.(7) to (9) set out the terms for window performance in each compliance package
relative to fenestration-and-door to wall ratio (FDWR). Houses with FDWR greater than 22% must use
the performance path following Subsection 3.1.2.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(14) requires rim joist areas be insulated to the same level as surrounding walls.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(16) requires each dwelling unit to have a heat recovery device on ventilation
equipment (HRV). Sentence 3.1.1.1.(19) provides additional requirements for HRVs. The principal
conditions of the requirements are also represented in the compliance package tables.

e Sentences 3.1.1.1.(17) and (18) provide the required conditions for houses designed to be heated by
wood burning appliances, ground source heat pumps, and air or water source heat pumps that do not
use electricity as the back-up heat source.

e Sentence 3.1.1.1.(22) requires the installation of drain water heat recovery devices where there is
space (basements or crawl spaces below showers) to do so.

Article 3.1.1.2 provides the compliance tables for Zone 1, while Article 3.1.1.3 provides them for Zone 2.

Article 3.1.1.11 includes requirements for additions to existing buildings. It presents mandatory conditions or
exemptions for additions in Sentences 1 through 3. Tables of compliance packages for both climate zones
and all heating fuels in metric (SI) and imperial (IP) units are also presented based on that article.

3.1.2 Performance Compliance

Subsection 3.1.2 presents the modelling conditions for comparing a theoretical code-compliant reference
building to the proposed building intended for construction.

e The comparison is based on annual energy consumption, with compliance demonstrated by the
proposed building using less energy than the reference.

e The reference building applies one of the relevant compliance packages from the same location,
using the same heating fuel and the same heating equipment efficiency as the proposed building.

e Table 3.1.2.1 presents the conditions for the models being compared.

3.1.3 Other Acceptable Compliance Methods

Subsection 3.1.3 accepts certification under the two listed programs as evidence of compliant designs. Full
documentation from the referenced programs would be required.

Page 2 of 5




Suggested Procedures for Prescriptive Compliance

For the prescriptive compliance path, an individual compliance package that best supports the client’s goals
should be selected. The project requirements and objectives therefore must first be confirmed with the client
and reviewed with the project team to ensure alignment.

Following is an overview of the key steps and considerations required to select an appropriate compliance
package and to prepare a permit application submission. To fully understand all requirements, SB-12 must be
consulted in its entirety, as the information below is not exhaustive.

Considerations when Selecting an Appropriate Prescriptive Package
(refer to Articles 3.1.1.2 and 3.1.1.3):

o Identify the climatic design region for the project.

o Ontario Zone 1 includes locations where heating degree days below 18 °C are less than
5,000 (the full table of HDD values is listed in SB-1, Table 1.2).

o Ontario Zone 2 includes locations where heating degree days below 18 °C are 5,000 or
greater.

e |s space heating electric? If yes, select the appropriate table as noted in Article 3.1.1.2 or 3.1.1.3.

o Note that electric space heating includes the use of air source heat pumps. Use of heat
pumps allows a relaxation of the performance requirements for other building systems in both
Zone 1 (Compliance Package C4) and Zone 2 (Compliance Package C2).

e Where space heating is not electric, identify the type and the annual fuel utilization efficiency (AFUE)
of the proposed space heating equipment.

e Using the climate zone, the energy source, and the heating system AFUE, select the appropriate
table from Article 3.1.1.2. or 3.1.1.3.

e Select an individual compliance package that best supports the project budget, schedule, and
equipment availability. Note the performance values for roofs, walls above grade, walls below grade,
slabs on grade, slab edge conditions, windows and sliding doors, HRVs, and domestic water heating
efficiency. For prescriptive compliance, the proposed building component performance must equal or
exceed all the element performance values in the compliance package.

Fenestration-and-Door to Wall Ratio (FDWR)

The most significant calculation required for an SB-12 submission is the documentation of the fenestration-
and-door to wall ratio (FDWR). The result of this calculation may preclude a project from the prescriptive
compliance path, or it may reduce the maximum U-value for windows or sliding glass doors required by an
individual compliance package.

Per Sentence 3.1.1.1.(7), projects with a FDWR equal or less than 17% may use the requirements set out in
the compliance packages. Projects with a FDWR greater than 17%, but less than or equal to 22% have the
maximum allowable U-value for windows and sliding glass doors reduced in accordance with Sentence
3.1.1.1.(8).

Projects with a FDWR greater than 22% must use the performance path as stated in Sentence 3.1.1.1.(9).
The FDWR documentation process should be completed using the following steps:

1. Calculate the gross wall area using a vertical dimension from grade to the underside of the top-
most ceiling, and plan dimensions taken to the exterior face of the building enclosure.

2. Calculate the gross window and glass door area by summing the rough opening areas of all
windows, skylights, glazing in doors (including sidelights), and sliding glass doors.

3. Divide the gross window and glass door area by the gross wall area to determine the project’s
FDWR.

Opaque doors are not included in the FDWR calculation. They are governed by Article 3.1.1.10.
Page 3 of 5




A one-storey sunroom or glazed porch addition to an existing building is addressed separately by Sentence
3.1.1.11.(3).

Special Provisions to Consider
Insulation Concrete Forms (ICF) Walls

e Where insulation concrete form (ICF) walls are being considered for a project, refer to Articles 3.1.1.2
(for Zone 1) and 3.1.1.3 (for Zone 2) as the ICF wall assemblies described in these articles are
deemed to comply with the thermal values set out in certain compliance packages.

e Although these ICF assemblies are deemed to comply with the relevant compliance packages, some
AHJs may request documentation to confirm compliance. This may include product literature, third-
party thermal resistance testing, or other manufacturer-provided specifications.

Air Tightness Testing

e Where the project will conduct air tightness testing, relaxations in the requirements for the enclosure,
HRV performance, and window performance are available as per Article 3.1.1.4.

e The requirements for air tightness testing are given in Sentence 3.1.1.4.(2).

e Performance thresholds are given in Table 3.1.1.4A.

e Performance relaxations are given in Tables 3.1.1.4B and 3.1.1.4C. One substitution per dwelling unit
is available for items in Table 3.1.1.4B. Two substitutions per dwelling unit are available from Table
3.1.1.4C.

e Air tightness testing must follow a recognized standard methodology. Testing is typically conducted in
accordance with either ASTM E779 or CGSB 149.10.

Preparing for a Building Permit Application: Assembling Documentation for SB-12

The benefit of the prescriptive path is its simplicity. All that is required for most of the building enclosure is a
declaration of the design U-values, which is supported by the drawings and specifications. At the time of
submission for a building permit, cut sheets for mechanical equipment may not be available. Drawings and
specifications will need to describe the intended efficiencies for space heating systems, HRVs, and domestic
hot water heating declared in the SB-12 submission.

While the Energy Efficiency Design Summary (EEDS) form is not prescribed under the OBC, it is widely
accepted by the Ontario Building Officials Association (OBOA) and Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJs) as
a convenient way to demonstrate compliance with SB-12. It has become standard practice with building
permit application for CoP holders, similar to the OBC Matrix. CoP holders may complete the EEDS form if
they have sufficient knowledge of SB-12 and its application to the proposed design.

References

OBC Volume 1 Division B, Part 12 Resource Conservation and Environmental Integrity

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-12 Energy Efficiency for Housing

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-1 Climatic and Seismic Data

OBC Volume 2 Supplementary Standard SB-10 Energy Efficiency Requirements

Practice Tip PT.36 Building Energy Performance Series

Ontario Building Officials Association (OBOA) - FAQs for EEDS Forms - Dec 6, 2016

OBOA - EEDS Form: Prescriptive Method - 2017

© N o g M w NP

OBOA - EEDS Form: Performance & Other Acceptable Compliance Methods - 2017

Page 4 of 5



https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/FAQs%20EEDS%20Form%20December%206,%202016.pdf
https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/EEDS_Prescriptive_2017_Fillable.pdf
https://v0.oboa.on.ca/files/EEDS_Performance_2017_Fillable.pdf

The OAA does not provide legal, insurance or accounting advice. Readers are advised to consult their own
legal, accounting or insurance representatives to obtain suitable professional advice in those regards.

Page 5 of 5



Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 4.5
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick C
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Kristi Doyle, Executive Director

Kathy Armbrust, Chief Operating Officer

Date: July 28, 2025
Subject: Al Policy for users of OAA technology

Objective: Council to approve the OAA Al Usage Policy

As part of the Governance Committee's Work plan to have an ongoing response to Al,
the attached draft policy was created to provide guidance to people who use OAA
technology on how to use Open/Unlicensed Al in an ethical and responsible manner. The
policy was reviewed by the Governance Committee, SML legal counsel, OAA staff,
including the IT Manager, as well as a variety of external IT experts.

Action

It was moved by... and seconded by... that Council approve the Al Usage Policy.

Attachments

Draft OAA Al Usage Policy

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 1 of 1



>
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

OAA Policy

Policy Name OAA Unlicensed Al Usage
Issue Date June 19, 2025

Revision Dates N/A

Purpose

This policy establishes guidelines for the responsible and ethical use of Unlicensed Al tools by OAA IT users. The intent is
to ensure expectations regarding the use of Al by OAA users are clear while continuing to support users in maximizing
efficiency, productivity and innovation in the operation and administration of the work that users carry out while adhering
to legislation and professional ethics as well as maintaining the integrity of the Association as a regulator.

Scope

This policy applies to all OAA IT users, including Council, Committee members, Volunteers, and Staff, regarding the use of
Unlicensed Al tools for work-related purposes. These tools include but are not limited to ChatGPT, Claude, Bard/Gemini,
GitHub, Copilot, Canva Al, DALL-E, Whisper, Codex, Embeddings, Trello, Taskable, Jira, Monday.com Al and Unlicensed
Al APl integrations and Notion Al. It does not apply to tools that perform standard automation or analytics without generative
capabilities or use of LLM (Large Language Models). For example, software such as Microsoft Excel, SharePoint, Adobe
Acrobat, Outlook rules, and CRM systems like iMIS and Dynamics are not subject to this policy unless they integrate
generative Al features. Use of those tools continues to be governed by other existing IT or data policies.

Acceptable Use
OAA users may use Unlicensed Al tools as follows:
e Support research, policy development, and regulatory reviews related to architecture and practice standards.

¢ Increase efficiency in administrative and operational tasks (e.g., drafting communications, summarizing reports,
automating documentation, creating images).

o Assist with technical writing, content creation, and stakeholder communications.

e Brainstorm and develop ideas for, but not limited to, continuing education programs, events, and member
engagement initiatives.

e Facilitate data analysis and assist in resolving internal or strategic challenges.

Page 1 of 3



Prohibited Use

The following uses are strictly prohibited:

Inputting or sharing confidential, sensitive, or personally identifiable information (e.g., licensee/member data,
internal strategy documents, legal records).

Using Al-generated content without proper human review, especially in regulatory documents, architectural
guidelines, or policy frameworks.

Creating or disseminating misleading, biased, or unethical content that could damage the OAA’s credibility or the
integrity of the architectural profession.

Utilizing Unlicensed Al tools to spread misinformation or create and/or use content that could be considered
discriminatory or harassing. Examples include using Unlicensed Al to determine what an ideal candidate looks
like or using Unlicensed Al to provide information without fact-checking.

Presenting Al-generated content as solely human-authored without appropriate disclosure when necessary.

Al scribes must not be used to record Council or Committee meetings. Al scribes should not be used when
discussing any confidential information, including personal information pertaining to any individual.

Data Privacy & Security

Users must not input information that is protected by provincial and federal privacy laws, which includes individual
member or staff names/data/files.

Users must not input proprietary or confidential information into Unlicensed Al tools. This includes information that
is set out as confidential under the Architects Act and Regulation 27.

All Al-generated content must undergo human validation for factual accuracy, compliance, and alignment with the
OAA’s mission and mandate.

Users are expected to follow OAA’s data protection protocols and comply with all relevant Ontario and Canadian
legislation, including but not limited to PIPEDA and the Ontario Human Rights Code.

Transparency & Professional Responsibility

Al contributions must be acknowledged in externally distributed materials or publications where relevant.

When Al-generated insights inform regulatory or policy documents, users must ensure alignment with the OAA’s
mandate, values, policies, and procedures as well as all pertinent legislation.

It is essential that all material produced with the assistance of Al is thoroughly reviewed and verified by the OAA
IT User before use. This includes checking for factual accuracy, ensuring the tone and language are appropriate
for the intended audience, confirming alignment with OAA policies and professional standards, identifying any
potential bias or misleading information, and making necessary edits to improve clarity and coherence.
Importantly, the individual using or publishing the material remains fully accountable for its content and any errors
or misrepresentations it may contain — not the Al.

Page 2 of 3



Compliance & Enforcement
¢ Any violation of this policy may lead to disciplinary measures, including restricted access to Al tools, training,
formal reprimands, or further review by OAA leadership.
e Misuse or ethical concerns regarding Al-generated content should be reported to the Chief Operating Officer,
and/or Executive Director.
Policy Review & Updates

This policy will be reviewed annually to reflect technological advancements, evolving Al regulations, and the operational
needs of the OAA. IT Users will be informed of significant changes or revisions.

Questions

Any questions or concerns relating to this policy can be directed to the Chief Operating Officer at KathyA@oaa.on.ca.

()
/] Page 3 of 3


mailto:KathyA@oaa.on.ca

Memorandum

FOR COUNCIL MEETING

Memorandum
To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat September 18, 2025
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell (open)
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith ITEM: 4.6
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Registrar, Christie Mills
Date: August 27, 2025

Subject: Council Exemption Request Submissions

Objective: Council Review and Approval of Draft Exemption Requests Submission
Guidelines.

To establish a consistent and efficient process for exemption requests to Council under
Section 33 of the regulations, attached is a draft proposal for Submission Guidelines. The
draft has been reviewed by OAA legal counsel Rebecca Durcan of SML.

To further support procedural efficiency, staff have developed exemption request intake
forms designed to guide applicants through the process while clarifying the intent and
context of their request. These draft forms are appended to this memo; however, they
require additional graphic development and will be refined in consultation with OAA
Communications.

In parallel, the Statutory Framework for Exemption Requests document has been
updated for housekeeping purposes and to include references to limited licences. It is
proposed that this document be appended to the Submission Guidelines to provide
applicants with a clearer understanding of the context in which Council makes its
determinations, thereby enhancing transparency.

Lastly, it is proposed that the existing Council Policy — Exemption Requests issued
January 11, 1996, be sunset. The new draft Council Policy regarding exemption request
submissions supersedes the existing. All existing content is contained in the new policy
and/or supporting documents.

If approved, staff will update all related procedural documents as necessary. The

Guidelines will be implemented shortly thereafter, following completion of any internal
housekeeping.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 1 of 2



Action

It was moved by... and seconded by...that Council approve the Council Policy -
Submission Guidelines for Exemption Request to Council as well as the updates
Statutory Framework document.

It was moved by... and seconded by...that Council approve the sunsetting of the existing
Council Policy — Exemption Requests issue date January 11, 1996.

Attachments

Appendix 1: Draft Exemption Requests Submission Guidelines
Appendix 2: Draft updated Statutory Framework for Exemption Requests
Appendix 3: Draft Intake forms for exemption requests.

Appendix 4: Existing Council Policy — Exemption Requests

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Memorandum

Page 2 of 2



Appendix 1

>
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Council Policy

Policy Name Exemption Requests to Council — Submission Guidelines

Appendix A: Statutory Framework — Exemption Requests to Council

Issue Date September 19, 2025
Revision Dates N/A
Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to establish clear, consistent guidance on the types and volume of documents that may be
submitted by applicants seeking an exemption under Sections 13 or 13.1 of the Architects Act (the Act) or Section 33 of
Regulation 27 (the regulations). This policy is intended to avoid duplication of materials already reviewed by statutory
committees such as the Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) and promote administrative efficiency in decision-
making. The suggested limits set out in this policy are intended to assist applicants in presenting a focused and well-
organized submission, encouraging them to highlight the most relevant and compelling information. This approach helps
ensure OAA Council receives clear, concise submissions that directly support their decision-making process.

Rationale

This policy establishes a framework to guide applicants on the type and scope of documentation that may be most useful
to support their request, with the goal of promoting fairness and clarity in the process. It is intended to support all
applicants—regardless of their access to professional resources—by encouraging a focused approach to submissions
and avoiding the inclusion of excessive or extraneous material that may dilute the relevance of the core information.

One of the objectives of this guidance is to support efficiency and focus. Council’s role is to determine whether an
exemption is appropriate in the public interest, as authorized by legislation. To perform this function effectively, it is
important Council is provided with concise, relevant, and non-redundant information. This framework is intended to help
applicants tailor their submissions accordingly and to support consistent and streamlined decision-making.

For exemption requests related to experience, the Council places significant weight on the recommendation of the
Experience Requirements Committee (ERC), which has the expertise and tools to assess the quality, scope, and
sufficiency of architectural experience. The ERC conducts these assessments using standardized evaluation templates,
structured interviews, and trained assessors to ensure fair, consistent, and well-documented evaluations across all
applicants.

While the ERC’s recommendation is a key input into the process and provides an objective, competency-based
foundation, the final authority to grant or deny an exemption rests solely with OAA Council. It considers the ERC’s
recommendation and the applicant’s submissions alongside its own statutory mandate and public interest obligations,
ensuring decisions are well-informed, appropriately balanced, and aligned with the regulatory framework.

Page 1 of 3



Scope

This policy applies to all individuals submitting an exemption request to Council under the Architects Act and its
regulations. It encompasses both academic or examination-based exemptions and those related to experience, along with
any supporting documentation. Applicants are encouraged to review the Statutory Framework for Exemption Requests to
Council to understand the principles and considerations that guide Council’s decision-making. This document provides
important context for how exemption requests are assessed and decided.

General Document Guidelines (All Submissions)

Applicants may submit the following in support of their exemption request:
e written submission to Council as outlined in the exemption request procedures (maximum three pages);
e current curriculum vitae (maximum two pages);

e up to four letters of support or endorsement from a current/former supervisor or professional reference (maximum
two pages each).

Academic or Examination Exemption Requests
Applicants seeking an exemption from the academic requirements must provide:

e forlicence applicants, a letter from the Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB) confirming the
academic qualifications cannot be certified under its current processes; and

e  concise written rationale (maximum two pages) explaining why the applicant believes their academic background
constitutes an acceptable alternative to the academic requirements under the Architects Act.

Applicants seeking an exemption from the examination requirements may submit a concise written rationale (maximum
two pages) that either:

o explains why the applicant believes their examination background constitutes an acceptable alternative to the
examination requirements under the Architects Act; or

e describes how their knowledge, skills, and experience are equivalent to what is assessed through the prescribed
examinations.

Applicants are not required to resubmit documentation that has already been reviewed by the CACB or examination
authorities as part of their standard assessment processes. No additional academic materials--such as course outlines,
institutional brochures, or copies of diplomas—need be submitted unless requested by Council.

Experience-Based Exemption Requests

Experience-based requests are first reviewed by the ERC in advance of being considered and decided upon by Council.
The Committee has specific processes, tools, and expertise to evaluate professional experience. It does not exercise its
statutory powers under 13(3)(b) or 13.1(3) of the Act but rather provides a recommendation to Council for its
consideration. This recommendation is shared with the applicant in advance of its submission to Council, providing the
applicant an opportunity to respond or submit additional context. Suggested documentation includes:

e bulleted summary (maximum three pages) outlining key project experience or applicant’s roles;
e recommendation from the ERC; and

e applicant response to ERC recommendation (maximum two pages).

()
/] Page 2 of 3


Christie Mills
Provide link to doc on website if approved.


Applicants should not submit to Council:
o full project portfolios;
e drawings or specifications;
e detailed project reports;
o employer performance appraisals; or

e photos, diagrams, or ancillary project materials.

OAA Council may decline to consider documentation that exceeds the suggested limits outlined above. Exceptions may
be granted with prior written approval from the Executive Committee, as communicated by the Registrar. Applicants are
encouraged to be concise and focused in their submissions, highlighting the most relevant information to support their
request. Submitting excessive or unfocused material may detract from the strength of the application and, more
importantly, Council may limit its review to what falls within the established framework to ensure a fair and consistent
decision-making process.

Page 3 of 3



Appendix 2

>
‘ Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Statutory Framework

Procedure Reference Exemption Requests to Council

The following material outlines the statutory framework within which an exemption request to Council is considered.

The principal object of the Ontario Association of Architects (the-OAA) is to regulate the practice of architecture and to
govern its members in order that the public interest may be served and protected. -Among its core mandates is the
requirement to establish, maintain, and develop standards of qualification for the practice of architecture. Standards of
qualifications are administered through & rigereus-licensing processes that areis applied consistently and in accordance
with the Architects Act, R-S:0-1990;-6-A-26-(the Act) and- R-R-O-1990,-Regulation- 27: GeneralENERAL (the
rRegulations). Section 13(1)" of the Act establishes the requirements for licence and section 13.12 the requirements for
limited licencesure, which include academic and experience requirements, examinations and Council -approved courses
of study.

Sections 312 and 324 of the rRegulations enumerates further-the spemﬂc&ef—the academlc examlnatlon and experlence
requirements for, respectively, -licence -
experienceregquirementsforand limited Ilcence However, upon appllcatlonier—Heenee requests for exempt|on from some
of the legislated requirements may be considered by OAA Council as set out in Ssection 33-ef therRegulations:-

33. The Council may, where it is of the opinion that the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge and experience so
merit, grant an exemption from all or part of the academic and experience requirements set out in this Regulation.

OAA Council shall respond to all fermal-and-complete requests for exemption to the academic, examination, and/or
experience requirements for licence or limited licence. The powers and jurisdiction of Council must be exercised within the
principles set out in the Act and rRegulations. Exemption requests are not an avenue to bypass the academic,
examination, and experience requirements that have been set by the rRegulations or to provide a right of review or appeal
from the decisions of either the Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB) or Experience Requirements
Committee (ERC).

The purpose of Ssection 13(1)(d) and (e) of the Act and Ssection 33 of the rRegulations is to provide a procedure for an
applicant who can demonstrate circumstances their qualifications, knowledge, or experience merit exemption.

Background - Licence

Provincial and territorial legislation has given each professional regulatory body both the authority and the responsibility to
establish standards of admission and competence for applicants seeking to become licensed to practisee architecture in
their respective jurisdictions.

Regulatory Organizations of Architecture in Canada (ROACfermally-CALA) have worked collectively to develop and

Page 1 of 8


https://cacb.ca/
https://oaa.on.ca/registration-licensing/experience-requirements-committee
https://oaa.on.ca/registration-licensing/experience-requirements-committee

adopt nationally recognized standards of competence. These standards are embodied in the Canadian Standard of
Competency for Architects, which establishes consistent criteria that licence candidates must meet regardless of their
chosen path to licensure. -Such standards facilitate reciprocal registration/licensing across Canada under a reciprocity
agreement entered inte-by ROAC jurisdictions.

Within Canada, the required professional competence is normally obtained and demonstrated through a combination of
formal education, supervised experience, and professional examinations. The regulators have collectively agreed to
endorse a variety of pathways to licencesure in order to allow broad yet comprehensive and robust access to the
profession for candidates from diverse circumstances. These include options for domestic and fereigna-international

apphcants—andapplicants and are included in the licensure diagram below.

Administersd by the

Administered by the CCUSA RAIC on behalf of CALA
Pri?:;essi;:al Syllabus Work/ Foreign Professional Foreign Professional
: Study Program Education Education
Education
L I I +
Accreditation J' J BEFA Program
Adminizterad
bry thrglg.tllsCBan ¢ ¢
behalf of CALA
Certification Certification Certification Certification
¥ ¥ ¥
Administersd Internship Internship Internship
by tha Canadian i
Architactural i
Licanging + + *
Authoritiea
(CALA) BExamination Examination Examination
| ! } !
- - - -
Licensure Licensure Licensure Licensure

Qualifications

For the purposes of assessing the merits of an exemption request, Council will need to consider the objective of each
legislated licence or limited licence requirement and appreciate how it serves to advance the core function of the OAA —
namely, how to protect the public through the establishment, maintaining, and development of standards of qualification
for the practice of architecture.

Council will need to consider if applications for exemption illustrate how the licence or limited licence requirements have
been met by alternative means and/or the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge, or experience merit exemption.

Academic Qualifications:— Licence

University professional degree programs in architecture may last from five to seven years and provide training which-that
includes critical analysis and integration of knowledge. Canadian programs are currently offered at both the pre-
professional level (e.g. BAS, BES) and the professional level (M.Arch.); however, the professional degree is granted only
at the master’s level. Find out which universities offer accredited programs by visiting the CACB’s website.

All applicants must hold certification of their academic qualifications from CACB the Canadian-Architectural Certification
Beard {CACB)-or demonstrate to the-Council’s satisfaction-ef-Ceuneil that acquisition of such a certificate has not been
possible, by providing documented evidence of the CACB rejection and the grounds for that rejection. Further, they must

()
/l Page 2 of 8


https://oaa.on.ca/registration-licensing/canadian-standard-of-competency-for-architects-
https://oaa.on.ca/registration-licensing/canadian-standard-of-competency-for-architects-
https://cacb.ca/en/accredited-programs/

demonstrate, to the satisfaction of Council, that their qualifications, knowledge, and experience merit an exemption from
this education requirement.

By virtue of By-Law Number 1, the OAA, through agreement with other Canadian architectural regulators, constituted the
CACSB for the purpose of, among other things, certifying the educational qualifications of candidates seeking licensure to
practisee architecture in a Canadian jurisdiction.

The ROAC jurisdictions have established common education standards as detailed in the CACB anadian-Architectural
Certification Beard (CACB) Conditions and Terms for Accreditation for professional degree programs in architecture and
in the Conditions and Procedures for the Certification of Educational Qualifications (Canadian Education Standard). The
accreditation of professional programs in architecture and the certification of education qualifications of architecture
graduates are conducted under the auspices of the CACB in accordance with the standards set by the ROAC
jurisdictions.

The CACB applies the Canadian Education Standard, which has been chosen to enassure that-the assessments are
equitable in each case, while accommodating the varied backgrounds and circumstances of the applicants. This results in
standards for each category of applicant that are equivalent but not identical.

When considering whether an applicant’s qualifications, knowledge, and experience merit an exemption from this
education requirement, Council should be mindful of the CACB assessment criteria.

Curriculum Standards
The CACB evaluation accommodates recognized types of professional degree programs, the most common being:

1. Bachelor of Architecture Program, -requiring a minimum of five years of study (or four4 years following CEGEP in
Quebec);; or

2. Master of Architecture Program, -requiring a minimum of three years of study following an unrelated bachelor’s
degree, or two years following a four-year, related pre-professional degree.

The CACB degree equivalent requires 160 semester hours of academic credit, grouped into six subject areas:
e -General Education and Electives;
e -History and Human Behavior;
e -Environment;
e -Design and Graphic Communication;
e -Technical Systems; and
¢ -Knowledge of the Profession_-(which also includes the legal and administrative context of architectural practice).

If the degree or diploma is determined to meet the CACB equivalent degree in length and general content, the academic
record is evaluated against the Performance Standards. This two-part assessment is the basis for the Assessment
Committee’s recommendation. The Performance Standards are consistent with, but not identical to, the Student
Performance Criteria found in the CACB’s Conditions and Procedures for Accreditation, which are used in the evaluation
of university professional programs in architecture.

Performance Standards

The applicant must demonstrate that-they possess the knowledge and skills defined by the Performance Standards.
These knowledge and skills are the minimum for meeting the demands of an internship leading to registration for practise.
For academic certification, the CACB Assessment Committee will assess the performance standards en-the-basis

()
/l Page 3 of 8


https://cacb.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/CACB-By-Law.pdf
https://cacb.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2017-CACB_Conditions_and_Terms_for-Accreditation.pdf
https://cacb.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2017-CACB_Conditions_and_Terms_for-Accreditation.pdf
https://cacb.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/EducationalQualifications.pdf

ofbased on transcripts and detailed course descriptions. The performance standards encompass two levels of
accomplishment:

e ‘“Understanding” means the assimilation and comprehension of information without necessarily being able to see
its full implication; and-

e “Ability” means the skill in using specific information to accomplish a task, in correctly selecting the appropriate
information, and in applying it to the solution of a specific problem.

The CACB will review the applicant’'s submission, including the program description and detailed course outlines, to
determine if the applicant has met the CACB standards

An alternative way to gain CACB certification in Canada is through the “apprenticeship” Syllabus Program offered by the
Royal Architectural Institute of Canada (RAIC). -The RAIC offers an alternative through a direct, self-paced program of
academic studies, design studios, and practical experience leading to the RAIC Professional Diploma in Architecture,
which —is accepted by the CACB as having achieved the performance standards required for certification of their
education.

The exemption process in the Architects Act is not an alternative pathway to licensure. The standards of educational
qualifications have been developed over several decades. -The OAA has delegated the administration of the educational
assessment process to the CACB, which is aligned with all other Canadian architecture licensing bodies.

In light of the nuance, rigour, and complexity of the current framework for assessing whether an applicant has met the
minimum educational requirements, strong deference ought to be given to the CACB’s framework. Any decision which
departs from the CACB’s framework may result in the unintended consequence of eroding a consistent, fair, transparent
and objective standard for assessing education requirements. Any lowering of the academic standards for entry to
practice may also undermine the public’s confidence in the regulation of the architectural profession.

Academic Qualifications:— Limited Licence

Academic qualifications form a foundational component of the pathway for individuals seeking a limited licence as a
Licensed Technologist. This class of limited licence enables qualified individuals to practise architecture within a defined,
limited scope of work that reflects their academic training and experience. The academic requirement ensures that
applicants possess the necessary body of knowledge to perform architectural services safely and competently within that

Scope.

The OAA recognizes specific programs, such as an Ontario College Advanced Diploma in Architectural Technology, as
providing the technical knowledge, applied theory, and fundamentals required for limited practice. Colleges offering the
three-year Advanced Diploma in Architectural Technology in Ontario are responsible for ensuring their programs fully
comply with the requirements set out in the Ontario College Program Standard: Architectural Technology (MTCU Code
60600), published by the Ministry of Colleges and Universities. This document outlines the mandatory learning outcomes,
essential skills, and general education components that must be integrated into the curriculum. Colleges must ensure that
students develop core competencies such as technical drafting, building science, code compliance, project
documentation, and sustainable design practices.

Requiring a recognized academic qualification ensures consistency, credibility, and public trust in the limited licence class.
Academic qualifications serve both as a quality assurance mechanism and a baseline indicator of readiness,
complementing the practical experience and competency verification components of limited licence.

Although academic qualifications are essential to ensuring that-applicants for a limited licence possess the foundational
knowledge for competent and safe practice, there may be cases where Council could consider an exemption from this
requirement. Such exemptions must be evidence-based, and consistent with the OAA’s mandate to protect the public
interest while ensuring fairness and transparency in registration practices.

Council may consider an exemption where the applicant can demonstrate that they possess equivalent academic

()
/l Page 4 of 8


https://raic-syllabus.ca/raic/raic-syllabus-diploma-architecture

knowledge gained through alternative educational pathways. For instance, an individual who holds alternative credentials
in architectural technology may be able to present a compelling case that-they meet the academic expectations
associated with the limited licence scope.

Importantly, the onus lies with the applicant to provide clear, verifiable documentation that their education satisfies the
intent and learning outcomes of the prescribed academic requirement. Any exemption must preserve the integrity of the
limited licence class and uphold public protection by ensuring thatthe applicant is fully competent to practise within the
authorized scope of the limited licence.

Examination

All licence applicants must complete the current Examination for Architects in Canada (ExAC) or the Architect Registration
Examination administered by National Council of Architectural Registration Board, or demonstrate to the satisfaction of
Council that there are circumstances making this impossible, unreasonable, or unnecessary. Further, applicants for
exemption must demonstrate, to the satisfaction of Council, that their qualifications, knowledge, and experience merit an
exemption from the examination requirement.

The ExAC is an examination for admission that is recognized by all the professional bodies that oversee the architectural
profession in the Canadian provinces and territories. Successful completion of the EXAC is one of the requirements that
ensure the competence of architects.

The licensing examinations prescribed in the rRegulations at Ssection 31(4) are designed to assess whether a given
candidate for licensure demonstrates the minimum level of competence required of an entry-level Aarchitect, te-ensuringe
both public safety and the professional and skilled delivery of architectural services. A competency is defined as a
“knowledge, skill, ability, attitude, or judgment required for entry-level practice.” The licensing examinations focus on those
competencies that have the most direct impact on the protection of the public and on effective and ethical practice.

The priority of the Regulatory Organizations of Architecture in Canada was to create an examination, in English and
French, which-that meets international standards for the development, administration, scoring, and reporting of licensing
examinations. Development and validation teams of architects from ROAC, guided by the test consultants, developed the
ExAC General and Specific Objectives as well as the table of specifications, and wrote the items following strict
metrological properties. ROAC’s goals include the optimization of the quality and fairness of every aspect of the ExAC.
The Committee for the EXAC, with a mandate to oversee the management of the examination, is composed of
representatives from the profession from all regions of Canada who are members of the EXAC Agreement Protocol.

To be eligible to register for the EXAC, an applicant must hold Intern Architect status with one of the Regulatory
Organizations of Architecture in Canada and must have recorded 2800 hours of approved experience in the Canadian
Experience Record Book (CERB). The ExAC is delivered once each year simultaneously across Canada, organized into
four sections, and delivered in four one-half day sessions over a period of two consecutive days.

All limited licence applicants must complete the current OAA Technology Program (OTP) Licensed Technologist
examination or demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that there are circumstances making this impossible,
unreasonable, or unnecessary. Further, applicants for exemption must demonstrate, to the satisfaction of Council, that
their qualifications, knowledge, and experience merit an exemption from the examination requirement.

The licensing examinations mark an essential component of the entry-to-practice requirements. Given the complexity and
rigour of its development, any request to exempt of this requirement ought to be earefully-serutinized-and-examined
through the lens of the public interest.

Experience

()
/l Page 5 of 8


http://www.exac.ca/en/accueil.html
https://www.ncarb.org/sites/default/files/ARE-5-Guidelines.pdf
https://www.ncarb.org/sites/default/files/ARE-5-Guidelines.pdf
https://www.oaq.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/2-Objectives_EN_221019.pdf

Professional licensure serves to protect the public by ensuring that only qualified individuals are authorized to practisee in
requlated professions. In architecture, as in many other professions, academic training provides essential theoretical
knowledge, but it is through structured, hands-on experience that applicants develop and demonstrate the practical
competencies required to practice safely, ethically, and effectively in real-world contexts.

The Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) is a national framework adopted across Canadian jurisdictions to guide
licence candidates through a structured period of work experience under the supervision of licensed professionals. It is
grounded in the aforementioned Canadian Standard of Competency for Architects, which articulates a series of outcomes
and performance indicators that reflect the multifaceted demands of contemporary architectural practice—including, but
not limited to, design development, construction documentation, project management, regulatory compliance, and ethical
conduct.

Similarly, the OAA Technology Program framework guides limited licence candidates through a structured period of work
experience under the supervision of licensed professionals.

This type of competency-based experience ensures thatcandidates have had direct exposure to the complex
responsibilities of the profession, and that their skills have been observed, validated, and assessed by those qualified to
evaluate readiness for independent practice. It also fosters critical habits of mind—such as professional judgment, client
communication, interdisciplinary collaboration, and accountability—that cannot be developed through academic education
alone.

In architecture, supervised work experience ensures a public-interest safeguard, bridging the gap between theoretical
training and the capacity to perform competently without supervision. It also reinforces a practitioner’s understanding of
relevant laws, codes, contracts, professional standards, and performance expectations—all of which may differ
significantly between jurisdictions.

While hands-on experience is a cornerstone of safe and competent professional practice, Council may consider
exemptions from prescribed experience requirements. Such decisions must be firmly grounded in the public interest,
consistent with the regulator’s legislative mandate.

An exemption may be considered where the applicant can provide clear, documented evidence that they have acquired
equivalent competencies through alternate means. This could include substantial supervised experience gained in a
comparable jurisdiction, independent practice as a licensed professional elsewhere, or other forms of practical experience
that meet the intent of the prescribed requirements. Exemptions may also be considered where the individual
demonstrably possesses the necessary competencies and where participation in the prescribed program is not feasible.

In all cases, the onus rests with the applicant to demonstrate thatthey have met the intent of the prescribed experience
requirements. Exemptions must not compromise public protection or dilute the standard of practice, but rather provide an
opportunity for those who can substantiate their readiness to practise competently and independently.

Council relies on the recommendation of the Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) to assess experience-based
exemption requests because the ERC has the expertise and established tools to evaluate the quality, scope, and
sufficiency of architectural experience as required by the reqgulations. The ERC uses a standardized evaluation template,
rigorous interview procedures, and trained assessors to ensure consistent, fair, and defensible evaluations of experience
across all applicants. This reliance ensures that Council’s decisions are grounded in an objective, competency-based
review process and prevents unnecessary duplication of efforts. It also reinforces the integrity of the regulatory framework
by ensuring thatexperience exemptions are vetted by those best positioned to assess them.

OAA Admission Course

The online OAA Admission Course is a mandatory requirement for licensure in Ontario. Offered three times a year, it

()
/l Page 6 of 8



covers topics related to regulatory matters, legal issues, and information specific to the practice of architecture in Ontario
and-is-offered-three times-a-year.- The Admission Course is not intended to be an exam preparatory course. It is a
foundational piece created as a practical tool that supplements an applicantintern’s work experience.

—The modules of the Course include the following:
¢ Professional Responsibility, Ethics, and Membership in a Self-Regulating Profession;
e Construction Act;
e Legal Aspects: Professional Liability and Architects’ Contracts;
e Planning and Development Approvals;
e The Building Code Act and the Building Permit Application Process;
e Ontario Building Code Compliance Data: Concepts and Code Analysis;
e Bid Theory and Bid Practice; and
e Contract Administration and General Review.

When reviewing a request for exemption from the OAA Admission Course, Council must consider whether the applicant
has demonstrated that-they have acquired knowledge and understanding equivalent to the content and objectives of the
course. This includes familiarity with Ontario-specific legislation, regulations, professional conduct requirements,
construction standards, and the ethical and practical responsibilities of licence and limited licence holders in the province.

Council should assess whether the alternative education or experience presented by the applicant addresses the public
interest purpose of the Admission Course—namely, to ensure that all applicants, regardless of their prior training or
jurisdiction of origin, are equipped to practise safely, ethically, and competently within the Ontario context. Given the
course’s accessibility—including regular online offerings and reasonable costs—exemptions should only be considered in
cases where clear, compelling evidence shows that the course’s intended learning outcomes have already been met
through substantially equivalent means.

1

13. (1) The Regqistrar shall issue a licence to a natural person who applies therefor in accordance with the requlations and,

a) is of good character;

b) _is not less than eighteen years of age;

c) is a citizen of Canada or has the status of a permanent resident of Canada or is a member of an organization of
architects that is recognized by the Council and that has objects, standards of practice and requirements for
membership similar to those of the Association;

d) has complied with the academic and experience requirements specified in the requlations for the issuance of the
licence subject to any exemption by the Council; and

e) has passed such examinations and completed such courses of study as the Council may set or approve in
accordance with the requlations subject to any exemption by the Council.

213.1 (1) The Registrar shall issue a limited licence to a natural person who applies in accordance with the requlations and,

a) _is of good character;

b) _is not less than 18 years of age;

c) _is a citizen of Canada or has the status of a permanent resident of Canada or is a member of an organization of
architects that is recognized by the Council and that has objects, standards of practice and requirements for
membership similar to those of the Association;

d) has complied with the academic and experience requirements specified in the requlations for the issuance of a limited
licence, subject to any exemption by the Council; and

e) has passed such examinations and completed such courses of study as the Council may set or approve in
accordance with the requlations, subject to any exemption by the Council.

()
/l Page 7 of 8



3 31. The following academic, experience and examination requirements for the issuance of a licence to a person are prescribed for the

purposes of clauses 13 (1) (d) and (e) of the Act:

1.

The person must hold a degree in architecture from a post-secondary institution or must have successfully completed the

2.

Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Syllabus.
The person must hold a Certificate of Certification issued by the Canadian Architectural Certification Board.

3.

The person must have completed the admission course offered by the Association.

4.

The person must have successfully completed one of the following:

i The Examination for Architects in Canada published by the Association.

il The Architect Registration Examination of the National Council of Architectural Reqistration Boards.

i Any combination of the components of the Examination for Architects in Canada published by the Association and of
the Architect Registration Examination of the National Council of Architectural Reqistration Boards that, considered
as a whole, is equivalent to one of those examinations, as approved by the Council.

The person must have completed a total of 3,720 hours of experience, under the personal supervision and direction of a

person authorized to practice architecture in the jurisdiction in which the experience is obtained, that meets the requirements
of the Internship in Architecture Program published by the Association. At least 940 hours of the experience must have been
completed within the three years before the date on which the person applies for the licence.

If fewer than 940 of the total hours of experience required by paragraph 5 were completed in Canada, the person must have

7.

successfully completed the Council approved courses specified in the Internship in Architecture Program published by the
Association.
The person must have completed an experience assessment provided by the Association.

4 32. (1) The following academic, experience and examination requirements for the issuance of a limited licence to a person are

prescribed for the purposes of clauses 13.1 (1) (d) and (e) of the Act:

1.

The person must hold an advanced diploma from an Ontario college of applied arts and technology for a three-year

architectural technology program or have graduated from a three-year college architectural technology program accredited by
Technology Accreditation Canada.
The person must have completed the admission course offered by the Association.

The person must have successfully completed the Examination for Licensed Technologists published by the Association.

The person must have completed a total of 5,580 hours of experience, under the personal supervision and direction of a

5.

person authorized to practice architecture in the jurisdiction in which the experience is obtained, that meets the requirements
of the OAA Technology Program published by the Association. At least 940 hours of the experience must have been
completed within the three years before the date on which the person applies for the limited licence.

If fewer than 940 of the total hours of experience required by paragraph 4 were completed in Canada, the person must have

6.

successfully completed the Council-approved courses specified in the OAA Technology Program published by the Association.
The person must have completed an experience assessment provided by the Association.

(2) Paragraphs 1, 4 and 5 of subsection (1) do not apply with respect to a person who successfully completed the Advanced

Standing Program that was administered by the Ontario Association of Applied Architectural Sciences before its dissolution.

Page 8 of 8



Appendix 3

7 . .

Ontario Association OAA Exemption Request to Council
Z1 of Architects

111 Moatfield Drive 416—44_9—6898

Ec;r:;;z, ON M3B 3L6 gzzl.'zi!::(cjoaa.on.ca Licence _ ArChiteCt

A. IDENTIFICATION (please print)

Name in Full:

Surname First Name Middle Name(s)
Residence Address:

Street Apt. No.

City Province/Territory Country Postal Code
Telephone: Email:

B. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Please complete all that apply, indicate “N/A’ otherwise.

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

Degree/Diploma:

Institution:

Country:

Years Attended:

Was the program accredited in its jurisdiction?

[l Yes [l No [l Unsure

PROFESSIONAL EXAMINATIONS

Name of examination:

Jurisdiction:

Date(s) Written:

Result?

10of 4



[l Pass

Add Additional Entries if needed:

[l Awaiting Result

ARCHITECTURAL EXPERIENCE

Total years of architectural experience:

Jurisdiction(s) where experience was gained:

Date(s) of experience:

From:

To:

Where an exemption is sought from the experience requirement, the applicant’s experience will be assessed by the OAA’s
Experience Requirements Committee, which makes a recommendation to Council for its consideration. The process includes
the submission of detailed supporting documentation.

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Regulatory Body:

Add additional entries if needed:

Jurisdiction:

Status:

(] Active ] Inactive [J Lapsed ] Other
Dates held:

From: To:

OTHER RELEVANT CREDENTIALS

Credential or Designation:

Issuing Organization:

Status:

()
/]

2of 4




From:

0 Active [0 Expired 0 Other

Dates held:

To:

Add additional entries if needed:

C. EXEMPTION(S) REQUESTED

Check all the boxes that require an exemption.

Academic Requirements

g

A degree in architecture from a post-secondary institution or must have successfully completed the Royal
Architectural Institute of Canada Syllabus.

A Certificate of Certification issued by the Canadian Architectural Certification Board.

The admission course offered by the Association.

Experience Requirements

g

0

3,720 hours of experience, under the personal supervision and direction of a person authorized to practice
architecture in the jurisdiction in which the experience is obtained, that meets the requirements of the Internship in
Architecture Program published by the Association.

At least 940 hours of the experience completed within the three years before the date of application for licence OR
successful completion of the Council approved courses specified in the Internship in Architecture Program published
by the Association where fewer than 940 of the total required hours of experience were completed in Canada.

Completion of an experience assessment provided by the Association.

Note: If your request involves exemption from experience requirements, you will be required to attend an Experience

Requirements Committee (ERC) assessment interview. You will be contacted with further information if this is the case.

Examination Requirements

g

Successful completion one of the following:
i. The Examination for Architects in Canada published by the Association.
ii. The Architect Registration Examination of the National Council of Architectural Registration Boards.

iii. Any combination of the components of the Examination for Architects in Canada published by the Association and
of the Architect Registration Examination of the National Council of Architectural Registration Boards that,
considered as a whole, is equivalent to one of those examinations, as approved by the Council.

30of4




Prior to submitting an Exemption Request to Council, applicants should contact licence@oaa.on.ca to receive
information regarding the statutory framework for exemption requests, the submission guidelines, and procedures.

DECLARATION

| declare that the information provided in this request form is complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge. | authorize
the OAA to use the documents submitted in support of this exemption request.

Signature Date

Please retain a copy of this form and all attachments for your records.

(
/] 4 of 4


mailto:licence@oaa.on.ca

>
Ontario Association
Zl of Architects

111 Moatfield Drive 416-449-6898
Toronto, ON M3B 3L6 oaamail@oaa.on.ca
Canada oaa.on.ca

OAA Exemption Request to Council

Limited Licence — Licensed Technologist

A. IDENTIFICATION (please print)

Name in Full:
Surname First Name Middle Name(s)
Residence Address:
Street Apt. No.
City Province/Territory Country Postal Code
Telephone: Email:
B. BACKGROUND INFORMATION
Please complete all that apply, indicate “N/A’ otherwise.
ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
Degree/Diploma:
Institution:
Country:
Years Attended:
Was the program accredited in its jurisdiction?
[ Yes [ No [0 Unsure

PROFESSIONAL EXAMINATIONS

Name of examination:

Jurisdiction:

Date(s) Written:

Result?

10of4



[l Pass

Add Additional Entries if needed:

[l Awaiting Result

ARCHITECTURAL EXPERIENCE

Total years of architectural experience:

Jurisdiction(s) where experience was gained:

Date(s) of experience:

From:

To:

Where an exemption is sought from the experience requirement, the applicant’s experience will be assessed by the OAA’s
Experience Requirements Committee, which makes a recommendation to Council for its consideration. The process includes
the submission of detailed supporting documentation.

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Regulatory Body:

Add additional entries if needed:

Jurisdiction:

Status:

(] Active ] Inactive [J Lapsed ] Other
Dates held:

From: To:

OTHER RELEVANT CREDENTIALS

Credential or Designation:

Issuing Organization:

Status:

()
/]

2of 4




0 Active [0 Expired 0 Other

Dates held:

From: To:

Add additional entries if needed:

C. EXEMPTION(S) REQUESTED

Check all the boxes that require an exemption.

Academic Requirements

[1  Anadvanced diploma from an Ontario college of applied arts and technology for a three-year architectural technology
program or have graduated from a three-year college architectural technology program accredited by Technology
Accreditation Canada.

[J  The Admission Course offered by the Association.

Experience Requirements

[0 5,580 hours of experience, under the personal supervision and direction of a person authorized to practice
architecture in the jurisdiction in which the experience is obtained, that meets the requirements of the OAA
Technology Program published by the Association.

[J Atleast 940 hours of the experience completed within the three years before the date of application for limited
licence OR successful completion of the Council approved courses specified in the OAA Technology Program
published by the Association where fewer than 940 of the total required hours of experience were completed in
Canada.

[0 Completion of an experience assessment provided by the Association.

Note: If your request involves exemption from experience requirements, you will be required to attend an Experience
Requirements Committee (ERC) assessment interview. You will be contacted with further information if this is the case.

Examination Requirements

[1  Successful completion one of the examination for Licensed Technologists published by the Association.

Prior to submitting an Exemption Request to Council, applicants should contact licence@oaa.on.ca to receive
information regarding the statutory framework for exemption requests, the submission guidelines, and procedures.

()
/ 30of4


mailto:licence@oaa.on.ca

DECLARATION

| declare that the information provided in this request form is complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge. | authorize
the OAA to use the documents submitted in support of this exemption request.

Signature Date

Please retain a copy of this form and all attachments for your records.

(
/] 4 of 4



7
Ontario Association
Al of Architects

Council Policy

Policy Name Licence Exemption Request
Issue Date January 11, 1996
Revision Dates May 5, 2010

January 18, 2019
September 22, 2022

Section 33 of Ontario Regulation 27, as amended, states:

"33. The Council may, where it is of the opinion that the applicant's qualifications, knowledge and experience so
merit, grant an exemption from all or part of the academic and experience requirements set out in this
Regulation.”

Council will respond to all formal and complete requests for exemption.
In addition to Ontario Regulation 27, Council may consider the exceptional nature of the circumstances of the applicant
which has prevented the individual from meeting the prescribed licensing requirements.

When making application for exemption, the Registrar will request that applicants provide:

e awritten submission;
e details of the specific requirements in the Regulation which they are unable to meet; and
e aresponse to questions a) and b) below.

a) Why the applicant believes their qualifications, knowledge and experience warrant an exemption from the
Regulation?

b) What are the exceptional circumstances that would warrant Council granting an exemption from the present
requirements for Licence?

Where a request for exemption is received by the Registrar which includes exemption from all or part of the experience
requirements, the Office of the Registrar will forward that portion of the Exemption Request that relates to experience
directly to the Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) for consideration. The ERC will provide a written
recommendation to Council as to whether the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge and experience merit an exemption
from the experience requirement(s). However, only Council may make the final determination.

Any Councillor who sits on the ERC should not participate at the Council meeting in the Exemption Request discussion
and decision in order to eliminate any perceived conflict of interest or bias.

The following are the details of the licensing requirements as set out in Regulation 27 under the Architects Act.

Page 1 of 2



ACADEMIC
1. Education

All individuals must hold certification of their academic qualifications from the Canadian Architectural Certification Board
(CACB), or demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that acquisition of such a certificate has not been possible, by
providing documented evidence of the CACB rejection and the grounds for that rejection; and further, by demonstrating to
the satisfaction of Council that the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge and experience merit an exemption from this
education requirement.

2. Admission Course Lectures

All individuals must complete the current Admission Course lectures, or demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that
there are exceptional circumstances that make it impossible, unreasonable or unnecessary to attend the Admission
Course Lectures and further, by demonstrating to the satisfaction of Council that the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge
and experience merit an exemption from participation in the Admissions course.

3. Examination

All individuals must complete the current Examination for Architecture in Canada (ExXAC) or the Architect Registration
Examination (ARE), or demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that there are exceptional circumstances that make it
impossible, unreasonable or unnecessary to complete this examination; and further, by demonstrating to the satisfaction
of Council that the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge and experience merit an exemption from the examination
requirement.

EXPERIENCE

All individuals must complete the experience requirements as set out in the Canadian Experience Record Book, or
demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that there are exceptional circumstances that make it impossible or
unreasonable to meet the experience requirements set out in the Regulation; and further, by demonstrating to the
satisfaction of Council that the applicant’s qualifications, knowledge and experience merit an exemption from the
experience requirement.

GENERAL
The Office of the Registrar will continue to advise individuals requesting an exemption that, if an exemption from the

academic, examination and/or experience requirements is granted by Council, the applicant may not necessarily qualify
for recognition under the Inter-Recognition Agreement with the United States of America.

()
4 Page 2 of 2



President's Log

Date
June 20

June 20
June 25
June 27

July 4

July 4

July 16
August 12
August 13
August 19
August 20
August 20
August 26
August 28
September 2
September 4
September 11

September 11

September 17
September 18

Event/Meeting

President/Executive Director Meeting
Hamilton/Burlington Society Visit

Society Chairs Meeting

President/Executive Director Meeting
President/Executive Director Meeting

Legal Consultation

Education Committee (under the Trust)
Windsor Regional Society Visit

Society Chairs Meeting

Ottawa Society Visit

Finance & Audit Committee
Northumberland-Durham & Trent Societies Visit
Northwestern Ontario Society Visit

Algoma Region Society Visit

Meeting with legal counsel

Laurentian McEwen School Awards Ceremony
Northern Ontario Society Visit

North Bay Society Visit

Pre-Council Dinner
Council Meeting

Location

virtual
Hamilton
virtual
virtual
virtual
virtual
virtual
Windsor
virtual
Ottawa
virtual
Whitby

Thunder Bay

Sault Ste. Marie

virtual
Sudbury
Sudbury

North Bay

Toronto
Toronto

FOR COUNCIL MEETING

September 18,

(open)

2025

ITEM: 6.1

Attendees
w/K.Doyle

w/Society Chair & members,
B.Birdsell, K.Doyle

w/Society Chairs & Council Liaisons,
K.Doyle, C.Mykytyshyn

w/K.Doyle
w/K.Doyle

w/legal counsel, K.Doyle, C.Mills

w/L.McKendrick. T.Yeung, K.Doyle,
T.Carfa

w/Society Chair & members, S.Vilardi,
K.Doyle

w/Society Chairs & Council Liaisons,
K.Doyle, C.Mykytyshyn

w/Society Chair & members,
J.Lafrance, K.Doyle

w/Committee members

w/Society Chairs & members,
T.Yeung, M.Zawadzki, K.Doyle

w/Society Chair & members, K.Doyle
w/Society Chair & members, K.Doyle
w/K.Doyle, K.Armbrust, legal counsel
w/Faculty & Students

w/Society Chair & members, K.Doyle

w/Society Chair & members, K.Doyle

w/Council
w/Council, staff

Time
8-9:00 a.m.

6-8:00 p.m.

11:00 a.m. - 12 noon
8-9:00 a.m.

8-9:00 a.m.

10:00 a.m. - 12 noon
10-10:30 a.m.
5:30-7:30 p.m.

11:00 a.m. - 12 noon
5:30-7:30 p.m.

9:00 a.m. - 12 noon
5:30 p.m. - 7:30 p.m.
5:00 p.m. - 7:30 p.m.
12 noon - 2:00 p.m.
10-11:00 a.m.

5:30 p.m. - 7:30 p.m.
12 noon - 2:00 p.m.

5:00 p.m. - 7:30 p.m.

7:00 p.m. - 9:30 p.m.
9:30 a.m. - 3:00 p.m.



Executive Director
Report to Councll

September 18, 2025

FOR COUNCIL MEETING
September 18, 2025
(open)
ITEM: 6.2

PRESENTED BY

Kristi Doyle
Executive Director

[7
Ontario Association
A1 of Architects




OAA Strategic Plan

The Executive Director’s Report to Council provides an overview of key operational
and administrative matters as well as updates on progress towards the
achievement of the OAA’s 5-year Strategic Plan. This report also highlights the
activities of the Executive Director since the last meeting of the Council. Specifically,
this report focusses on items not covered elsewhere in the meeting agenda.

Regulatory Leadership

E@ Governance and Operations

s Member Competency

'\&~ Public Education

As we approach the last quarter of 2025, discussion has begun with the OAA Team
Leads regarding year-end service area reports including the status of workplans and
projects that were targeted for completion in 2025. This includes both OAA Committee
and Operational workplans.

In direct consultation with the OAA Governance Committee, a draft outline of the
format and content of Council’s annual January planning session is under
development. A key component of the planning session will include reporting on the
achivements towards the strategic goals and objectives of the 5-year Strategic Plan at
the end of year 4 as well as considering any adjustments to the plan in 2026 which
marks the final year of the 5-year Strategic Plan.

Over the summer months the President and | have been meeting in person with the
members of the OAA’s local societies. These meetings will continue until October and
have been extremely positive to date.The format has been informal with a focus on
understanding what activities the society has been involved in within their community.
We have heard first hand about local society activities that speak directly to the Public
Education pillar of the Strategic Plan. This is a key metric in measuring success under
the Plan. Many of these activities have been carried out with the help of the OAA’s
Society Special Project Funding program. | would like to congratulate the Society
Chairs and their volunteers on their efforts and exciting local programming.



Regulatory

Leadership

National Activities

Mutual Recognition Agreements

On June 26 | had a virtual meeting with my colleagues at the National Council of
Architectural Registration Boards (NCARB) to discuss the status of approval of the
revised ROAC/NCARB Mutual Recognition Agreement (MRA).

NCARB advised that the MRA received approval during their annual meeting of
members boards in June. Over the summer months, NCARB has been communicating
with each of the state licensing boards to confirm that they will continue (or become)
participants of the new and improved MRA.

On August 25, along with members of the Team in the Office of the Registrar, | met
again with NCARB staff to review implementation and administrative elements of the
updated MRA.

The intent is for the new MRA to be in effect by early 2026. A joint communication will
be drafted via NCARB and OAA communications teams, on behalf of ROAC. This
update will also be provided to the ROAC Board of Directors in October.

As noted in my June report, | was invited to speak on July 7 in Toronto at the workshop
Going Global: International Opportunities for Canadian Architects. | provided an
overview of the MRA'’s that have been developed between ROAC and other global
jurisdictions. The organizers of the workshop are reaching out to the federal and other
governments in support of increasing opportunities for Canadian architects around the
world. This was a good opportunity to support an activity of a third party that is focused
on advocacy for the profession.

On July 9, on behalf of ROAC, | participated in a brief interview with a representative
from a research firm that has been engaged by the Mexican government to develop a
case study that examines the Mutual Recognition Agreements (MRAS) in the
professional services sector between Mexico and Canada.

On September 15 | will participate in a meeting with representatives of both NCARB
and our Mexican counterpart, FCARM, to discuss relaunch of the updated Tri-National
Agreement between Canada/US and Mexico.

Examination for Architects in Canada
National EXAC Working Group

The National EXAC Working Group was very active over the summer months
interviewing vendors and their solutions for updating the existing software platform for
item authoring, items banking and test generation. As part of the process, potential
vendors provided a demonstration/testing experience for the group which also



mﬁ@l Governance

and Operations

included ExAC'’s three expert test consultants. The Working Group is currently
preparing a report for the ROAC Board meeting in October which will include a
recommendation for a new examination software platform, along with costing, required
resources, and a schedule for implementation.

ExAC Budget Development

As a reminder, the OAA is responsible for the oversight and administration of the
finances for EXAC, on behalf of ROAC. | worked closely with the OAA’s Manager of
Finance and ExAC National Co-Administrator to prepare the draft 2026 budget which
will be subject to ROAC Board approval in October.

Regulatory Organizations of Architecture in Canada (ROAC)

The next meeting of ROAC will take place on October 17 and 18 in Montreal. In
advance of that meeting, | participated in a virtual workshop with other ROACExecutive
Directors to finalize workplans for ROAC activities under its new Strategic Plan. The
workplans will be presented to the Board in October.

Meetings with Government

The Registrar and | met with staff representatives at the Ministry of the Attorney
General on September 3 to review the Ontario Labour Mobility Act regulation changes
and any potential impacts to the Architects Act. As Council is aware, the OAA is well
positioned to respond to the new requirements aimed at removing barriers between
Canadian jurisdictions given that a reciprocity agreement between the Canadian
architectural regulators has existed for many years.

Under the umbrella of our involvement in Engineers, Architects, & Building Officials
(EABO) | attended a virtual meeting with stakeholder relations staff at MMAH alongside
EABO Chair Kyle Bentley. The meeting is in direct response to correspondence sent to
the new Minister of Housing in the spring and a request to amend the Building Code to
confirm the requirement for ‘coordination’ by an architect or engineer.

Policy Review

Over the summer, attention was turned to the OAA Council Policy review schedule.
Policies are reviewed on a rotating schedule. As appropriate, specific committees such
as the Governance and Finance & Audit Committees are engaged in the process. Any
substantive changes affecting the intent of a Policy are always subject to Council
approval. Minor updates such as title changes or reference updates are considered
housekeeping and are implemented by staff. Revision dates are tracked.

Meetings of the Trustees and Education Committee under the Trust

The annual meeting of the Trustees was held on June 24 followed by the annual
meeting of the Education Committee under the Trust on July 16. Terms of reference
for each of these can be found in the OAA Council SharePoint portal.



O
PAOLAN

@& Public
m -

Education &

Awareness

Relationship Building

Since the June Council meeting, | have had the opportunity to meet with Pro-Demnity
CEO Bruce Palmer as well as the CEOs of the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada

(RAIC) and the Association of Registered Interior Designers Ontario (ARIDO). These
periodic meetings facilitate sharing of information between like organizations and an
opportunity to consider ways to collaborate and/or support common initiatives as
appropriate.

On my behalf, OAA’s Continuing Education Lead Ashley Ward attended the grand
opening of the Ontario Association of Building Officials new training facility in
Mississauga in June.

Peer to Peer training

After a short break, the OAA’s staff ‘peer to peer’ training program resumed the second
week of September as a component of our weekly staff meetings. This program has
proven to be an excellent way to share information between the various OAA service
areas as well as deepen the understanding of the mandate of the OAA and Council in
general among staff.

OAA Budget Development

Under the direction of the Manager of Finance, staff have been involved in budget
discussions pertaining to their specific service area over the summer months to aid in
the development of the 2026 draft budget. In cooperation with the Manager, we
presented the first draft to the Finance & Audit Committee on August 20.

Outreach with Carleton University — Azrieli School of Architecture

Once again, | have been invited to participate in the school’s professional practice
course. The objective of my presentation, scheduled for September 18 is to introduce
students to the OAA as an organization, to develop a positive connection and
understanding of what the OAA does, how it is organized and governed as well as how
students can get involved, now and into the future. The Registrar and Deputy Registrar
are also part of the lecture series and will focus more directly on the path to licensure
as well as the regulation of the architectural profession.

Construction & Design Alliance Ontario (CDAO)

A meeting of the CDAO Forum was held on June 23. The CDAOQO’s Procurement Guide
has been finalized and is with a graphic designer now for completion.

The next Forum meeting, including the annual meeting of members, will take place on
September 23 at the OAA Headquatrters. It is hoped that all 17 member organizations
will attend at the building. As a member of the CDAO Board | will be attending on
behalf of the OAA along with OAA Manager Policy & Government Relations.

Informational Videos
Scripting work should be underway shortly for three short informational videos that will



focus on topics identified through our intern survey earlier this year. These topics
include:

e recording experience, mentors + supervisors

e knowledge + understanding competency assessments (including ExAC, ROAC
course)

e what to expect after licensure

These videos had been identified as a project for 2025 under the Strategic Plan pillar of
public education and outreach. This project will flow into 2026.



Office of the Registrar Statistical Report

FOR THE PERIOD JUNE 4 TO SEPTEMBER 3, 2025

FOR COUNCIL MEETING
September 18, 2025

(open)
ITEM: 6.3

PRESENTED BY
Christie Mills

l/
Ontario Association
A of Architects



The Registrar’s Report to Council provides an overview of key statutory matters and
statistics, both ongoing and planned. Items of regulatory importance to the
Association include information on the activities of the following:

e The Experience Requirements Committee (ERC).
e The Complaints Committee.

e The Discipline Committee.

e The Registration Committee.

e ActEnforcement.

The report also provides statistical information regarding:
o OAA membership and OAA status composition.
e Licence and limited licence applications.

e OAAcertificate of practice composition.
e Certificate of practice applications.
e  Growth statistics of the above.

The Association’s principal objective is to protect users and potential users of
professional architecture services by governing its licensed members, including
holders of certificates of practice and temporary licences, so that the public can be
confident OAA members are appropriately qualified and meet the requirements at law
to practise architecture. As a self-regulated professional organization, the OAA is
authorized by the Government of Ontario, under provincial statute to establish,
monitor, and enforce standards of practice and performances for its members and
practices. For the purpose of carrying out these objectives, the Association relies on
statutory committees and processes; the statistics of which are highlighted below.

Experience Requirements Committee (ERC)

Upon referral, the Experience Requirements Committee determines if an applicant has
met the experience requirements prescribed by the regulations forming part of the
eligibility requirements for the issuance of an OAA licence or limited licence.

As per Section 13(3)b and 13.1(3)b of the Architects Act, the Registrar, on their own
initiative, can (and on the request of an applicant, shall) refer an application for the
issuance of licence or limited licence to the ERC for a determination as to whether the
applicant has met the experience requirements prescribed by the regulations for the
issuance of licence or limited licence. Additionally, the Committee will determine as
to whether the applicant has met the experience requirements prescribed by the
regulations for the issuance of licence or limited licence in matters related

to Exemption Requests to Council as set out in Section 33 of the regulations.

e No assessments were undertaken since those on June 4 as last reported.

A Fall meeting is planned to review the implementation of the improvements
implemented this year and discuss the development of more and/or revised
assessment questions.

l/
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects 20f 12


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/documents-and-publications/documents-and-publications/licence-exemption-requests

Complaints Committee

As the regulator of the practice of architecture in Ontario, the OAA handles complaints
regarding the conduct or competency of a member or practice of the OAA.

The Architects Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. A.26 prescribes the complaints process to ensure
the public interest in Ontario is served and protected. A complaint may be made if
there is concern a member of the OAA (Architect, Licensed Technologist, a holder of a
certificate of practice, or holder of atemporary licence) has contravened the Architects
Actor has engaged in professional misconduct as set out in the regulations (R.R.O.
1990, Reg. 27, s. 42).

Below are the Complaints Committee statistics for the reporting period:

Total Inquiries’ 24
Total Complaints Opened During Period
Active Complaints with a CC Panel

Held in abeyance

o o M~ BN

Preliminary Review Stage
Closed
Not referred (dismissed)
Not referred (withdrawn)
Not referred (caution)
Referred to Discipline

Registrar’s Investigations?

O O O o o w

Good Character Investigation

Discipline Committee

Discipline decisions are the result of hearings conducted by a tribunal comprising two
senior members of the OAA and a Lieutenant Governor in Council Appointee (LGIC)
from the Discipline Committee. The Discipline Committee hears allegations of
professional misconduct against members of the Association, holders of a certificate
of practice, or holders of a temporary licence.

Allegations may arise through:
o referral of a matter by the Complaints Committee; or

e Council directing the Discipline Committee to conduct a hearing into allegations of
professional misconduct in a specific situation.

The following are the statistics for the reporting period of June 4 — September 3, 2025:

" Any communication about a member’s professional misconduct. This number includes matters that has since been referred to complaints, however, not all
complaints began as inquiries.
2 Not yet referred to complaints

l/
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects 3of 12


https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90a26
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90a26

Registration Committee

Act Enforcement

/]

Ontario Association
of Architects

e There are ten (10) matters to be scheduled in 2025 - although three may proceed
as a combined hearing in accordance with Section 9.1 of the Statutory Powers
Procedure Act (TBD).

The Office of the Registrar plans a full review of all Discipline Committee policies and
procedures in accordance with the Regulatory Leadership goal pillar of the Strategic
Plan.

When the Registrar proposes to refuse (Notice of Proposal (NoP)) an application for
licence, limited licence, certificate of practice or temporary licence; proposes to
suspend or revoke a certificate of practice or temporary licence; or, proposes to issue
a licence, limited licence, certificate of practice or temporary licence with terms,
conditions and limitations, the applicant may request a hearing before the Registration
Committee. The Committee hears the matter and makes a determination as to the
proposal by the Registrar.

The hearing is held before a panel of three members of the Registration Committee. A
Registration hearing is not an appeal and is not a review of the decision made by the
Registrar. A hearing is an opportunity for an applicant to present evidence in support of
their application. The applicant bears the onus of satisfying the Registration Panel, on
reasonable grounds, that they meet the requirements of the Act and the regulations for
the purpose of issuance of a licence, limited licence, or certificate of practice.

The OAA website dedicated to the Registration Committee includes recent requested
hearings and the associated hearing dates. This aligns with the expectations of the
Statutory Powers Procedure Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. S.22 (ontario.ca) and infuses more
transparency on the OAA website. Committee Decisions and Reasons are also posted
for any hearings resulting in a decision and order to issue a licence.

On July 5, 2024 the Chair of the Registration Committee ordered that further
scheduling of Registration hearings be suspended until the Notice of Motion advanced
by the AATO is resolved. This decision was communicated to all hearing applicants on
July 8, 2024.

The Registration Committee statistics for the reporting period are as follows:

e Twenty-five (25) hearings are to be scheduled.

The Act restricts the practice of architecture to members of the OAA providing
professional services through a certificate of practice issued by the OAA. The practice
of architecture includes:

e the preparation or provision of a design to govern the construction, enlargement,
or alteration of a building;

e evaluating, advising on, or reporting on the construction, enlargement, or
alteration of a building; or

e the generalreview of the construction, enlargement, or alteration of a building.

4 of 12


https://oaa.on.ca/registration-licensing/registration-committee
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90s22

Itis an offence for an unlicensed person (including a corporation) to use the term
“Architect” or “Licensed Technologist”. Itis also an offence to hold oneself out as
engaging in the practice of architecture without a licence or limited licence issued by
the OAA.

Misrepresentation of a protected title and misleading claims or advertising
(inadvertently or purposely) could lead the public to conclude they would be receiving
architectural services from a licensed and regulated professional.

The OAA’s regulatory mandate includes acting against those unlawfully providing
architectural services. The Architects Act and its regulations outline specific
exceptions, but outside of these, the OAA may take legal action. The OAA will
investigate when a possible infraction is brought to its attention. If it appears illegal
practice has occurred, the OAA may do one or more of the following:

e Send aninquiry letter advising of the concerns and request specific corrective
action. This is a common first step in the case of misrepresentations.

e Request the individual sign an undertaking and covenant agreement, which
includes an acknowledgment of the breach of the Architects Act and agrees to
compliance in the future.

e Pursue financial damages or injunctive relief through the courts.

Below are the act enforcement statistics for the reporting period:
New matters received for reporting period 22
Active files/ Ongoing investigations 15
Resolved by Legal Counsel
Resolved by OOTR for reporting period
Unable to locate
No breach found

Injunctions (ongoing)

O O w o b~ o

Injunctions (resolved)

Correlated Legislative Matters

/]

Ontario Association
of Architects

Office of the Fairness Commissioner

The Fairness Commissioner assesses the registration practices of regulated professions
and trades in Ontario to make sure they are transparent, objective, impartial and fair for
anyone applying to practise their profession in Ontario.

The Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) supports the Fairness Commissioner in
acting on the mandate set out in the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory
Trades Act, 2006 (FARPACTA) and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA).

50f12


https://www.fairnesscommissioner.ca/en/Professions_and_Trades/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.fairnesscommissioner.ca/en/Professions_and_Trades/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/06f31#top
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/06f31#top

/]

Ontario Association
of Architects

Under this framework, the OFC assesses each regulator’s operations against five risk
factors that may impede the regulator’s ability to apply fair registration practices for the
licensure of domestic and internationally trained applicants; the five risk factors are set out
below:

1. Organizational capacity.

2. The overall control that a regulator exerts over its assessment and registration
processes.

3. Theimpact of major changes to registration practices and relations with third-party
service providers.

4. The ability of the regulator to comply with newly introduced legislative and / or
regulatory obligations.

5. Public policy considerations:
a. Addressing labour market shortages.

b. The ability to promote inclusion and address anti-racism concerns in
registration processes.

The OAA submitted its 2024 RICF report to the OFC March 10, 2025; the report is posted to
the OAA website as per the FARPACTA requirements.
FARPACTA Recent Amendments

Changes to the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act
(FAPACTA) create legal obligations for professional regulators in Ontario. The most recent
amendments include the following:

Legal Obligations In-Effect Date

Third party accountability: These provisions specify the reasonable Jan 1, 2026
measures that a regulated profession must take to ensure thatits
third-party service provider (TPSP) makes its assessments in a way
that is transparent, objective, impartial and fair, including a
requirement for the regulator to enter into an agreement with its TPSP
to address certain prescribed matters.

Alternative documentation: These provisions require that each Policy due to
regulator have an alternative documentation policy and submit it for FClan 1, 2026
review and approval by the Fairness Commissioner (FC).

Parallel processing plan: These provisions require that each Policy due to
regulator develop a parallel processing plan and submit it for review FC Jan 1, 2026
and approval by the Fairness Commissioner.

Registration time standard: These provisions require that each July 1, 2025
regulator communicate its registration decisions to internationally
trained individuals within three months of receiving complete
applications, in at least 90% of all cases.

Third Party Service Providers

Regulated professions that use third-party organizations to assess qualifications must
ensure that these assessments are conducted impartially, transparently, fairly, and

6 of 12


https://oaa.on.ca/publications/detail/Office-of-the-Fairness-Commissioner

/]

Ontario Association
of Architects

objectively. To do this, they must enter into formal agreements with third-party assessors,
outlining key responsibilities and processes. These agreements should specify assessment
criteria, minimum passing scores, the frequency of assessments (wherever feasible,
applicants will have access to exams and other types of assessments at least three times
in a calendar year), and timelines for completing each step. Assessors must also have the
necessary expertise, and decisions must be communicated in writing within 10 business
days, including reasons for negative outcomes and details on competency gaps.
Additionally, third parties must have a fair and independent appeal process, notifying
applicants within 15 business days whether their appeal will proceed and providing
relevant timelines.

Regulated professions are responsible for ensuring applicants receive clear and accurate
information about the third-party assessment process, including timelines, assessment
criteria, acceptable alternatives for required documentation, fees, and appeal procedures.
They must also establish a complaints process for applicants experiencing issues with
third-party assessors and make all relevant information easily accessible online. This
ensures that applicants understand their rights and the steps involved in the assessment
process, promoting fairness and transparency in professional licensing.

For OAA purposes itis reasonable to expect the OFC will consider the CACB, CEXAC and
even NCARB (AREs) to be third party service providers to the OAA. The OFC has planned a
webinar featuring regulators and third parties that have worked together on negotiating
FARPACTA compliant agreements, scheduled for September 22, 2025.

Alternative Documentation Policy

A regulated profession must have a policy outlining acceptable alternatives to required
documentation when applicants cannot obtain it for reasons beyond their control. The
policy must define what constitutes a reasonable alternative, specify processing timelines,
and meet any regulatory requirements.

The alternative documentation plan must be submitted to the Fairness Commissioner for
review and updated if circumstances change. Before implementation, the profession must
respond to any input from the Fairness Commissioner and, if required by regulations,
obtain approval or make necessary changes as directed.

Parallel Processing Plan

The parallel processing expectations require that regulators in Ontario develop a plan
addressing how it will enable multiple registration processes to take place concurrently -
especially where applicants experience delays. Examples identified to date include:

e permitting applicants to enter the assessment and registration process at any
stage, and in any order, that they wish;

o allowing for provisional registration where regulators create alternative registration
classes to provide applicants with opportunities to work in their field while
completing outstanding requirements for full registration; and

e concurrent completion of work experience and final coursework or examinations.

Aregulated profession must submit its parallel processing plan to the Fairness
Commissioner for review. If there are any changes that may impact the plan, it must be
updated and resubmitted. Before implementing a new or revised plan, the profession must
respond to any input from the Fairness Commissioner and, if required by regulations,
obtain approval or make any necessary changes as directed.

7of 12



/]

Ontario Association
of Architects

The Office of the Registrar, the Policy and Government Relations Manager and the
Executive Director will continue to monitor the above developments.

Ontario Labour Mobility Act (OLMA) and Bill 2

Recent amendments to the Ontario Labour Mobility Act (OLMA) under Bill 2 — Protect
Ontario Through Free Trade Within Canada Act, 2025 introduce new requirements aimed at
improving the timeliness, transparency, and fairness of licensing processes for
professionals certified in other Canadian jurisdictions.

The legislation imposes strict timelines for regulators: they must acknowledge receipt of a
complete application within 10 days and issue a certification decision within 30 calendar
days. Given the longstanding ROAC reciprocity agreement for Architects in Canada, the
OAAin is compliance with the 30-day standard (which is also required under FARPACTA).

Another key feature is the introduction of “deemed certification,” which allows individuals
already certified in a reciprocating jurisdiction to be recognized as certified in Ontario for a
one-time, six-month period upon submission of their credentials and satisfaction of any
prescribed conditions.

OAA staff have prepared the necessary administrative procedures that are required for
deemed certified applicant status within the OAA’s registration processes. The September
1, 2025 provincial press release can be found here.

8 of 12


https://www.ontario.ca/page/labour-mobility-between-provinces-and-territories

Office of the Registrar Statistics

Below are the OAA community statistics for the reporting period, indicating current records as well as changes over the year.
The OAA community includes members as defined by the Architects Act as well as prescribed as classes of persons whose
interests are related to those of the Association as defined by the regulations.

OAA Members and Status Holders

Life Member Status
Retired Member Status
Student Technologist
Intern Technologist
Student Associate
Intern Architect
Licensed Technologist
Architect TCL
Temporary Licence
Architect Long Standing
Architect On Leave
Non Practising Member

Architect

OAA Individual Status Distribution September 3, 2025

- 276

| 25

|

0 1000 2000 3000

B OAA Individual Status Distribution Sept 3, 2025

l/
Ontario Association
A of Architects

4000

5000

6000

9of 12



Growth in Individual Status

Reporting Period Growth in Individual Status Year over Year

6000
5239 . . . .
5030 Intern Architect applications for reporting period were 117
5000 Student Associate applications for reporting period were 48
Intern Technologist applications for reporting period were 22
4000 Student Technologist applications for reporting period were 10
3000
1986
1959
2000
701 524
1000 680 518
71 o 61 64 82 o 25 0
0 — ——— — [
Architects Licensed Temporary Retired (incl. Intern Student Intern Student
Technologists Licence Life Status) Architects Associate Technologist Technologist

W 2025 Sept m 2024 Sept

Licence and Limited Licence Applications

Reporting Period Application Trends Year over Year

120 419
103
100
80
65 62 62
60
42
40
20 11 8 1416 12
4 3 4 5 5 5 6
0 lI 00 11 0
0 . - .— - [ O ||
O @ @ 'l > J <2 & & N @
Q')\AQ’ Q}‘o 000 Q,Qg o Q\Q‘ ,oo(\ B &\00 & %be Q)(\O
& F F R NY & & & w N
SEEO S & & &8 ¢ oY o &
. <X S 2 & 2 N
O x & (%) > (@) (o)
3 & NV < ((\Q
W < 3

W Sept 2025 Apps  m Sept 2024 Apps

e Total applications received for reporting period was 110, total approved 93.

e Ofthe 42 firsttime licence applicants, 13 were internationally educated applicants.

l/
. Ontario Association
/1 of Architects 10 of 12



Certificate of Practice
OAA Certificate of Practice Distribution as of Sept 3, 2025

Limited Practice (CoP23) - 60
Lic.Tech. Sole Prop. | 6
Lic.Tech. Corporation | 7
Architect (subject to TCL) Sole Prop. 2
Architect (subject to TCL) Corp. | 6
Architect Partnership . 49
Architect Partnership of Members | 7

Architect Partnership of Corp | 6

Architeot Sole Prop. - [ 529
Architeot Corporation N 127

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400

* TCL refers to “subject to terms, conditions. and limitations”

Growth in Practices

Reporting Period Growth in Practices Year over Year

2500
1978 1970
2000
1500
1000
500
13 o0 8 7 60 63
0 I
Architect CoP Lic.Tech. CoP Architect (TCL) CoP Limited CoP23

W Sep-25 Sep-24

l/
. Ontario Association
/1 of Architects 11 of 12



Certificate of Practice Applications

Reporting Period CoP Application Trends Year over Year

60 57
50 48 45
40 38
31
30
19
17
20 13
. 10 .
10 5 3, 5
00 10 00 o1 1
0 - — [ | —
S > <o <o RY v S % > & & <
& R > O > & RS @ $0 & N %
“:’Q\ W e\/ 3 3 & © <O
& 4 S < S %
- O -O(\ e O 0 (%)
IS R o 3 N
o @ & A &
» W < &
& R
v W
W Sept-25 Apps Sept-24 Apps
Long Term Trends
Growth in Membership - Twenty Year Trend
6000
5310
4924 5053
5000
4014 4144
3692
4000 3458 3568

3324

3097
2785 2955

3000 9495 2523 2566 2626

o 1677 1710 1720 1817 1810 1865 1878 1923 1930 1961 | 1967 | PS8

2000 1573 163
1305 1303 1322 1340 1374 1442 1498

1000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
YTD

=@=0AA Members Certificates of Practice

l/
. Ontario Association
/1 of Architects 12 of 12



Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 6.4.a
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick R
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Lara McKendrick, Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Date: September 3, 2025

Subject:  Unaudited Financial Statements for the Nine Months Ended August 31,
2025

Objective: To provide Council with financial statements and related information
regarding Quarter 3 of FY-2025

As appendices, this memo includes the following financial statements for your
information:

1. Balance Sheet;

2. Statement of Cash Flows;

3. Statement of Revenue and Expenses (comparing 2025 expenditures to 2024,
and showing 2025 approved budget figures by category);

4. Contingency Approved vs Spent (tracking approved expenditures to be charged
to Council Policy Development Contingency and available balance for the year);

5. Committee Statement expenses (shows 2025 committee budgets versus actual
spending); and

6. Statement of Members’ Equity (current restricted and unrestricted reserve
amounts).

>
‘ Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 3



Memorandum

Financial Snapshot — Year-to-date Overview

>
‘ Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 3



Policy Contingency

The total 2025 allocation for the Council’s Policy Contingency is $136,791.

As of August 31, 2025, Council has approved the following initiatives to be drawn from
the Policy Contingency this year.

e $8,000 for Engagement of Survey Consultant.

Note that this amount, while approved has not yet been expensed and therefore does not
appear in the summary of expenses chart above.

The remaining amount in Policy Contingency is $128,791.

Additional Iltems of Note

As of August 31, 2025, the following are additional items of which Council should be
aware.

Revenue

Fees received to date are $8,009,945. This figure represents 101.6% of the budgeted
annual fees revenue.

The 2025 Conference Revenue final amount is $705,193, which represents 86.6% of the
budgeted revenue.

Continuing Education Sessions (Webinars) revenue is currently projected at $65,000,
representing 47.6% of the budgeted amount. This shortfall may be due to a decrease in
demand given 2025 was the start of a new Continuing Education Cycle. To help offset
this impact, the OAA introduced two promotional initiatives during the summer months,
which resulted in an increase in participation.

Expenses

At the end of Quarter 3, Service Areas were asked to update their Budget Projections. As
a result, variances are reflected in the P&L. The most notable changes include a
reduction in expenditures within the Regulatory Service Area, specifically for the
Complaints Committee and Registration Committee, along with lower legal fees. This is
not unusual as we close in on the end of the fiscal year for these regulatory activities.

Conference 2025 invoices and expenses have been received and processed, with the
exception of a few outstanding speaker expenses estimated at $5,000. This results in a
final Conference deficit of $232,811. Despite this shortfall, the organization’s overall
year-end financial position is projected to achieve a surplus of approximately $477,414.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments
Financial Statements for nine months ended August 31, 2025

>
‘ Ontario Association
A of Architects

Memorandum

Page 3 of 3



ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

Balance Sheet
Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

ASSETS

CURRENT

Petty Cash

Cash-CIBC

Cash-Scotiabank

Cash-Premier Investment Account (PIA)
Term Deposits - General

Accounts Receivable

Long Term Member Accounts Receivable
NSF Cheques

Pro-Demnity Accounts Rec.

Accrued Interest

HST - Input Tax Credits

HST Receivable

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid Miscellaneous

Inventory

LONG TERM

Land

Furniture & Equipment
Computer Equipment
Website Development
Building - 111 Moatfield Drive
Building Additions

Accumulated Depreciation - Furniture & Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation - Computer
Accumulated Depreciation - Website Development
Accumulated Depreciation - Building

Accumulated Depreciation - Building Additions

Investment in Pro-Demnity

LIABILITIES
CURRENT

Accounts Payable
Refund Clearing
CEXAC Payable
CEXAC Operating Fund
RBC-LTD Clearing
Stale Dated Refund
HST Payable

Deferred Revenue - Fees
Deferred Revenue - ConEd

Mortgage Payable - Current

LONG TERM
Mortgage Payable - Long Term

EQUITY

Members' Equity

Major Capital Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)
Operating Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)
Legal Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)
Surplus/(Deficit)

2025

2024

500
355,421

0
12,037,468

12,393,388

500
350,553

0
6,001,881

6,352,934

0
-534,679
7,873
2,025
-1,528

0

22,805

0

0

(503,503)

4,438,717
-496,750
7,873
2,025
-617
1,945
66,581

0

4,438,717

(418,942)

152,480
301
8,934

161,714

125,236
150
9,375

134,761

Total Current

470,000
504,660
2,075,663
381,165
10,939,466
2,710,676
Total Property & Equipment
-302,511
-1,029,483
-323,850
-2,839,485
-1,892,674
Total Accumulated Depreciation
Net Fixed Assets

55,846,966

Total Assets

2,528
20,706
791,052
18,061
-1,766
214
19,098

629,708
67

48,457
Total Current

3,715,071
Total Long Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities
64,696,095
2,721,136
2,959,375
285,500
2,685,891
Members Equity Closing

Total Liabilities & Equity

12,051,599

17,081,630

6,388,003)

10,693,627
55,846,966

78,592,192

849,893

629,775
48,457
1,528,125
3,715,071

5,243,196

73,347,996

78,591,192

470,000
594,197
1,889,200
536,082
10,939,466
2,658,345

-359,918
-1,044,473
-489,541
-2,565,815
-1,725,561

10,507,471

17,087,289

6,185,308

48,137,966

10,901,982

48,137,966

69,547,418

613,018
7,264
1,979,019
-1,360,320
-8,428
214
14,110

575,779
16,926

48,458

1,244,876

592,705
48,458

1,886,039

3,908,900

3,908,900

5,794,939

56,830,696
2,583,872
2,158,751

285,500
1,893,751

63,752,570

69,547,510



ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

Statement of Cash Flows
Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

Operating Activities:
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses

Add items not involving cash:
Amortization of property and equipment
Loss on Disposal of property and equipment
Income from investment in Pro-Demnity Insurance Company

Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Major Capital Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)
Operating Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)
Legal Reserve Fund (Internally Restricted)

Cash flows from operating activities

Financing Activities:
Mortgage Payable - Current

Cash flows from financing activities
Investing activities:
Short-term deposits
Purchase of property and equipment
Cash flows from investing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash during the year

Cash, beginning of year

Cash, end of period

2,685,891

635,958

1,166,003
3,677
(27,174)
(84,149)
(138,773)
1,144,910
800,624
0

6,186,966

(145,372)

(145,372)

4,438,717

(423,834)

4,014,883

10,056,477

2,336,911

12,393,388



Statement of Revenue and Expenses
Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

REVENUE
Fees
Classifieds Revenue
Conference Revenue
Continuing Education:
Admission Course Revenue
Continuing Education Revenue
Fundamentals of Architectural Practice
Documents, Job Signs & Other Revenue
Licensed Technologist Exam
EXAC Jurisdiction Exam Fee
Interest Earned
Misc Fees
Room Rental Income
Pro-Demnity:
PCS Transfer
Awards Income
Recovery of Discipline Charges

EXPENDITURES
Council & Executive
AGM (Annual General Meeting)
Committees & Task Groups:
Governance and HR Committee
Finance and Audit Committee
Construction Design Alliance Ontario (CDAO)
Joint OAA/Arido Task Group
Miscellaneous Committee Expense
OAA/OGCA Best Practices Committee
Policy Advisory Coordination Team (PACT)
Council & Executive
Legal:
Legal General
Liaison With Gov't & Other Organizations
National:

Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB)

ROAC
International Relations Committee
RAIC Conference
Tri-National Agreement

Salaries & Benefits Council & Exec

Regulatory:

Committees:
Complaints Committee
Discipline Committee
Experience Requirements
Fees Mediation Committee
Registration Committee
The Interns’ Committee

Exam for Licensed Technologist

Exam for Architects in Canada (ExAC) Jursidiction Administration

Legal:
Legal -Reg Amendments
Act Enforcement
Appeals
Discipline Hearings
Fees Mediation
General
Regjistration Hearings
Salaries & Benefits - Registrar
Practice Advisory:
Legal-Practice
Committees:
Engineers, Architects, Building Officials (EABO)
Practice Resource Committee
Salaries & Benefits - PA
Communications:
Committees:

Communications and Public Education Committee

Internal Public Outreach Program
Content Creation/Publications
Cyber Security Insurance
French Translation Costs
Honors & Awards
Public Outreach & Education
Architectural Awareness Funds
Scholarships and Awards (Trust Fund)
Societies:
Society Liaison Travel
Society Funding
Special Program Funding
Society Chairs Meeting - Conference
Tradeshows and Ongoing Outreach Activities
University Funding
Web Maintenance/Hosting
Salaries & Benefits - Communications
Conference:
Conference
Salaries & Benefits - Conference
Continuing Education:
Continuing Education Advisory Committee
Continuing Education:
Admission Course
Continuing Education
Fundamentals of Architectural Practice
Salaries & Benefits - ConEd
Practice Consultation Service:
Salaries & Benefits - PCS
Administration:
HR Administration
Audit Fees
Bank Charges:
Bank Charges

Fees Processing Charges (Formerly Credit Card)

Visa Service Charges
Computer Operations
Documents, Job Signs & Other
General Expenses
Insurance:

AD&D

Errors & Omissions

Directors & Officers
Mailing Costs:

Postage & Delivery

Member Mailings
Printing & Office Supplies
Subscriptions & Memberships
Telephone & Communciation:

Internet Access & Hosting

Telephone
Uncollectible Accounts
Salaries & Benefits - Admin

Building:
Building Committee
Commercial Insurance
Heat, Light & Water
Maintenance & Security
Mortgage Interest & Fees
Property Taxes
Council Policy Development:
Council Policy Development Contingency
Prior Years' Development:
Landscape Client Representative
TEUI/OpenBuilding.ca
Altus Group - economic impact of architecture
Third Honourable Mention - Landscape Award

Total Revenue

Detail

7,456,461
13,725
618,617

0
148,053
0

19,900
0

0
318,350
0

0
0
0
8,700
3,750

2,104
0
10,771
0
3,200
0
4,406
0

5,834
213,204

0
24,870
40

0
37,888
102,440

0
11,534

454,967

25,420
15,183
3,658
[

161,538
124

0
108,717

0
3,154
44,382
150
17,558
0

20,851
3,647
701,306

37,816
0

0
2,469
553,806

2,232
1618
6,354
7,745

0

63,148
8,673
43,119
57,582
0

1,812
59,685
84,204
2,051
7,500
10,000
30,354

369,022

888,709
152,152

0

0
6,495
14,087

0
260,937

21,830
23,106
0

12,501
20,238

0
548,941

126,249

42,129

[
0
25,000
25,000
0

5,000

8,587,556

871,517

1,108,786

594,091

755,099

1,040,861

281,519

0

996,596

364,881

55,000

86.8%)
0.2%
7.2%

0.0%
1.7%]

0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
3.7%
0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%|

13.0%

16.6%

8.9%

11.3%|

15.5%

4.2%

0.0%

14.9%|

5.5%

0.8%

Detail

8,009,907
8,575
705,193

0
60,180
0

24,275
4,000

0
285,244
0

0

0

0

10
1,125

1,993
2,121
0
1,625
0
2,578
0

3,319
206,734

23,456
0

60,613
90,973
206
1,878

462,190

23,873
10,263
4,034
0

1,400
0

4,383
115,081

8,808
44,961
7,422
17,086
0

11,180
602
723,684

2,319

0
1,429
558,661

4,353

477
8,793
7,745

0
47,444
0

43,993
59,500

5,040
63,450
91,150
3721
0

15,000
34,767
373,474

855,799
155,097

0

2,592
12,508
6,975
265,216

0

45,599
3,007

2,948
10,116
240
146,498
17,485
-2,097

3,615
11,442
37,020
11,018

0

26,611
45,233

12,591
20,741

0
563,624

101,507

9,098,509

857,686

972,776

562,409

758,906

1,010,897

287,292

0

955,690

363,005

8,000

%

88.0%
0.1%
7.8%
0.0%
0.7%
0.0%
0.3%
0.0%
0.0%
3.1%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

100.0%

13.4%

15.2%

8.8%

11.8%

15.8%

4.5%

0.0%

14.9%

5.7%

0.1%

Detail

7,879,844.48
25,500.00
814,462.50

10,000.00
136,500.00
9,000.00
52,000.00

128,242.80
367,104.93

10,000.00

3,500.00
0.00
24,000.00

10,000.00

35,000.00
0.00
7,000.00

4,000.00
0.00
37,640.00
301,847.40

25,000.00
2,000.00

70,700.00
94,833.60

0.00
12,950.00

651,199.51

86,716.63
52,450.00
44,760.67
0.00
120,400.00
0.00

0.00
156,150.00

50,000.00
60,000.00
20,000.00
60,000.00
0.00
30,000.00
120,000.00
1,019,629.84
0.00
49,500.00

19,955.30
787,121.02

13,455.00
30,700.00
17,000.00

9,292.50
10,000.00
67,753.00

87,000.00
58,000.00

10,000.00
65,000.00
151,000.00
16,169.78
0.00
25,000.00
38,554.67
526,204.17

834,827.16
218,523.33

0.00

27,000.00
35,000.00
25,000.00
373,674.89

0.00

91,065.21
46,100.00

3,000.00
15,000.00
500.00
270,999.00
22,000.00
8,000.00

1,358.70
13,854.75
38,433.15

21,300.40

4,792.59
23,430.44
43,741.00

19,000.00
45,000.00
500.00
794,113.77

147,000.00
49,941.15
2,500.00
116,227.94
85,553.74
44,000.00

136,791.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

9,460,155

1,252,171

1,820,107

856,576

1,125,129

1,053,350

460,675

0

1,462,189

445,223

136,791

0.1%

0.0%
0.0%
0.3%

100.0%|

13.2%

19.2%

9.1%

11.9%|

11.1%

4.9%

0.0%

15.5%

4.7%

1.4%|

BUDGET PROJECTION

Detail

8,309,945.00
16,000.00
705,193.00
0.00
9,870.00
65,000.00
5,348.00
52,000.00
4,000.00
121,500.00
367,104.93

4,000.00
0.00
3,500.00
10.00
10,000.00
0.00

10,000.00
0.00

25,000.00

0.00
37,640.00
289,847.40

25,000.00
2,000.00
0.00
60,613.00
94,833.60
0.00
1,878.00

.00
651,199.51

0.00
60,000.00
52,450.00
20,000.00

0.00
10,000.00

0.00

2,600.00
156,150.00

0.00
25,000.00
40,000.00

5,000.00
45,000.00

0.00
30,000.00
30,000.00

1,019,629.84

42,500.00
0.00

0.00
19,955.30
787,121.02

0.00
8,970.00
20,700.00
40,000.00
9,292.50
10,000.00
67,753.00
0.00
87,000.00
59,500.00
0.00
10,000.00
65,000.00
151,000
16,169.78
0.00
25,000.00
38,554.67
526,204.17

938,004.00
218,523.33

0.00

0.00
27,000.00
35,000.00
25,000.00
373,674.89
0.00

71,065.21
46,100.00
0.00
3,000.00
15,000.00
500.00
284,499.00
22,000.00
8,000.00
0.00
3,615.00
11,442.00
37,020.00

18,000.00
4,792.59
23,430.44
45,098.00
0.00
19,000.00
45,000.00
500.00
794,113.77

147,000.00
49,941.15
2,500.00
154,969.94
85,553.74
44,000.00

128,791.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

Total

85.9%
0.2%
7.3%!

0.1%
0.7%
0.1%
0.5%
0.0%
1.3%|
3.8%
0.0%
0.0%

0.0%
0.0%
0.1%

9,673,471 100.0%)

1,206,012

13.1%

1,495,830 16.3%

849,576

1,135,144

1,156,527

460,675

0

1,452,176

483,965

136,791

9.2%

12.3%

12.6%

5.0%!

0.0%

15.8%!|

5.3%)

1.5%!

BUDGET VARIANCE

Detail

109,270
130
71,500
3,652

0

-4,000
6,743
0

0
6,000

0

-10
14,000

10,000
0
3,000
0

0
0

0
12,000
0
0
10,087
0

0
11,072
0

26,717
0
24,761
0
110,400
0
-2,600
0
25,000
20,000

15,000
15,000
0

0
90,000
0

7,000

cococo

>
'S
@
a

10,000

-1,50

cocoooocococodocoooo

-103,177
0

o

cooo

Page 3

Total

-213,316

46,159

324,277

7,000

12,985

-103,177

0

10,013

38,742

8,000




Statement of Revenue and Expenses

Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

Engagement of Survey Consultant
Depreciation
Computer
Building
Building Additions
Furniture & Equipment
Web
Reserves
Legal Reserve
Major Capital
Operating Reserve

Expenditures before Extraordinary & YE Items

Surplus(+)/Deficit(-) Before Extraordinary & YE ltems

Extraordinary & Year End Items
AATO Court Order Costs

Total Expenditures

TOTAL REVENUE|
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

SURPLUS(+)/DEFICIT(-)

Detail

203,002
204,936
99,781
39,004
56,813

21,831

603,625

6,671,974
1,915,582

21,831

6,693,805

8,587,556
6,693,805

9.0%

0.0%

0.3%

100.0%|

Detail

8,000
0
241,299
205,119
133,119
35,361
21,060

635,958

6,412,619

2,685,891

0

6,412,619

9,098,509

6,412,619

1

%

9.9%

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

Detail

321,727.90
273,486.64
177,497.87
47,151.44
28,078.67

847,943

9,460,155

-1

0

9,460,155

9,460,155

9,460,155

%

9.0%

0.0%

100.0%|

BUDGET PROJECTION

Detail
8,000.00

321,727.90
273,486.64
148,915.00
47,151.44
28,078.67
0.00

[

0

0

Total

819,360

9,196,056

477,414

0

9,196,056

9,673,471

9,196,056 100.0%)

477,414

Detail
8.9%
0
28,583
0
0
0.0%
0

Page 4

BUDGET VARIANCE

Total

28,583

266,515

-479,832

0

295,098

-213,316

295,098

5




BALANCI APPROVED

Council Policy Development: 128,791 8,000
Council Policy Development Contingenc)

Presidents Wall 0

Landscape Client Representative 0

Engagement of Survey Consultan 8,000

0

0

0

0

~NouhAwNE

Detail

8,000

coo

Total
8,000

Detail

136,791

BUDGET >ROJECTED BUDGE

Total
136,791

Detail

128,791
8,000

Total
136,791



ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
Committee Statement
Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

2025
BUDGET BUD PROJECTION ACTUAL

Standing Committees 106,050 91,565 6,869
Governance and HR Committee 35,000 25,000 2,121

Finance and Audit Committee 0 0 0
Communications & Public Education Committee (CPEC) 13,455 8,970 0

Practice Resource Committee (PRC) 19,955 19,955 1,429

Policy Advisory Coordination Team (PACT) 37,640 37,640 3,319

Statutory Committees 606,175 444,297 246,304
Council and Executive Committee 301,847 301,847 206,734

Discipline Committee 52,450 52,450 10,263
Complaints Committee 86,717 60,000 23,873
Experience Requirements Committee 44,761 20,000 4,034
Registration Committee 120,400 10,000 1,400

Fees Mediation Committee 0 0 0

Practice Review Committee (Mandate Fulfilled by PRC see above) n/a n/a n/a
Discretionary Committees 147,000 147,000 101,507
Building Committee 147,000 147,000 101,507

Interns Committee 0 0 0
Operational (Staff-led) Committees 0 0 0
Continuing Education Advisory Committee 0 0 0

859,225 682,863 354,680



ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
Statement of Members Equity
Nine Months Ended August 31, 2025

Detail [ Total
Members Equity Year to Date (YTD)

Total Members Equity 73,347,996
Less: Current YTD Surplus from P&L 2,685,891
Less: Allocated Reserves (Restricted) 5,966,011

Legal Reserve 285,500

Major Capital Reserve 2,721,136

Operating Reserve 2,959,375
Less: Pro-Demnity Insurance 55,846,966
Less: Property & Equipment 6,930,098
YTD Unrestricted Members Equity Available for Allocatior 1,919,031
Remaining Unrestricted Members Equity 2025 YE 1,919,031

Any Surplus or Deficit at Year End is transferred to the Members Equity. Council determines at Year End the portion of
Unrestricted Members Equity to be allocated to the restricted reserves.

The Finance & Audit Committee provides recommended amounts to transfer to Restricted Reserves during the budgeting
process in the fall.

Major Capital Reserve Fund

History:

In 2014 the Building Reserve Policy was formalized and issued “to provide a source of sustained funding for Capital
Maintenance and Repair as well as Capital Improvements that cannot be otherwise funded in a single budget year through
the OAA’s existing annual operating budget for repair and maintenance of the building.”

Operating Reserve

History:

In 2014 the Operating Reserve Policy was issued to “ensure the stability of the mission, programs, employment, and ongoing
operations of the organization in the event of a sudden or unexpected negative change in revenue that would affect the
provision of services to members.”

Legal Reserve

History:

The legal reserve fund was established in 2017 to set aside funds for years during which unusually high legal costs arise as
was the case in 2017.




Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 6.5
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick -0.0.8
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Communications and Public Education Committee (CPEC)

Susan Speigel, Vice President & Chair

Mariella Amodio Pearl Chan
Kurtis Chen Jon Hobbs
Carl Knipfel Elaine Mintz
Brigitte Ng

Date: September 3, 2025

Subject:  General Update from the Communications & Public Education Committee

Objective: To provide an update on CPEC initiatives since the May Council meeting.

The Communications & Public Education Committee (CPEC) provides oversight and
advice for consideration by Council and OAA staff on public education and outreach
activities in direct response to the secondary objects of the Association as set out in the
Architects Act:

To establish and maintain or to assist in the establishment and maintenance of
classes, schools, exhibitions, or lectures in, and to promote public appreciation of,
architecture and the allied arts and sciences.

More specifically, the Committee focuses its efforts to advance the public’s understanding
and recognition that architecture is integral to the quality of life and well-being of society
as experienced through a sustainable, resilient, and durable built environment.

Special Project Funding

The Committee met virtually on August 8 to review applications for funding from the Local
Architectural Societies, with the goal to allocate $42,350 ($38,000 + $4350 remaining
from Round 1) to projects that respond to the secondary objects noted above. All
Societies who applied received at least partial funding for upcoming projects. The funds
were allocated as follows:

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 4



Memorandum

Hamilton/Burlington . .

(HBSA) Ontario Heritage Conference 2026 $5,000.00
North Bay (NBSA) | Kid Kits — The Three Little Pigs and The Climate Challenge $5,050.00
Northern Society

(NOSA) BEA(North) Talks $6,000.00
Windsor Region | Bike Windsor Essex, Winter Wheels $3,000.00

Society of
Architects Windsor Public Library Initiative $1,800.00
(WRSA)
London Society of .
Architects (LSA) Nuit Blanche London $5,000.00
Brutalism in Film Trivia Night as part of the Architecture and Design Film
oAl $4,000.00
Festival: Toronto
Toronto Society - . : .
of Architects Expanding the TSA Guide Map: Documenting Beyond Toronto $4,750.00
(TSA) Milestone Celebration + Intern Architect Engagement Session $2,000.00
Exhibit at Pride Toronto 2026: Evolution of Toronto’s Queer Spaces $5,750.00

As part of the discussion,

the Committee also reviewed and considered areas of possible

improvement to the application, administration, and evaluation processes. In particular,
the Committee agreed that there is some ambiguity in the current criteria; the program
would benefit from more clarity about the intentions of the funding and what types of
projects would be eligible, especially whether projects focused on the profession and/or
member competency could be captured under this program.

The Committee requested that staff take comments from the August meeting and
develop a set of recommendations for review at their October meeting. From there, the
Committee will seek clarification and final approval from Council in November.

Keynote Selection

As per their Terms of Reference, CPEC is tasked with selecting the annual virtual
keynote to launch registration for OAA Conference. OAA staff presented a shortlist of
candidates for consideration and the Committee selected Colin Ellard as the 2026

Keynote Speaker.

Speaker Biography

Colin Ellard has worked as a cognitive neuroscientist for more than three decades and is

one of the world’s foremost experts in the application of psychology and
neuroscience to architectural and urban design.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 2 of 4


https://colinellard.com/about/

“I am interested in how the organization and appearance of natural and built
spaces affects movement, wayfinding, emotion and physiology. My approach to
these questions is strongly multidisciplinary and is informed by collaborations with
architects, artists, planners, and health professionals. Current studies include
investigations of the psychology of residential design, wayfinding at the urban
scale, restorative effects of exposure to natural settings, and comparative studies
of defensive responses. My research methods include both field investigations and
studies of human behaviour in immersive virtual environments.” — Colin Ellard

A professor emeritus at the University of Waterloo, Ellard is a much sought-after keynote
speaker and has served as a consultant to a range of types and sizes of organizations,
including governmental agencies, museums, NGOs, architectural firms, and urban design
teams. He also designs bespoke experiments to inform design decisions using both
psychological and biometric tools.

Jury Shortlist Selection

In anticipation of the 2026 OAA Awards season, CPEC members generated a shortlist of
candidates for both the Design Excellence and Service Awards juries.

OAA staff solicited recommendations from CPEC and Council members in advance and
the Committee reviewed candidates based on several criteria including previous jury
experience, personal references from the nominator, and professional/volunteer history.
The Committee also reviewed overall jury composition through an equity, diversity, and
inclusion lens to ensure a variety of perspectives, including experience, geography, and
personal identity would be represented. In addition, a jury facilitator was identified for
each jury—someone familiar with OAA programming and also skilled in collaboration and
consensus-building.

OAA staff are reaching out to gauge interest and availability of those individuals identified
by the Committee. Participation requires considerable commitment and those who sit on
the jury must forego the opportunity to compete in the award competition; it is understood
that not all those who make the shortlist will accept the invitation. Once the juries are
finalized, names will be shared with Council. The hope is the jurors will be secured in
advance of October’s call for proposals to generate interest among potential applicants.

The Committee also noted a few procedural recommendations to improve the review
process — namely, nominators will be asked to submit a brief rationale for any nominees
to ensure the Committee has sufficient information on which to base their decision.

9/10 Curriculum Teacher Supports Review

In mid-July, the Ministry of Education’s Curriculum, Assessment and Student
Success Policy Branch reached out to the OAA regarding new secondary school
Technological Education curriculum. On May 29, 2024, the Minister of Education issued a
new Grades 9 and 10 Technological Education curriculum for mandatory implementation.
This curriculum includes two new courses: Technology and the Skilled Trades, Grade 9,
and Technology and the Skilled Trades, Grade 10.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Memorandum

Page 3 of 4


https://www.dcp.edu.gov.on.ca/en/curriculum/technological-education

To support the delivery of the Grades 9 and 10 Technological Education curriculum, the
ministry developed optional teacher supports, including examples and instructional tips,
that illustrate how students may achieve the learning outlined in the mandatory course
expectations. Teacher supports are designed to help educators plan their work in the
classroom, but they are not a mandatory component of the curriculum.

The ministry invited the OAA to engage in a factual review of these teacher supports.

The OAA accepted this invitation since the skills and competencies to be developed in
these courses are relevant to students who may one day enter the profession. With
support and input from the CPEC Chair, OAA staff reviewed the materials for accuracy
and provided suggested content additions to expand the visibility of architecture within
the materials. The OAA also offered to be a resource should the Ministry require any
further subject matter expertise on the architecture profession in Ontario.

PACT x CPEC Big Think

PACT and CPEC members met on July 7, 2025, for a Big Think discussion about the
2024 Altus report that highlights the economic impact of the architecture industry in
Ontario. The Big Think was very successful and an outreach work plan was developed
outlining target audiences, key messages, and communications tactics to be leveraged.
The outreach plan can be viewed in the attached.

Other Items For Information

e Under CPEC’s advisement, the OAA renewed its agreement with Chatterhigh
— a high school career exploration platform — and is working with Chatterhigh
staff to develop content of greater interest to grade 9 -12 students.

o With input from CPEC. the OAA launched a redesigned homepage focused on
ease of navigation and foregrounding priority content.

e The OAA Podcast continues to build its audience and reached the milestone of
5000 downloads on audio platforms, with over 3600 views on YouTube.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments

Outreach Work Plan - Economic Impact of the Profession.docx

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Memorandum

Page 4 of 4


https://chatterhigh.com/
https://oaa.on.ca/
https://oaa.on.ca/whats-on/podcast

PACT x CPEC Big Think

Raising Profile of the Economic Impact of the Architecture Industry

Goal

To expand public awareness of a recent report funded by the OAA whose findings indicate the entire architecture industry (including design and construction) is
responsible for 17% of Ontario’s GDP.

This collaborative task group examined tactics through the lens of the OAA Public Outreach Plan to align with current public outreach priorities.

Terms of Reference

PACT

“Provide advice for consideration by Council and OAA staff on specific issues and concerns that are policy and/or government focused, i.e. require discussions with
various levels of governments: cities, municipalities, and provincial. The committee will identify emerging policy issues within the industry specifically related to the practice
of architecture in Ontario and coordinate the advancement of those issues in order that the profession has fair and transparent conditions in which to operate in order to
protect the public interest.”

CPEC

“Provide input and direction on the proposed outreach strategy to educate the public about the role of architecture in creating the built environment and its impact on
society including through the objectives and lenses of the strategic plan including EDI, Climate Action and Truth & Reconciliation”

OAA Strategic Priority
Alignment

Public Education: Advance the public’s understanding and recognition that architecture is integral to the quality of life and well-being of our society as experienced
through a sustainable, resilient, and durable built environment.

Climate Action

Advance the position that good architecture is vital to creating resilient communities that respond effectively to climate change.

EDI Awareness

Advance the position that good architecture is essential to fostering inclusive spaces where everyone’s quality of life is enhanced.

1. Government:
- Municipal and provincial government leaders via their key information sources (i.e. strategic advisors)
- municipal officials

Target Audiences

2. Client Groups
- developers
- insurance providers
- procurement professionals

3. Potential collaborators with shared goals
- Local Societies
- Quality in the Built Environment group
- ROAC/other architecture regulators
- Consulting Professional Engineers (whose services reside in the construction sector)

/7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

September 4, 2025 | Page 1 of 2




Task/Activities

Briefly describe specific tactics to engage the target
audiences identified.

Outcomes/Success Measures

For each task, identify its
outcomes and related success
measures.

Key Messages
For each audience, identify the key message(s) to be communicated.

Everything framed as “for the public interest”.

Audience 1: Government

Develop and distribute a 1-pager of the report; create
an analogous page on the website

Number of requests for OAA to
comment/weigh in

- Good architecture is essential, not a luxury

- Architecture is essential to Ontario’s economic health

- Good architecture requires regulated professionals

- Good architecture is a good return on investment (i.e. good architecture is
climate resilient)

Expand Queen’s Park Picks

- Leverage social and traditional media channels

- Work with Local Societies to promote local,
community-focused buildings on a regular basis

- Continue QPP throughout the year through
highlight reels or other serialized content

- Travelling exhibition beyond Queen’s Park

Consistency/regularity/repetition

- Architecture is for everyone

- Architecture is not a luxury service

- Architecture is more than just aesthetics

- Good architecture contributes to well-being

- Good architecture reflects the needs and interests of people

- Architecture is an essential part of the public realm, identity, and
character of place — desirable places promote and preserve great
architecture

Audience 2: Client Groups

Create or source a webinar/presentation/video and
invite:

- Developers
- Insurance providers

Number of viewers

Connect with CDAO to align our messaging on these
findings - “Procurement Day”

Number of attendees

- Good architecture requires regulated professionals

- Architects are qualified to create safe and inclusive spaces

- Good architecture mitigates risks (climate, fire/flood, health + safety, etc)

- Good architecture responds appropriately to context, saving time and
money throughout the design and construction process

- An architect adds value

- Good architecture depends on good/educated clients

- Good architecture creates a discussion/dialogue about the value of
architecture

Audience 3: Collaborators
+ Broader Public

Social media — “discussion” based

- LinkedIn
- Instagram

Number of engagements

Traditional media — newspapers/magazines

Number of earned media
engagements

- Connect to “buy Canadian/buy local” sentiment

- connect the dots with pressing issues and the impact of the profession
(i.e. trade war, weather events, supply chains)

- inform public about the GDP value of the architecture industry in Ontario

/7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

September 4, 2025 | Page 2 of 2




Memorandum

Memorandum
To: Council FOR COUNCIL MEETING
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat September 18, 2025
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell (open)
Jim Buitticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith .
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 6.5.b
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Governance and HR Committee

Lara McKendrick, Chair, SVP & Treasurer Ted Wilson, President

Settimo Vilardi, IPP Susan Speigel, Vice President
Elaine Mintz, LGIC Michelle Longlade, LGIC
Date: September 4, 2025

Subject:  Update from OAA Governance and HR Committee

Objective: To provide Council with an update regarding recent activities of the
Governance and HR Committee.

The Governance Committee met on September 4, 2025. This memo summarizes the
priority items discussed at the meeting.

Act Modernization

The Committee received an update from the Registrar and Executive Director regarding
the work plan for the Act Modernization project. This included a review of items identified
during the audit process and categorization of which type of knowledge sources (Council,
legal, and other stakeholders) are required to provide input for various components of the
project. Regular updates will be provided to Council on an ongoing basis. At specific
milestones, such as the Annual Planning Session, Council review and input will be
requested.

OAA Society Finances and Governance

The Committee reviewed the draft of the new Financial Policy for Societies, which is now
being shared with Society Chairs for their input. The final draft will be presented to
Council in November for approval. The Committee also discussed additional policies
related to society governance, which will be discussed further at the next Governance
Committee meeting.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 2



Memorandum

Member and Practice Survey

The comprehensive survey of both Members and Practices will be launched on
September 9, 2025. A survey consultant, Innovative Research, has been selected. A
Council Working Group has been working throughout the summer to finalize the survey
questions. The Council Working Group is comprised of Councillors Speigel, Yeung,
Richter, Ardiel, Alkasawat, and Zawadzki. Interns and students have also been engaged
in the process. Please encourage participation in these surveys.

Normally, at this time, the OAA would start to prepare for the bi-annual EDI survey. Since
the focus for this year is on the comprehensive surveys, the EDI survey will be postponed
for a year.

Council Dates 2026

The Committee reviewed the proposed dates for the 2026 Council meetings and annual
general meeting of members. See separate agenda item within this Council package.

Annual Planning Session

The Committee discussed the preliminary format and agenda for the Council’s Annual
Planning session in 2026. The Committee will review a more detailed agenda later this
fall.

New Council Member Orientation and Training

The Council Governance Manual is an integral part of the orientation of new members of
Council. The Manual also serves as the key resource for Council’s ongoing governance
training. The Committee did a high-level review of the Manual and confirmed the
contents.

The Committee has reviewed some ideas regarding the ongoing Council training,
including those that will be part of the Annual Planning Session. The Committee
continues to recognize the importance of ongoing training for Council to meet our legal
obligations.

Workforce Planning and HR Updates

The Committee received the usual updates regarding workforce planning for the OAA.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments

None

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 2


https://innovativeresearch.ca/

Memorandum

Memorandum
To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Buitticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 6.5.c
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Building Committee

Lara McKendrick, Chair, SVP & Treasurer
Thomas Yeung, Vice President
Sheena Sharp, Member-at-Large

Date: August 7, 2025

Subject:  Update from OAA Building Committee

Objective: To provide Council with an update on the activities of the Building Committee

The last Building Committee meeting was held on Aug 5, 2025.
Landscape Project

The design continued to be refined based on feedback from the June Council Meeting for
the Landscape Project. The Committee received an update on the status of the
Landscape Project from the OAA Team, which includes Building Committee Chair, Lara
McKendrick, and Client Advisor, Joe Lobko, along with Executive Director, Kristi Doyle,
and COO, Kathy Armbrust. Based on the refinement of the design, updated pricing has
been provided by Somerville. The Building Committee supports the updated design and
pricing. The revised budget is being considered by the Finance & Audit Committee prior
to it being advanced to Council for final review and approval.

OAA Presidents Wall
A ribbon-cutting ceremony and Indigenous-inspired lunch were held on June 19, 2025, to

officially celebrate the new Wall and acknowledge the work of the Past Presidents. Past
Presidents participated in the ceremony and provided positive feedback on the Wall.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 2


https://oaa.on.ca/whats-on/news-and-insights/news-and-insights-detail/Council-Highlights-from-June-2025
https://oaa.on.ca/whats-on/news-and-insights/news-and-insights-detail/Council-Highlights-from-June-2025

Memorandum

Facility Assessment

It has been approximately five years since OAA HQ'’s Renew and Refresh Project was
completed. With the agreement of the Building Committee, Staff are currently conducting
a facility assessment in collaboration with WSP and Architect David Fujiwara to ensure
that the preventative maintenance measures remain effective.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments

None

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 2


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/climate-action/oaahq-renew-refresh-project

Memorandum

Memorandum
To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith September 18, 2025
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance (open)
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick ITEM: 6.5.d
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki
From: Thomas Yeung, Vice President & PRC Chair
Date: September 9, 2025

Subject: Practice Resource Committee (PRC) - Update.

Objective: To update Council on Practice Resource Committee (PRC) activities.

Activities Report — Practice Resource Committee (PRC)

Practice Resource Committee had its fourth meeting of 2025 on Thursday, September 4.
The meeting was conducted virtually and focused on the following key items:

General Updates:

Members were briefed on the June Council meeting and provided a reminder about the
upcoming Council elections, call for Committee volunteers, etc.

Staff provided a brief update on the CSA Access Program for the 2025-2026 period,
including a reminder to the membership on signing up in the upcoming Practice Advisory
Newsletter. PRC was encouraged to provide any recommendations for additions to the
collection for consideration.

PRC was encouraged to bring forward ideas of topics for the Practice Advisory
Newsletter. The next edition is to be circulated at the end of September 2025. The final
one for 2025 is scheduled for late November.

Amendments to the Construction Act. Earlier this year, PAS, with the support of Policy &
Government Relations (PGR) service area, started work on amendments to OAA
resources, in particular the PT.10.0 series as well as the OAA Contracts & Guides. The
project is currently on hold as we await additional details on updates to the regulations
under the Construction Act. Committee was made aware of the recently launched
public consultation on the Regulatory Registry.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 3


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/csa-standards-access-program
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base?subcat=c73a782e-8f82-4012-8d47-18a4d876440a&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subCatsCount=0&SortOrder=newtoold&
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base?subcat=c73a782e-8f82-4012-8d47-18a4d876440a&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subCatsCount=0&SortOrder=newtoold&
https://www.regulatoryregistry.gov.on.ca/proposal/51633

Memorandum

IO Suppl. Conditions to OAA 600-2021: Refer to June 2025 letter “OAA, ARIDO, and
ACEC-Ontario Write to Infrastructure Ontario”. As of this writing, a formal response
from 10 is yet to be received.

Document Development and Maintenance

OAA/OGCA Take Over Procedures (Document 100):

Refer to Council memo entitled “Updates to OAA-OGCA Document 100-2018 (OAA-
OGCA Take-Over Procedures CA)) (September 9, 2025) from Vice President & Chair,
Practice Resource Committee.

Resources Impacted by the 2024 OBC

As per the 2025 Work Plan, PRC will continue to support the review of the 2024 OBC
impacted Practice Tips, including the code data matrices (if needed). Refer to the
December 2024 Council memo entitled “OAA Document Maintenance - Practice Tips
Impacted by OBC 2024’ for reference.

Updates to Practice Tip PT.36.3 (OBC SB-12) — refer to Council memo entitled OAA
Document Maintenance - Practice Tips Impacted by OBC 2024: Updates to Practice Tip
PT.36.3 (September 9, 2025)

Updates to Practice Tip PT 36.1 (Energy Modelling) (OBC Impacted Resource) — PRC was
presented a proposed outline for their feedback to guide the work of an Advisory Group this
fall. As the content of the PT has not been updated since originally published in 2016, the
proposed outline aims to align the resource with current practice and identify key issues
related to the use of energy modeling.

Updates to Practice Tip PT.38 OBC Part 5, Environmental Separation - Durability (OBC
Impacted Resource) — Pro-Demnity has provided their feedback on the latest drafts in
mid-August, which includes the suggestion that the continued use of the template in
Attachment 1 — Sample Durability Letter may no longer be necessary. Staff are
reviewing the comments and continue to work on updates for discussion later this Fall.

Various OAA Documents — Work in Progress (refer to Attachments)
Below is a short list of other documents reviewed at PRC at September meeting:

e Updates to Practice Tips related to CCDC 5A, 5B, and 17 (Construction
Management): Staff, with the support of legal counsel and input from Pro-
Demnity, has started working on updates on Practice Tips in the PT.23.0 Series
impacted by the June 2025 updates to the related CCDC Contracts. PRC was
also given a brief update on the pending introduction of the Canadian
Construction Association (CCA)'s new SignaSur platform.

e Updates to PT.39.1 Best Practices for Review of RFP Language and
Supplementary Conditions to OAA 600 and Other Architectural Services
Contracts — refer to June memo entitled OAA Document Maintenance: Updates
to Practice Tip PT.39.1 (June 10, 2025): The next phase of work has started on
the resource. PRC had the opportunity to discuss different options for organizing
the material to help with the usability of this lengthy resource. Committee
members raised ongoing prevalence of problematic language in RFPs and the
need to continue client/procurement education.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 3



https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/government-relations/government-relations-detail/OAA-ARIDO-and-ACEC-Ontario-Write-to-Infrastructure-Ontario
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/government-relations/government-relations-detail/OAA-ARIDO-and-ACEC-Ontario-Write-to-Infrastructure-Ontario
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-3
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-36-1-Every-Architect-Needs-to-Know-About-Energy-Modeling-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-38-OBC-Part-5-Environmental-Separation---Durability
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base?subcat=9e0149fc-3331-41c5-bb0d-16e5ee5d9d26&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subcat=&subCatsCount=0&QueryExpr=ccdc&cats=KnowledgeBase
https://www.signasur.ca/
https://www.oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-39-1
https://www.oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-39-1
https://www.oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-39-1

Memorandum

e Updates to Practice Tip PT.12 Residential Clients — in progress: PRC has been
invited to review and provide feedback on suggested edits to this resource
originally published in 2009. Feedback was received and discussion revolved
around the tone/audience, with an opportunity to include additional external
resources. The Committee agreed this is an important resource. PAS will review
the feedback this fall.

Other general practice topics/Emerging Issues discussed:

Use of Al in practices: The PRC and PAS continued the conversation on the use of Al in
practice and the impact on practices. PRC was encouraged to share articles that may be
added to the article “Artificial Intelligence Tools and your Practice: List of Resources”
originally published in Issue 37 of Practice Advisory Newsletter.

Document Maintenance: PT.17 Lending Institutions — Architect's Certificates: Last
updated in 2009, Practice Tip PT.17 is being reviewed in anticipation of future edits. The
topic surfaces on the Practice Hotline from time to time. PRC did not have major
concerns about the content and was supportive of exploring inserting language to
encourage members to create early awareness among clients around risks of signing
letters of undertaking.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments

None.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 3 of 3


https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-12-Residential-Clients-
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/Issue-37-Practice-Advisory-July-25-2025
https://oaa.on.ca/knowledge-and-resources/practice-advisory-knowledge-base/practice-advisory-knowledge-base-detail/PT-17-Lending-Institutions-Architects-Certificates-

Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 6.5.e
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Settimo Vilardi, Chair, Policy Advisory Coordination Team (PACT)
Toon Dreessen Ibrahim El-Hajj
Sara Jordao Mary Ellen Lynch
Cory Stechyshyn Ted Watson

Date: September 8, 2025

Subject: Update on the Policy Advisory Coordination Team'’s (PACT) work.

Objective: To update Council on PACT’s ongoing work.

PACT met last on June 18, 2025, and will meet again on September 9. The June 18
meeting was a special edition where PACT selected the 2025 Queen’s Park Picks. More
details about PACT’s work is detailed below.

e Big Think with CPEC: PACT and CPEC members met on July 7, 2025, to have
a Big Think discussion about the 2024 Altus report that highlights the economic
impact of the architecture industry in Ontario. The Big Think was very successful,
and a public outreach plan was developed. PACT will review the plan for any final
comments at its meeting on September 9.

e 2025 Queen’s Park Picks: At its meeting on June 18, PACT officially selected
the top nine QP Picks for this year! There was thoughtful discussion about the 55
nominations received and how each one connected to the conference theme,
“Reshaping Communities”. The consultant continues to research and prepare the
exhibition boards; staff look forward to seeing the final products.

Currently, the Attorney General, the NDP Critic to the Attorney General, and the
Leader of the Ontario Green Party are confirmed to provide remarks at the event.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 1 of 2



Memorandum

This year’s event is scheduled to take place at the Main Legislative Building at
Queen’s Park in Toronto on October 21 form 5:30 — 7:00 p.m.

Council members are welcome to attend and may contact Sara or Elizabeth to
RSVP and for more details.

e Bill 2, Protect Ontario Through Free Trade Within Canada Act, 2025: On April
16, 2025, government introduced Bill 2, Protect Ontario Through Free Trade
Within Canada Act, 2025. On June 5, 2025 the Bill passed and is expected to
create new opportunities for job creation and investment attraction, supporting
economic integration across Canada and cutting costly and unnecessary red
tape to help protect and grow Ontario and Canada’s economies.

On September 1, 2025, the Minister of Labour, Immigration, Training and Skills
Development announced the “As of Right” regulations under Bill 2 will come into
effect January 1, 2026. These regulations will allow applicants to be “deemed
certified” and work for up to 6 months while completing their full application to
register with the Ontario regulatory authority for their occupation. The full press
release from government can be read here. OAA Executive Director and
Registrar continue to liaise with representatives of the Ministry of the Attorney
General on this file to ensure clarity and understanding in terms of the impact as
it relates to the practice of architecture in Ontario and the Architects Act.

o City of Toronto Rental Renovation By-Law: As part of Bill 97, Helping
Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023, amendments were made to the
Residential Tenancies Act and introduced requirements for a “qualified
professional’ to write a report that renovations to a unit are so extensive, the
tenant must move. While the province has not yet enacted regulations to bring
these measures into force, cities across Ontario are beginning to introduce
renoviction by-laws of their own.

The City of Toronto introduced a rental renoviction by-law in effect as of July 31st.
The By-law defines a “qualified person” as a person licensed by the OAA or the
PEO. More details about the Rental Renovation By-Law can be found on the City
of Toronto’s website.

Action

None. For information only.

Attachments

None.

7
Ontario Association
/1 of Architects Page 2 of 2


mailto:sarat@oaa.on.ca
mailto:elizabethw@oaa.on.ca
https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1006398/ontario-protecting-workers-by-introducing-first-in-canada-labour-mobility-changes
https://www.toronto.ca/services-payments/permits-licences-bylaws/renovictions-bylaw-development/

Memorandum

Memorandum

To: Council
William (Ted) Wilson Loloa Alkasawat FOR COUNCIL MEETING
Donald Ardiel J. William Birdsell September 18, 2025
Jim Butticci Kimberly Fawcett-Smith (open)
Natasha Krickhan Jenny Lafrance ITEM: 7.1
Michelle Longlade Lara McKendrick s
Elaine Mintz Deo Paquette
Anna Richter Kristiana Schuhmann
Susan Speigel Settimo Vilardi
Edward (Ted) Watson Thomas Yeung
Marek Zawadzki

From: Melanie Walsh, Manager, Finance

Date: September 4, 2025

Subject:  Debrief on Conference 2025 - Ottawa

Objective: To provide Council with a summary debrief regarding Conference 2025 held
in May in Ottawa.

The 2025 OAA Conference, Reshaping Communities, was held at the Westin Ottawa,
May 14-16, 2025. The event welcomed more than 500 participants from the architectural
profession and related fields to network, celebrate, and examine how evolving built
environments respond to societal change. Key topics included urban revitalization,
adaptive reuse, inclusive design, Reconciliation, and the integration of built and natural
environments.

In total, 576 individuals registered for the Conference.
Each registered delegate received a post conference survey immediately following the
event. 65 individuals responded. Survey feedback reflected a strong participant
experience:

e 94% rated the overall Conference experience as good or excellent.

e 91% rated the Continuing Education programming as good or excellent.

o 84% rated the Experiential Learning opportunities as good or excellent.
As always, the Conference Team has reviewed the detailed feedback to understand

specific aspects of the Ottawa event that were well received and also identify areas of
improvement for future conferences.

-~
‘ Ontario Association
/1 of Architects

Page 1 of 2



Memorandum

Financial outcome:

Delegate registration generated $400,193 in revenue and more than 50 sponsors also
supported the event, contributing an additional $305,000. Combined, total revenues
reached $705,193.

As of September 5, total expenses for the Conference amounted to $938,004, slightly
above the projected budgeted of $925,759 prior to Conference. Including an estimated
$5,000 in outstanding speaker expenses, the final net result is a deficit of $232,811. As a
reminder, the original Conference budget had been established with a slight deficit of
$20,365.

As 2025 marked the final year of contracts signed prior to the pandemic, several costs
remained fixed and could not be renegotiated leading up to the event. This included the
Westin Ottawa, which due to less than expected ‘pick-up’ of the required hotel room
block, the OAA faced an attrition charge of $86,387. However, through negotiations led
by the Executive Director and Manager of Finance, the OAA was able to mitigate this cost
and the attrition charge was reduced to $50,000.

Overall, it is anticipated that the Conference deficit can be covered by a year end surplus
in the OAA operating budget. As at August 31, 2025, including the final Conference
revenue and expenses, the OAA is projecting a year end surplus of $266,633. This is
being monitored in consultation with the Senior Vice President & Treasurer.

Despite this financial shortfall, the 2025 Conference was widely recognized as a success,
with strong participation, robust sponsorship, and highly positive feedback. The OAA staff
team and MCC Destination Management will carry forward these insights and lessons
learned into planning for the 2026 Conference.

Historical Overview of Conference Costs

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Cancelled
Toronto/ due to Quebec
LOCATION | Ottawa Niagara | Sudbury hybrid Virtual CoVvID City Toronto | Ottawa
Total Attendees 557 711 331 653 1056 0 653 1458 1474
Total Revenue | 705,193 721,195 | 378,442 | 628,109 111,420 0 | 629,546 | 1,106,077 | 53,131
Total Expenses | 933,627 | 1,071,874 | 537,109 | 942,132 140,871 211,270 | 810,069 | 1,039,140 | 42,110
Surplus(+)/ -
Deficit(-) | -228,434 | -350,679 | -158,667 | -314,023 -29,451 -211,270 | 180,523 66,937 | 11,021
Action
None. For information only.
Attachments
Conference Survey Results as Prepared by MCC
r . - -
Ontario Association
1 of Architects Page 2 of 2




MCC

EVENT REPORT
OAA Conference 2025 | Reporting & Survey Feedback Summary

Global

Effective: September 8, 2025 P tDMc
artners ::--




VIRTUAL KEYNOTE OVERVIEW

PROGRAM IN REVIEW

Data Analysis | Survey Feedback




Q
hd
o
C
o
X
©
-
jd
—
>
(2]
=
e
)
€
L
(&)
Q
(1]
o
X

Audience Attendance based on Registration Report and Attendee Report

1,033

total registered

838

total unique
viewers

Last in-person attendance was 2019
where audience was 379.
(65% of the overall Conference audience)

2024 Virtual Keynote Attendance: 824

81.1%

registrant to viewer
conversion rate

Overall, webinar conversion rates into live webinar
attendees is about 35% on average.*

*Based on 2022 Event
Industry Webinar Benchmarks

Your Event Performance
Average viewing time for webinar attendees

67

max minutes
in session

61

average
viewing
time

Industry Comparisons
Average viewing time for webinar attendees*

Audience Engagement | Questions

your event

18

total number of
questions asked

industry
comparisons

14

of webinar
questions*

*source: ON24 2024 Webinar Benchmarks Report

average number

Audience Attendance by Location

United States

/ 2%
Other
3%

—

Canada
95%

Aside from Canada and the United States, attendees
logged in from such countries as Benin, China,
Colombia, France, Germany, Greece, India, Italy,
Mexico, Netherlands, Serbia, Turks and Caicos
Islands, United Arab Emirates, and United Kingdom.



Key Communications Vehicles for Preferred Event Delivery Format
Information Related to Event

94.6%

of attendees prefer a virtual

event format before Conference.
OAA Website
56%
____ Conference/OAA News Bulletin
41%

. Other: Social Media, Referral, Etc.
3%

Q
hd
o
c
o
X
©
-
jd
—
>
(2]
=
e
)
€
L
(&)
C
Q
(1]
o
X

Virtual Event before Conference

95%

o ~ In-person before Conference
>
o In-person at Conference

3%

of attendees heard
about the event from
Bulletins or the website.

Audience Attendance based on Registration Report and Attendee Report




IN-PERSON CONFERENCE OVERVIEW

PROGRAM IN REVIEW

Data Analysis | Survey Feedback®

*Please note, in 2025, the overall response rate to the survey was
significantly lower than in past years. Therefore, the sample size is
smaller and may not accurately reflect the sentiments and views of
all attendees. We share this data to gain understanding of some
attendee views.




@
Q
C
o
S
@
c
o
O
C
o
2
S
o
o1
=
»
=
S
©
€
L
)
-
o
o0
9)
X

Based on Registration Database & Historical Data

47
12
735

total unigue members registered

additional to registered
non-member speaker experts
sponsors (non-members)

grand total in system and outside system

900

Breakdown by Attendee Type

Architect*

79%

ARCTC/INTTC
2%

Intern Architect
7%

\ \ Student
1%
Staff, LGIC & Honorary Members

1%

N\ Non Member

9%

N\ Other
2%

* Architect (Practicing, Long
Standing & Non-practicing)



Society Member Involvement Year Over Year
2023 Reflects Al Mapping Locations Using Local Society Map

TRENT WRSA
0.6% 1.9% Outside of Ontario
TSA WRSA TRENT 6.7%

33.8% N 1 7% 0.3% ‘ . GVsA
10.6%
Outswde of Ontario ’
4.9%
ASA HBSA
/ 0.4% N / 7.5%
G\/SA LSA

5.4%

SLVSA - Conference 2025 — - ]H7E?/5A Conference 2024
3.0% 7% .
Ottawa ] Niagara
— \ LSA

§ 1.7%

NSA TSA ,
— 53.3%
0.4%

NBSA
0.2%

Based on Registration Database & Historical Data

ORSA NOSA
42.8% 2.4%

NDSA

0.2%

NWSA
0.6%

Q
O
c
o
S
Q@
c
o
o
c
O
(72
S
0
o
=
“»
X
S
©
€
<
O
c
o
o
9
X

[ ] Algoma Society of Architects (ASA)

B crand Valley Society of Architects (GVSA)
Hamilton/Burlington Society of Architects (HBSA)
London Society of Architects (LSA)

Niagara Society of Architects (NSA)

North Bay Society of Architects (NBSA)

Northern Ontario Society of Architects (NOSA)

Northumberland Durham Society of Architects (NDSA)

Northwestern Ontario Society of Architects (NWOSA)

Ottawa Regional Society of Architects (ORSA)

St. Lawrence Valley Society of Architects (SLVSA)

Toronto Society of Architects (TSA)

Trent Society of Architects (TRENT) * Not Disclosed were omitted from the breakdown.
Windsor Region Society of Architects (WRSA) Approx.10% did not disclose locations.




During
Conference
Day Before

14 days 7 days Conference
30 days prior prior

total registered
(Full and daily packages only)

In the lead-up to the
event, the email
marketing campaigns
and social marketing
resulted in

115%

registration growth in
the two weeks.

9

Feesrasiadagds eEEEES Y packages sold

during Conference
(Full and daily packages only)

Based on Registration Database

Q
O
c
o
S
Q@
c
o
o
c
O
(72
S
0
o
=
“»
X
S
©
€
<
O
c
o
o
9
X

2
2
221202
2
2
2
2
2
2
412/2025
2
1/22/202
2
2
2
2
2
12/202
2

Date | March 12 to May 15, 2025




No

Did this year's theme 7y

"Reshaping Communities"
affect your decision
to attend the Conference?

thought this year's
Conference experience
was good or excellent.

Yes . Not Aware of Theme
24% 6%

Why did you choose to attend this year? 4 .3 /5

overall score

Last Year's Conference in
Niagara scored 4.3/5

Based on Registration Database & Survey Feedback

Survey Feedback

Q
O
c
o
S
Q@
c
o
o
c
O
(72
S
0
o
=
“»
X
S
©
€
<
O
c
o
o
9
X

B Rated 5
Rated 4 ) )
B Rated 3 Enjoyed the networking more than | had expected. The
: 58?312 sessions were mixed, some that stood out for me were the
ate

office conversion, social media, affordable housing and the
Kiweki tour.

Experience
Location

© T
c o
o c
)]

0 Q
Q0
e
[ORgJ]
©

%]
o
=
C
)
2
2
o)
aQ
Q
o)

Not as impressive as the last Ottawa conference..what
happened?

©
C
()
[o)]
C
C
=
@©
Q
—

Social Events
Networking

Overall Conference




Key Communications Vehicles for
Information Related to Conference

OAA Website
36% ‘
___ Bulletins
61%
Other*
3%

*Referral, Etc.

Survey Feedback | Social Media Data & Analytics

7%

of attendees heard
about the event from
Bulletins or the website.

Q
O
c
o
S
Q@
c
o
o
c
O
(72
S
0
o
=
“»
X
S
©
€
<
O
c
o
o
9
X

Social Analytics

e LinkedIn and Instagram together accounted for over 89% of reach and nearly 90% of impressions.
e Live and post-event content drove the majority of engagement.
e Sponsored Content Impressions: 21,040 - 28.47% of all impressions were driven by sponsor content

Channel People reached % Percentage % Percentage
of Total Reach of Total
Impressions
@ 11,710 32,087 50.31% 43.42%
9,167 34,319 39.38% 46.44%
o 2,401 7,486 10.31% 10.13%
TOTAL 23,278 73,892

Content was published live during the event and in the days that followed. The following is a breakdown of
people reached and impressions generated between May 14-23, 2025.

Linkedin - Reach Instagram - Reach

800

S DM Mﬂr \J\f\ meM W\

may gy 1 Fubnary 1 e 1, Acril 12028 My 1, 2025 dure 1, 2025
mah 038 3028

\
S
Ve
Paala reached

Content was published live, and in the days that

followed the event. Content was published live, and in the days

that followed the event.

That week (May 14-23) the OAA reached 11,710
people organically on LinkedIn, or 51% of May’s
total and 22% of 2025's total impressions so far.

That week (May 14-23), we reached 9,167
people organically, or 61% of May’s total and
18% of 2025's total reach so far.

11



m X
N
% % Pre-registration: Website
E (o)
L
W< o (0 7 °® (0)
wn
8 "y thought the online felt the website
c ?U registration process was experience was
9_’ £ good or excellent. good or excellent.
O -
Y= C
S &
O
- X
)
=<
g Printing your own badge Scanning into sessions Scanning into social events
£ 7 7 o (0 7 o (0 o (0
m rated the experience rated the experience rated the experience
CI>J‘ was good or excellent. was good or excellent. was good or excellent.
X

For comments from surveys that provided suggestions and requests, staff are reviewing to determine next steps, improved processes for 2026, feature
upgrades to software and added technology.




Key Benchmarks | Survey Feedback

(7))
g
S
©
C
ko
(o R
O
£
7))
o
@)
oJ
(@)
£
C
Q
Q.
@)
)
=
S
©
£
i o
O
c
Q
(1]
o
X

Opening Plenary

245

total registered

2024 Plenary Attendance: 314
2023 Plenary Attendance: 168
2022 Plenary Attendance: 349
2021 Plenary Attendance: 523

Photo: Ryan Francoz

4.3/5

89% of the audience
thought this session
was good or excellent

Closing Plenary

302

total registered

2024 Plenary Attendance: 217

Photo: Ryan Francoz

3.5/5

65.9% of the audience
thought this session
was good or excellent



Classroom Learning:

2353 91.8%

total seats registered

Do you think that the Continuing
Education and Experiential learning
sessions reflected the theme?

4670 ab| Thought the
seats aval ao € ConEd programming e
2025 pickup is 50.4% was good or excellent. 78% .

Key Benchmarks | Survey Feedback

Experiential Learning:

451 84.8%

total seats registered of the survey respondents
482 seats available (who participated) liked
2024 pickup is 93.6% these types of sessions.

For comments from surveys that provided suggestions and
requests, staff are reviewing to determine next steps and improved
processes for future Conferences.

7))
C
S
0
(7))
Q
(7))
C
O
whd
©
(8
-
©
Ll
(@)
£
-
C
)
c
O
@)
)
=
S
©
£
i
(&)
C
Q
(1]
&
X

~ @@

No

13%

Not Aware of Theme
9%



OAA Opening Night Party hosted with Local Society

363 66%

_ thought this event
total registered

Those that attended liked the Power Station. One felt it was too dark.

was good or excellent.

Key Benchmarks | Survey Feedback

Happy Hour
total registered thought this event

54% of attendees participated.

()]
hd
c
Q
>
L
©
)
Q
Q.
wn
(2]
=
F
©
€
i
(&)
| =
Q
(1]
o
X

Shuttle Services | Transportation

93%

thought this event was
good or excellent.

was good or excellent.

SHIFT Challenge

327 63%

total registered thought this event
was good or excellent.

Archiféte

70

10
413
109%

333 72%

thought this event

total registered
was good or excellent.

sponsors
presenters
grand total

of registered attendees participated.



=
(&)
©
e
©
Q
Q
LL
©
Q
hd
S
Q
('
|
0
e
©
k=
e
n
Q
()]
n
4
—
©
€
o
(&)
|
Q
(1]
o
X

Key Benchmarks | Survey Feedback

The Westin Ottawa

4.5/5

Ottawa Art Gallery

4.5/5

Canadian Museum ofNature

4.4[5

16



Key Benchmarks | Survey Feedback

n
S
)
t
T
Q
whed
<
)
o
S
o
0
C
o
o
w
0
=
S
©
€
-
3]
c
o
o
9
X

50

$305k

61 sponsors in 2024
41sponsors in 2023
60 sponsors in 2022

Blueprint for Innovation: Ask the Expert Lunch

280 58%

total registered thought this event

was good or excellent.

95.4%

of survey respondents

Sponsored Learning

14

1mo
78%

864

total registered
lunch and learn sessions

total available spaces

of registered attendees
participated.

visited sponsors

73%

thought this event

was good or excellent.



Sponsor Reach for Conference

In total total event saw
73,892 impressions
between May 14-23, 2025.
Sponsored content drove
21,040 of the total views.

Key Benchmarks | Digital Analytics

In total sponsors attracted
28% of the total
impressions during the
conference.

n
€
@
t
o
@
whed
L
0
@
S
o
0
C
o
o
7]
)
=
S
@S
€
-
O
c
@
m
9)
X

Photo: Ryan Francoz Analysis provided by

=

DIGITAL
JOURNAL

GROUP

18




2!
% = Sponsored content breakdown Sponsored video views
e C
= <
go Ji : . . BB EER— =i
'E,' O .
30— Brampton Brick 4192
0 Y
o g Pella 2,400
S
8 %C) Thames Valley Brick 977
)
g Ci Shimmerman Penn 1,375
¥}
(%X Hambro by Canam 1,076
; SilvaSpan 1,784
4
E Artistic Skylight 1,464
_g Concrete Council of Canada 785
g Kreitmaker 2,437
8 Enbridge Gas 1,183
q>f ETG 573 Two videos were produced for Brampton Brick and published on the
X Forest Windows 1789 OAA's LinkedIn, Facebook and Instagram channels.
Inline Fiberglass 1,005 In total, Brampton Brick videos were viewed 3,101 times.




(@]
=
c
c
(e
o
()
S
=
wd
=
I
S
£
"
c
9
wd
@©
S
Q
K]
7
c
o)
O

Future Destinations suggested in Survey Feedback

6%

plans to attend next year's
in-person Conference

Suggestions for future destinations:

Thunder Bay (2)

=

o —
’A..‘:ﬁbz

=m 3
Ay

Outside Ontario / Within Canada
Edmonton (1)

Montréal (5)

Québec City (2)

Halifax (1)

Outside Ontario / US Destinations
Chicago (1)
New York (1)

Kingston (6)
Cornwall (1)

Toronto / GTA (5)
Huntville (1)
Muskoka (1)

Tobermory (1)

Niagara-on-the-Lake (1)

Future RAIC Conferences

RAIC Conference 2026 | May 5-9. Vancouver, British Columbia
RAIC Conference 2027 | May 4-8, Calgary, Alberta

RAIC Conference 2028 | TBA- coming soon

RAIC Conference 2029 | June 3-6, Montreal, Quebec

RAIC Conference 2030 | May 7-11, Vancouver, British Columbia



21

Theme Suggestions

MoeqgpasH AeAiNg

seap| JUaju0d /saway ] aining




	Strategic Plan
	Rules and Procedures - Council meetings
	Agenda - Open Sept 18/25
	2..1 June 19/25 Open Minutes
	4.1 2026 Council Meeting Dates
	4.2 2026 Conference Program
	4.3 Doc 100 OAA OGCA Take over procedures
	4.4 Practice Tip 36 3
	4.5 AI Policy
	4.6 Exemption Requests to Council
	6.1 President's Rpt
	6.2 Executive Director Rpt
	6.3 Registrar Rpt
	6.4.a Financials 9 Months
	6.5.a CPEC
	6.5.b Governance Cttee Update
	6.5.c Building Cttee Update
	6.5.d PRC Update
	6.5.e PACT Update
	7.1 2025 Conference Rpt



